

#MedSymposia



Mediterranean Action Plan Barcelona Convention



symposia.spa-rac.org



# 3<sup>rd</sup> MEDITERRANEAN SYMPOSIUM ON THE CONSERVATION OF THE DARK HABITATS

21 | 22 September 2022 Genoa, Italy



#### Disclaimer

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC), United Nations Environment Programme/Mediterranean Action Plan (UNEP/MAP) or the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

#### Copyright

All property rights of texts and content of different types of this publication belong to SPA/RAC. Reproduction of these texts and contents, in whole or in part, and in any form, is prohibited without prior written permission from SPA/RAC, except for educational and other non-commercial purposes, provided that the source is fully acknowledged.

© 2022 United Nations Environment Programme Mediterranean Action Plan Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafat B.P.337 - 1080 Tunis Cedex - TUNISIA car-asp@spa-rac.org

#### For bibliographic purposes, this document may be cited as:

UNEP/MAP – SPA/RAC, 2022. Proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genova, Italy, 21-22 September 2022). BOUAFIF C., OUERGHI A., edits, SPA/RAC publi., Tunis, 126 p.

#### **Cover photo**

© Oceana

This publication has been prepared with the financial support of the MAVA Foundation and the European Union.

For more information www-spa-rac.org symposia.spa-rac.org Proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the Conservation of the Dark Habitats

#### FORWARD

Dear Colleagues,

The United Nations Environmental Programme Mediterranean Action Plan – Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (UNEP/MAP – SPA/RAC) – Barcelona Convention has initiated since year 2000 a series of scientific symposia, dedicated to key habitats and NIS by organising the first Mediterranean Symposium on Marine vegetation. This initiative while aiming essentially to take stock of the recently available scientific data and to promote the cooperation between specialists and key actors working in the Mediterranean, has evolved since then to cover now Coralligenous, Dark Habibtats and Non-Indigenous species as well.

These symposia have been initiated as implementation of the UNEP/MAP regional action plans related to (i) the Conservation of Marine Vegetation in the Mediterranean Sea (adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 1999 and updated in 2012), (ii) the Conservation of Coralligenous and other calcareous bio-concretions of Mediterranean (adopted by the Contracting Parties to Barcelona Convention in 20018 and updated in 2016), (iii) the conservation of habitats and species associated with seamounts, underwater caves and canyons, aphotic hard beds and chemo-synthetic phenomena in the Mediterranean Sea (Action Plan for Dark Habitats adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 2013), and (iv) the Action Plan concerning Species Introduction and Invasive Species (Adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 2016).

The "Mediterranean Symposia on Marine Key Habitats and NIS" are an important output, not only of the UNEP/MAP Mid-Term Strategy for the period 2016-2021 (Decision IG.22/1), but also for NTZ/MPA project "Empowering the legacy: scaling up co-managed and financially sustainable No-Take Zones / Marine Protected Areas", financed by MAVA foundation under its Mediterranean Strategy and by the IMAP-MPA project "Towards achieving the Good Environmental Status of the Mediterranean Sea and Coast through an Ecologically Representative and Efficiently Managed and Monitored Network of Marine Protected Areas".

For more than two decades, the symposia have provided, within the framework of the Barcelona Convention, a platform for dialogue between the scientific community, managers, and decision makers.

This year, SPA/RAC in collaboration with the Italian Institute for Environmental Protection and Research (ISPRA), the university of Genoa and its Department of Earth, the Environment and Life Sciences of the University of Genoa (DISTAV) and the association "Società Italiana di Biologia Marina" (SIBM), organized a new edition of the Mediterranean Symposia in Genoa, from 19 to 23 September 2022, as follows:

- 7<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (19-20 September 2022)
- 4<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions (20-21 September 2022)
- 3<sup>rd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of dark habitats (21-22 September 2022)
- 2<sup>nd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the non-indigenous Species (22-23 September 2022)

This edition was also a good opportunity to discuss new topics such as monitoring and definition of Good Environmental Status (GES), monitoring and assessment scale in the Mediterranean and, in this way, contribute to enhancing Science-Policy interface and to strengthening links ang cooperation between SPA/RAC and Barcelona Convention system and scientists and scientific institutions in the Mediterranean.

Khalil ATTIA SPA/RAC Director Tatjana Hema UNEP/MAP Coordinator

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

# CONTENTS

PROGRAMME1
KEYNOTE CONFERENCE
Marzia BO, ENRICHETTI F., BETTI F., GAY G., BAVESTRELLO G
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS11
<b>Ricardo AGUILAR, BLANCO J., PERRY A13</b> DISTRIBUTIONS OF SOME POORLY KNOWN ATLANTO- MEDITERRANEAN DEEP-SEA ANTHOZOANS IN THE WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN
<b>Thanos DAILIANIS, GEROVASILEIOU V., CHATZIGEORGIOU G.,</b> <b>VERNADOU E., GLAMPEDAKIS I., ARVANITIDIS C., KARGIOLAKI H 19</b> EXPLORATORY BASELINE SURVEY OF CAVE HABITATS WITHIN A MARINE PROTECTED AREA IN THE AEGEAN SEA
Nicolò DI TULLIO, FERRARO V., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N., MONTEFALCONE M
Markos DIGENIS, ARVANITIDIS C., DAILIANIS T., GEROVASILEIOU V
Francesco ENRICHETTI, BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., TOMA M., CANESE S., CAU C., GIUSTI M., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M
Michela GIUSTI, ANGIOLILLO M., BO M., ENRICHETTI F., TOMA M., ROSSI L., RENDE S.F., IZZI A., PAZZINI A., BOSMAN A., TUNESI L

**Jordi GRINYÓ, CHEVALDONNÉ P., THOMAS SCHOHN T., LE BRIS N......47** BATHYAL MEGABENTHIC DIVERISTY ON THE AJACCIO AND VALINCO SUBMARINE CANYONS (WEST CORSICAN MARGIN)

**Gabriele COSTA, BO M., ENRICHETTI F., BERTOLINO M......95** SPONGES ASSOCIATED WITH WHITE CORALS FROM THE DEEP EASTERN LIGURIAN SEA

Markos DIGENIS, RAGKOUSIS M., KATSANEVAKIS S., GEROVASILEIOU V......101 ALIEN FISH IN MARINE CAVES OF THE AEGEAN SEA, GREECE

Marta FLORIDO, NAVARRO-BARRANCO C., DIGENIS M., DONÁZAR-ARAMENDÍA I., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ J.C......103 A MARINE CAVE AS ECOLOGICAL REFUGE FROM MACROALGAL INVASION

Carla QUILES-PONS, BAENA I., CALVO-MANAZZA M., DE LA BALLINA N.R., DÍEZ S., GOÑI R., MALLOL S., MARESCA F., MORATÓ M., MUÑOZ A., PRADO E., REAL E., SÁNCHEZ F., DÍAZ D. ...... 113 MONITORING THE COMPLEX BENTHIC HABITAT IN SEMI-DARK UNDERWATER MARINE CAVES USING PHOTOGRAMMETRY-BASED 3D RECONSTRUCTIONS

# CONTENTS

PROGRAMME1
KEYNOTE CONFERENCE
Marzia BO, ENRICHETTIF., BETTIF., GAY G., BAVESTRELLO G5 THE LIGURIAN WHITE CORAL PROVINCE: NEW SUPPORTING EVIDENCE
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS11
<b>Ricardo AGUILAR, BLANCO J., PERRY A13</b> DISTRIBUTIONS OF SOME POORLY KNOWN ATLANTO- MEDITERRANEAN DEEP-SEA ANTHOZOANS IN THE WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN
<b>Thanos DAILIANIS, GEROVASILEIOU V., CHATZIGEORGIOU G.,</b> <b>VERNADOUE., GLAMPEDAKIS I., ARVANITIDIS C., KARGIOLAKI H</b>
Nicolò DI TULLIO, FERRARO V., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N., MONTEFALCONE M
MarkosDIGENIS, ARVANITIDISC., DAILIANIST., GEROVASILEIOUV
Francesco ENRICHETTI, BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., TOMA M., CANESE S., CAU C., GIUSTI M., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M
Michela GIUSTI, ANGIOLILLO M., BO M., ENRICHETTI F., TOMA M., ROSSI L., RENDE S.F., IZZI A., PAZZINI A., BOSMAN A., TUNESI L41 MONITORING ITALIAN CIRCALITTORAL AND UPPER BATHYAL BIOGENIC REEFS WITHIN THE EUROPEAN MARINE STRATEGY FRAMEWORK DIRECTIVE (MSFD)

Maria MONTSENY, LINARES C., VILADRICH N., BIEL-CABANELAS M., BAENA P., QUINTANILLA E., AMBROSO S. GRINYÓ J., SANTÍN A., SALAZAR J., GILI J.M., GORI A 59 EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT MEASURES TO REDUCE THE BYCATCH OF COLD-WATER GORGONIANS AND SUPPORT SUSTAINABLE ARTISANAL FISHING ON THE MEDITERRANEAN CONTINENTAL SHELF

Maria Aleksandra BITNER, DIGENIS M., KATSANEVAKIS S., GEROVASILEIOU V91
NEW RECORDS OF BRACHIOPODS FROM MARINE CAVES OF THE AEGEAN SEA, EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN
Martina COPPARI, ANDRUCCIOLIA., GRINYÓ J., BAVESTRELLO G., CANESE S., BO M
AND BATHYAL MEDITERRANEAN BLACK CORALS
<b>Gabriele COSTA, BO M., ENRICHETTI F., BERTOLINO M95</b> SPONGES ASSOCIATED WITH WHITE CORALS FROM THE DEEP EASTERN LIGURIAN SEA
Elena DESIDERÀ, BIASISSI E., BO M., CALOGERO G., CANESE S., DI BLASI D., POLI F., TOMA M., GUIDETTI P., BAVA S
USING LOCAL ECOLOGICAL KNOWLEDGE TO SUPPORT
CONSERVATION OF THE WRECKFISH (POLYPRION AMERICANUS) IN THE LIGURIAN SEA
Cristina Gioia DI CAMILLO, STORARI A., SCARPA C., PONTI M., PULIDO MANTAS T., ROVETA C., COPPARI M., CALCINAI B.,
<b>PUCE S., CERRANO C.</b> 99 A CITIZEN-BASED PROTOCOL TO ASSESS VULNERABILITY OF NARROW PASSAGES TO SCUBA DIVING
Markos DIGENIS, RAGKOUSIS M., KATSANEVAKIS S.,
GEROVASILEIOU V
Marta FLORIDO, NAVARRO-BARRANCO C., DIGENIS M., DONÁZAR-ARAMENDÍA I., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ J.C
Vasilis GEROVASILEIOU, SMITH C.J., SALOMIDI M., JIMENEZ C., PAPADOPOULOU K-N., SAKELLARIOU D., DRAKOPOULOU P., OTERO M., MYTILINEOU Ch
VULNERABLE BENTHIC ASSEMBLAGES IN THE DEEP
EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN: REVISITING UNDERWATER SURVEYS TO SHED LIGHT ON UNKNOWN DIVERSITY
Antonio GIOVA, CANESE S., TOMA M., ROMEO T., GRECO S

ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SEA ANEMONE AMPHIANTHUS DOHRNII IN THE NORTHERN SICILY CHANNEL **Torcuato PULIDO MANTAS, CALCINAI B., COPPARI M., DI CAMILLO G., MARCHESI V., MARROCCO T., PUCE S., ROVETA C., CERRANO C. ...... 111** 3D MAPPING OF A MARINE CAVE, THE IMPORTANCE OF ESTABLISHING A BASELINE

Margherita TOMA, BO M., CANESE S., GIOVA A., ROMEO T., GRECO S... 121 DEEP-SEA ECHINODERMS OF THE SICILY CHANNEL: TWO CASE STUDIES

RECOMMENDATIONS.	
SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS	
ORGANISING COMMITTEE MEMBERS	

## PROGRAMME

Wednesday 21 September 2022

14:00-14:15	Opening of the Symposium
14:15-14:30	<b>Keynote conference</b> : " <b>The ligurian white coral province: new supporting evidence</b> " by <b>Marzia BO</b> , ENRICHETTI F., BETTI F., GAY G., BAVESTRELLO G.
Session 1:	State of knowledge Chair: Maia FOURT, Rapporteur: Mehdi AISSI
14:30-14:45	"Distributions of some poorly known atlanto-mediterranean deep-sea anthozoans in the western mediterranean" by Ricardo AGUILAR, BLANCO J., PERRY A.
14:45-15:00	"Substrate-related facies of <i>Dendrophyllia cornigera</i> (Lamarck, 1816)" by Francesco ENRICHETTI, BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., TOMA M., CANESE S., CAU C., GIUSTI M., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M
15:00-15:15	"Lithistid sponges from submarine caves of crete island: hidden diversity and false endemicity" by Andrzej PISERA, GEROVASILEIOU V., DIGENIS M.
15:15-15:30	"The sea caves of the marine protected area of portofino (Ligurian Sea): lack of knowledge and management" by Monica MONTEFALCONE, AZZOLA A., CANESSA M., OPRANDI A., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N.
15:30-15:45	"Comparison of benthic assemblages from fix farine caves in a Protected Area of the South-Eastern Aegean Sea, Greece" by Markos DIGENIS, ARVANITIDIS C., DAILIANIS T., GEROVASILEIOU V.
15:45-16:00	"New insight into the bryozoan diversity of marine caves of the Aegean Sea (Eastern Mediterranean)" by Antonietta ROSSO, GEROVASILEIOU V., DIGENIS M.
16:00-16:15	Discussion
16:15-16:30	Coffee break
Session 2:	Study methods, mapping and monitoring (and associated organisms) Chair: Ricardo AGUILAR, Rapporteur: Yassine Ramzi SGHAIER
16:30-16:45	"Exploratory baseline survey of cave habitats within a marine protected area in the Aegean Sea" by Thanos DAILIANIS, GEROVASILEIOU V., CHATZIGEORGIOU G., VERNADOU E., GLAMPEDAKIS I., ARVANITIDIS C., KARGIOLAKI H.
16:45-17:00	"Effects of global and local pressures on three submerged marine caves in the Western Mediterranean Sea" by Nicolò DI TULLIO, FERRARO V., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N., MONTEFALCONE M.

- 17:00-17:15 "Effect of environmental and anthropogenic factors on the distribution of cold water corals" by Valeria PALUMMO, MILISENDA G., CANESE S., SALVATI E., PICA D., PASSARELLI A., SPANÒ N., ROMEO T., GRECO S.
- 17:15-17:30 "Monitoring Italian circalittoral and upper bathyal biogenic reefs within the european marine strategy framework directive (MSFD)" by Michela GIUSTI, ANGIOLILLO M., BO M., ENRICHETTI F., TOMA M., ROSSI L., RENDE S.F., IZZI A., PAZZINI A., BOSMAN A., TUNESI L.
- **17:30-17:45** Discussion

#### Thursday 22 September 2022

- Session 3: Management Chair: Vasilis GEROVASILEIOU, Rapporteur: Atef LIMAM
- 8:30-8:45 "Effective management measures to reduce the bycatch of cold-water gorgonians and support sustainable artisanal fishing on the Mediterranean continental shelf" by Maria MONTSENY, LINARES C., VILADRICH N., BIEL-CABANELAS M., BAENA P., QUINTANILLA E., AMBROSO S. GRINYÓ J., SANTÍN A., SALAZAR J., GILI J.M., GORI A.
- 8:45-9:00 "Bathyal megabenthic diveristy on the ajaccio and valinco submarine canyons (West Corsican margin)" by Jordi GRINYÓ, CHEVALDONNÉ P., THOMAS SCHOHN T., LE BRIS N.
- 9:00-9:15 "Ecological restoration of human-impacted mediterranean benthic marine ecosystems through active strategies and participatory approach: the Life project ECOREST" by Andreu SANTÍN, GRINYÓ J., AGUZZI J., AMBROSO S., BAENA P., BAHAMON N. BIEL CABANELAS M., CHATZIEVANGELOU D., COMPANY J.B., CORBERA G., GARCÍA DEL ARCO J.A., GÓMEZ M., GORI A., GUTIÉRREZ V., LINARES C., MONTSENY M., NAVARRO J., RECASENS L., ROTLLANT G., SALAZAR J., GARCÍA VARAS J.L., GILI J.M., GIRONA'S TERRITORIAL FEDERATION OF FISHERS' GUILD
- 9:15-9:30 Discussion
- 9:30-10:15 Poster Session
- 10:15-10:30 Coffee break
- 10:30-10:45 Awards for best oral communication and poster
- 10:45-11:00 Closure of the Symposium
- 13:00-14:00 Lunch

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

\*\*\*\*\*

# KEYNOTE CONFERENCE

\*\*\*\*\*

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

Marzia BO, ENRICHETTI F., BETTI F., GAY G., BAVESTRELLO G. DiSTAV. Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita, Università di

Genova, Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genova, Italy <u>E-mail: marzia.bo@unige.it</u>

### THE LIGURIAN WHITE CORAL PROVINCE: NEW SUPPORTING EVIDENCE

#### Abstract

Cold-Water Coral (CWC) provinces are defined as discrete areas with an important presence of scleractinian bioconstructions created by the so-called white corals. Their high ecosystemic value coupled to their high vulnerability to mechanical damages, supported their recognition as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs) with a high conservation priority. The mapping and characterization of these sites is therefore essential to implement appropriate management measures to guarantee their conservation. Until now, the quest for living reefs only marginally targeted the Italian Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean basin). A significant effort was made in the 60s-70s by Lieutenant Fusco, who mapped twelve coral areas from 500 to 700 m based on fishers' entanglements and bycatch coral rubble. Modern records of living colonies followed, but no systematic direct exploration of all the areas identified by Fusco and their proximities was ever attempted. Within the project framework Curiosity Driven (University of Genoa, 2021-2022), Side Scan Sonar profiles, multibeam maps and trawling routes were used to identify the sites that could potentially host the bioconstructions, including new sites from the Levante Canyon discovered in 2014. Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV) technology was then employed to explore four areas and their proximities where reliefs were detected, namely Genoa Plateau, Portofino and Entella Canyon, Deiva Marina Canyon, and Levante Canyon. With the exception of the Genoa Plateau coral mound, destroyed by trawling activities, massive bioconstructions were found in the other three areas accounting for approximately 9 km<sup>2</sup> of both bioherms and living reefs of Madrepora oculata and Lophelia pertusa supporting the creation of a distinct coral province.

Key-words: ROV-imaging, white coral reefs, province, vulnerability, Ligurian Sea

#### Introduction

Bioconstructions dominated by scleractinians, usually referred to as white corals reefs, are considered one of the most important and characteristic habitats of the deep-sea realm and the world-wide climax biocoenosis of the bathyal zone, including the Mediterranean Sea (SPA/RAC–UN Environment/MAP, 2019). Thanks to their structural complexity, these bioconstructions hold a paramount role in bathyal environments representing poles of attraction of deep-sea fauna (Rueda *et al.*, 2019), influencing biogeochemical cycles, enhancing pelagic-benthic coupling processes (Rossi *et al.*, 2017), and supporting highly profitable fishing grounds both for professional and recreational fishers (D'Onghia *et al.*, 2017). Their high sensitivity to mechanical impacts and slow recovery ability, however, make them among the most vulnerable deep-sea ecosystems (VMEs), supporting high levels of protection (Otero & Marin, 2019).

In the Mediterranean Sea, white corals are considered a relic of the cold fauna of the Quaternary period (Plio-Pleistocene) and the majority of sites host subfossil coral rubble or frameworks (bioherms) (Vertino *et al.*, 2014). Living bioconstructions are mainly found on hard substrata where slope and seafloor heterogeneity sustain a significant hydrodynamic flux, in particular that of the cold, oxygen- and aragonite-rich Intermediate Levantine Water

(Chimienti *et al.*, 2019). In the Mediterranean basin, eight flourishing sites of occurrence of white coral reefs and mounds, usually referred to as provinces, have been identified in the last 20 years of investigations (Angeletti *et al.*, 2020). In particular, the North-western Mediterranean Sea hosts the Gulf of Lion canyon system provinces (Fabri *et al.*, 2014; Orejas *et al.*, 2009), and, eastward, the newly discovered Corsica Channel province (Angeletti *et al.*, 2020). Along the continental slope of the Ligurian Sea, however, the quest for living reefs has always been fragmentary.

Scattered coral bycatch has been reported off Portofino, Entella Canyon (Sestri Levante), Deiva Marina Canyon (Moneglia), and in the easternmost part of the Levante Canyon (Monterosso, La Spezia) since the 1920s (Brunelli & Bini, 1934; Rossi, 1958; Fanelli *et al.*, 2017) (Fig.1). In 1957, topographic and sedimentologic surveys were conducted by the vessel *Calypso* in the Portofino area detecting a massive coral framework between 700 and 800 m (Blanc 1959), with living colonies found around 200-500 m in the easternmost sector (Rossi, 1958). In 1967, 1968 and 1972, the First Lieutenant Nicola Fusco summarized the available information in three charts (n°6-8) identifying the known coastal fishing grounds of Liguria and the possible obstacles, including coral areas. Twelve coral areas were reported from the Ligurian Sea (500-700 m), of which ten distributed in the eastern sector, from Genoa to Monterosso (Fig. 1).



Fig.1. Localization of the Fusco's coral areas along the eastern Ligurian Canyon system with indication of the white coral findings and the Curiosity Driven Project ROV dives

In 1994, three dives were performed with the bathyscaphe *Cyana* in front of the Portofino Promontory and in the Entella Canyon reporting few living colonies at 210 m and 520 m (Morri *et al.*, 1986; Tunesi & Diviacco, 1997; Tunesi *et al.*, 2001). In 2011 and 2015, the ROV explorer Guido Gay reported *Madrepora oculata* Linnaeus, 1758 on the wrecks Transylvania and Gioberti, respectively off Savona (630 m) and Punta Mesco (530 m) (Fig. 1). In 2013 and 2014, ROV investigations of the eastern Ligurian Sea found scattered dead coral in the easternmost Fusco's area (F12) between 378 and 510 m, nearby Punta Mesco Canyon, and unveiled a living coral mound of *M. oculata* along the southern wall of the Levante Canyon at 510-580 m (Fanelli *et al.*, 2017) (Fig. 1). Finally, in 2018, a ROV survey pictured for the first time the base of the massive bioherm of Portofino

(737-773 m), occasionally impacted by the red shrimp trawling activities (Enrichetti *et al.*, 2018).

These findings support an undisclosed potential for important discoveries, however, so far, nobody ever attempted to investigate the entire coral belt identified by Fusco. The possibility to investigate these areas is extremely valuable given that the deep Ligurian Sea is unique under many aspects: it is one of the most ancient sectors of the western Mediterranean Sea, it is located in the coldest part of the basin, and it is subjected to a high fishing pressure (Cattaneo *et al.*, 2010). Geographical as well as depth distributional data are essential to know the real extent of this habitat and to implement appropriate management measures to guarantee its conservation. This paper presents new large-scale data on the occurrence of white coral bioconstructions in the eastern Ligurian Sea, supporting the creation of a distinct Ligurian coral province.

#### Materials and methods

The study area encompasses about 60 km of continental slope localized in the eastern part of the Ligurian Sea, from the Bisagno Canyon (Genoa) to Punta Mesco Canyon (Monterosso) (Fig. 1). In order to identify the sites that could potentially host the bioconstructions, Side Scan Sonar (SSS) profiles, multibeam maps and trawling routes of the entire area were used to detect reliefs within or in the proximities of the Fusco's coral areas. Previous literature data (e.g., Tunesi & Diviacco, 1997; Fanelli *et al.*, 2017; Enrichetti *et al.*, 2018) and indications of fishers have been also taken into consideration. Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV) technology was then employed to explore four areas and their proximities where reliefs were detected, namely Genoa Plateau, Portofino and Entella Canyon, Deiva Marina Canyon, and Levante Canyon (Fig. 1). The ROV survey took place in the summer 2021 on board of the vessel *Daedalus* (Fondazione AzioneMare) with the ROV *Multipluto*. A total of 20 dives were carried out in the region from 350 to 800 m accounting for more than five hours of video footage and more than 8 km of explored seafloor.

To evaluate the occurrence and complexity of the bioconstructions in each site, 40 frames were randomly extrapolated from each video using the free software VLC and the substrate was characterized in terms of percentage composition in mud, rock, coral rubble and coral framework. When a coral matrix was detected, a surface percentage measure of the dead and living portions was made to evaluate the status of the habitat-forming species. In addition, an estimation of the height of the bioconstructions was given and, whenever possible, the dominant scleractinian species was also identified. Finally, the potential extension of the bioconstructions was calculated based on the bathymorphological map of the area.

#### Results

Coral matrix was reported to a different extent in the four investigated regions (Fig. 2).



Fig.2. ROV images of the coral areas identified in the present study (a, Genoa mound, b, Portofino bioherm, c. Deiva Marina reef, d, Monterosso mound)

#### Genoa Plateau

SSS profiles identified no conspicuous topographic relief in any of the four Fusco's coral areas of this region, with the exception of a 20 m-large circular mound localized SE of F5 at 690 m (Fig. 1). Here, ROV exploration confirmed the occurrence of a coral mound formed by heavily fragmented rubble of *L. pertusa* (Linnaeus, 1758), no more than 15 cm high on a sub-horizontal muddy bottom (41% of the substrate coverage) (Fig. 2a). Heavy trawling traffic and deep trawling marks characterized this site.

#### Portofino Promontory and Entella Canyon

SSS profiles identified a massive relief, 5 km SE of the eastern cape of the Portofino Promontory. The bioconstruction stretches for about 4 km from 620 to 960 m and crosses F7 on its SE side (Fig. 1). The investigated portion of the bioconstruction is formed for the 95% by a dead *L. pertusa* bioherm, reaching up to 5 m high. Living colonies have also been observed. The bioherm is colonized by dense forests of habitat-forming alcyonaceans (Fig. 2b).

#### Deiva Marina Canyon

SSS profiles revealed the occurrence of two large reliefs, each about 2 km long, in the proximities of both Fusco's areas (F9 and F10) bordering the Deiva Marina Canyon. The areas are only marginally impacted by trawling because reefs mainly develop on the sloping and vertical walls of the reliefs up to the sub-horizontal crests. The complex living reefs, up to 3 m high and covering up to 62% of the investigated seafloor, are located between 480 and 710 m and are dominated by living *M. oculata* (Fig. 2c). This area, and in particular the rubble and the nearby mud, is also dominated by dense pluri-specific forests of habitat-forming alcyonaceans and massive sponges.

#### Levante Canyon

SSS profiles confirmed the occurrence of no major relief in F11 and F12 (Fig. 1), however, south of F12, in the Levante Canyon, two coral areas (300 and 500 m long), formed by numerous living *M. oculata* mounds up to 1 m high, were detected beside the one already reported by Fanelli *et al.* (2017) (Fig. 2d). One is located on the southern canyon wall, at few hundreds of meters from the known one, and the other is located on a silted terrace on the northern wall of the canyon. The area is interested by major currents and high turbidity levels, similarly to what observed in the Deiva Marina Canyon.

#### Discussion

The present study provides new information regarding the real extent and complexity of the eastern Ligurian CWC bathyal bioconstructions. The Fusco's coral areas represented important indications to start the research, however, with some exceptions, they proved to be not completely reliable. This could be because they were mainly based on bycatch coral rubble, which could have been dragged from nearby bioconstructions when the nets move accidentally too close to the sites, as already pointed out in the Portofino area (Enrichetti *et al.*, 2018) and as plausible also for the areas of Deiva Marina. It could be also possible that in certain plateau areas, heavily impacted by trawling, coral mounds could have been swept away in time. The use of modified trawl nets with rubber rollers was suggested for the Levante areas (Fanelli *et al.*, 2017) and the current status of the Genoa coral mound leaves no doubt about the nature of the impact.

The localization of the bioconstructions suggests the existence of a CWC belt, sustained by the high hydrodynamic flux moving into the Levante Canyon, along the entire eastern Ligurian basin. Further studies will help to fill the knowledge gap in the western sector, however, so far, the investigated area accounts for about 9 km<sup>2</sup> of both bioherms and

living reefs. This value is likely to increase because the coral occurrence in the Entella Canyon is still to be verified and the calculations in Deiva Marina need to better take into account the extension of the reefs along the slopes of the sites, only marginally considered here. These data support the existence of a distinct Ligurian CWC province as suggested for other areas (Angeletti *et al.*, 2020).

Additional studies will investigate the associated diversity and the role of these important deep biogenic habitats as poles of attraction for other habitat-formers. The use of the coral skeletons as paleoenvironmental archives and the relationship with the environmental features will provide insights on the past and present functioning of these environments. Finally, further studies will shed light into the effects of artisanal and recreational fishing activities on the most heterogeneous portions of the bioconstructions, to better assess the environmental status of these important habitats.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by Università degli Studi di Genova Curiosity Driven Project (2021-2022).

#### Bibliography

- ANGELETTI L., CASTELLAN G., MONTAGNA P., REMIA A., TAVIANI M. (2020) The "Corsica Channel Cold-Water Coral Province" (Mediterranean Sea). *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 7:661.
- BLANC J. J. (1959) Recherches sur les vases du Golfe de Génes (Région de Portofino). Ann. Inst. Ocean. 37 :274-287.
- BRUNELLI G., BINI G. (1934) Ricerche comparative sulle pesche profonde di diversi mari italiani. *Boll. Pes. Piscicolt. Idrobiol.* 10:733-744.
- CATTANEO-VIETTI R., ALBERTELLI G., ALIANI S., BAVA S., BAVESTRELLO G., BENEDETTI CECCHI L., BIANCHI C.N., BOZZO E., ..., WURTZ M. (2010) The Ligurian Sea: state of the art, problems and perspectives. *Chem. Ecol.*, 26:319-340.
- CHIMIENTI G., BO M., TAVIANI M., MASTROTOTARO F. (2019) Occurrence and biogeography of Mediterranean cold-water corals. In: Orejas C., Jiménez C. (eds) Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World, vol 9, Springer, Cham: 213-243.
- D'ONGHIA G., CALCULLI C., CAPEZZUTO F., CARLUCCI R., CARLUCCIO A., GREHAN A., INDENNIDATE A., MAIORANO P., MASTROTOTARO F., POLLICE A., RUSSO T., SAVINI A., SION L., TURSI A. (2017) - Anthropogenic impact in the Santa Maria di Leuca cold-water coral province (Mediterranean Sea): observations and conservation straits. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 145: 87-101.
- ENRICHETTI F., BAVESTRELLO G., COPPARI M., BETTI F., BO M. (2018) Placogorgia coronata first documented record in Italian waters: Use of trawl bycatch to unveil vulnerable deep-sea ecosystems. Aq. Cons. Mar. Fresh. Ecos., 28(5):1123-1138.
- FABRI M. C., PEDEL L., BEUCK L., GALGANI F., HEBBELN D., FREIWALD A. (2014) -Megafauna of vulnerable marine ecosystems in French Mediterranean submarine canyons: spatial distribution and anthropogenic impacts. *Deep Sea Res. II*, 104:184-207.
- FANELLI E., DELBONO I., IVALDI R., PRATELLESI M., COCITO S., PEIRANO A. (2017) -Cold-water coral *Madrepora oculata* in the eastern Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean): Historical and recent findings. *Aq. Cons. Mar. Fresh. Ecos.*, 27(5):965-975.
- FUSCO N. (1967, 1968, 1972) Il fondo del mare da Sestri Levante alla foce dell'Arno, da Capo di Noli a Sestri Levante, dal Confine francese a Capo di Noli con annesse carte di pesca n 6, n. 7 e n. 8. Ministero Marina Mercantile, Direzione Generale della Pesca Marittima.
- OTERO M.D.M., MARIN P. (2019) 46 Conservation of Cold-Water Corals in the Mediterranean: Current Status and Future Prospects for Improvement. *In*: Orejas C., Jiménez

C. (eds), *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World*, vol 9, Springer, Cham: 535-545.

- OREJAS C., GORI A., LO IACONO C., PUIG P., GILI J.M., DALE M. R. (2009) Cold-water corals in the Cap de Creus canyon, northwestern Mediterranean: spatial distribution, density and anthropogenic impact. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 397:37-51.
- MORRI C., BIANCHI C. N., DAMIANI V., PEIRANO A., ROMEO G., TUNESI L. (1986) -L'ambiente marino tra Punta della Chiappa e Sestri Levante (Mar Ligure): Profilo ecotipologico e proposta di carta bionomica. Boll. Mus. Istit. Biol. Univ. Genova, 52:213-231.
- SPA/RAC–UN Environment/MAP (2019) Updated Classification of Benthic Marine Habitat Types for the Mediterranean Region.

https://www.rac-spa.org/sites/default/files/doc\_fsd/habitats\_list\_en.pdf

- ROSSI L. (1958) Contributo allo studio della fauna di profondità vivente presso la Riviera Ligure di Levante. Ann. Mus. Civ. St. Nat. Genova "Andrea Doria", 2:1-13.
- ROSSI S., BRAMANTI L., GORI A., OREJAS C. (eds) (2017) Marine animal forests: the ecology of benthic biodiversity hotspots. Springer, Cham Pub., 1366 pp.
- RUEDA J.L., URRA J., AGUILAR R., ANGELETTI L., BO M., GARCIA-RUIZ C., GONZÁLEZ-DUARTE M.M., LÓPEZ E., MADURELL T., MALDONADO M., MATEO-RAMÍREZ Á., MEGINA C., MOREIRA J., MOYA F., RAMALHO L.V., ROSSO A., SITJÀ C., TAVIANI M. (2019) - 29 Cold-Water coral associated fauna in the Mediterranean Sea and adjacent areas. *In*: Orejas C., Jiménez C. (eds), *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future, Coral Reefs of the World*, vol 9, Springer, Cham: pp. 295-333.
- TUNESI L., DIVIACCO G. (1997) Observations by submersible on the bottoms off shore Portofino Promontory (Ligurian Sea). In: Piccazzo M. (ed.), Atti del 12° Congresso AIOL, Isola di Vulcano 18-21 Settembre 1996, Genova, 1: 61-74.
- TUNESI L., DIVIACCO G., MO G. (2001) Observations by submersible on the biocoenosis of the deep-sea corals off Portofino promontory (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). *In*: Willison J.H.M., Gass S.E. (eds.), *Proceedings of the first international symposium on deep-sea corals*. Halifax, Canada: 76-87.
- VERTINO A., STOLARSKI J., BOSELLINI F.R., TAVIANI M. (2014) Mediterranean corals through time: from Miocene to Present. *In*: Goffredo S, Dubinsky Z. (eds), *The Mediterranean Sea: Its history and present challenges*. Springer, Dordrecht, Heidelberg, New York, London: 257-274.

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

\*\*\*\*\*\*

# ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

\*\*\*\*\*

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

**Ricardo AGUILAR, BLANCO J., PERRY A.** Oceana <u>E-mail: raguilar@oceana.org</u>

## DISTRIBUTIONS OF SOME POORLY KNOWN ATLANTO-MEDITERRANEAN DEEP-SEA ANTHOZOANS IN THE WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN

#### Abstract

An increase in deep-sea research in the Mediterranean Sea has brought to light the occurrence of species not previously known to occur there. Such discoveries cover a wide array of taxa, including anthozoans, which are key species for benthic habitats. Anthozoans previously thought to be endemic to the Atlantic Ocean are now known to occur within the Mediterranean Sea. While the Alboran Sea is the most likely area for such species to occur, some Atlantic species have been found to extend further into Mediterranean waters. During the last 20 years, Oceana has researched the deep seafloor of the Mediterranean Sea, primarily using remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) to collect information on habitat-engineering species. These surveys have provided new data on the distribution of anthozoans that have traditionally been considered 'Atlantic', including species of Antipatharia (e.g., Phanopathes rigida), Scleractinia (e.g., Anomocora fecunda), Alcyonacea (e.g., Nicella granifera and Anthomastus sp.) and Pennatulacea (e.g., Protoptilum carpenterii). Some of these species can appear in large aggregations that form habitats (e.g., P. rigida, A. fecunda, N. granifera), while others are part of well-established benthic communities. These findings suggest that future surveys will likely reveal additional records of these species in the deep Mediterranean Sea.

Key-words: Anthozoans, deep-sea, Mediterranean Sea, habitat-forming species, VMEs

#### Introduction

Deep-sea surveys in recent years have identified the occurrence of species not previously recorded from the Mediterranean Sea. Most of these observations are of species whose distributions were previously recorded as extending from the Atlantic Ocean close to the Gibraltar Strait or slightly further, to the western African coast and to northern Europe. For example, reported findings of deep-water 'Atlantic' species in the Mediterranean Sea include sponges (Sitjà & Maldonado, 2014; Boury-Esnault *et al.*, 2015), echinoderms, (Evans *et al.*, 2018), and bryozoans (Harmelin & D'Hondt, 1993; Mastrototaro *et al.*, 2017). Such species have most commonly been found in the Alboran Sea, due to its proximity and direct connection to the Atlantic Ocean. However, some presumed Atlantic species have reached areas much further east, such as waters off Italy and Malta (Mastrototaro *et al.*, 2015; Evans *et al.*, 2018).

Among the 'Atlantic' species recorded in deep Mediterranean waters are a variety of anthozoans, which are of particular interest given their role as habitat engineers (Aguilar *et al.*, 2017) and concerns about their conservation status (Otero *et al.*, 2017). The average level of marine endemism in the Mediterranean Sea is very high (20-30%; Boudouresque, 2004), and some anthozoans do appear to be true Mediterranean endemics (e.g., *Cladocora caespitosa, Eunicella cavolini* and *Paramuricea macrospina*). However, most have a wider distribution, occurring both in the Atlantic Ocean and in the Mediterranean Sea. Nor do such species occur only sparsely in the Mediterranean; some already form

habitats, including within vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs) (for example *Viminella flagellum*; Chimienti *et al.*, 2022).

Here, we provide an overview of Oceana's observations of deep-sea 'Atlantic' species of anthozoans in the Mediterranean Sea, during the last two decades. Identifying such cases is useful for highlighting the prevalence of potential Atlanto-Mediterranean anthozoans that may form large colonies and habitats within the Mediterranean Sea, and therefore may play an important role in Mediterranean deep-sea ecosystems.

#### Materials and methods

Between 2006 and 2022, Oceana carried out 18 deep-sea expeditions in the Mediterranean Sea, from Spain to Lebanon. Most of these studies were conducted in the Western Mediterranean Sea, with a special focus in the Alboran Sea.

Video information was gathered during a total of more than 500 ROV dives around the Western Mediterranean Sea. All the ROV surveys were performed from the ketch catamaran *Ranger*, using a Phantom H2+2 ROV (camera-resolution 750 lines, F1.2 lens, 1:12 zoom) between 2006 and 2009; a Seaeye Falcon DR ROV (high-definition video (HDV) camera of 1920 x 1080 resolution, 1/2.9" Exmor R CMOS Sensor, minimum scene illumination of 3-11 Lux, and a 4.48 mm, f/1.8 3.4 zoom lens I) between 2010 and 2018; and a Nido Robotics Sibiu Pro (12 MP video camera recording at 4K with 60 fps, lens FOV 1/1.8" D108° H90° V59°, focal distance 18 mm) between 2019 and 2022.

The position of the ROV was continuously recorded using a LinkQuest Tracklink USBL transponder, with up to 0.25° accuracy. In some cases, samples of colonies were taken with the robotic arm of the ROV, to allow for later confirmation of taxonomic identification in the laboratory.

#### Results

In total, nearly 150 species of anthozoans were observed during the expeditions. While most of these species were previously well known from the Mediterranean, certain species observed are either less common or have only recently been recorded in this sea. They are described below.

 Nicella granifera. In recent years, this coral species has been recorded from sites across the Atlantic, including the Azores (Braga-Henriques *et al.*, 2013), the Canary Islands (Álvarez *et al.*, 2015), and various seamounts (Grasshoff, 1985; Brenke, 2002; Oliveira *et al.*, 2017). Prior to these discoveries, however, it was already recognised as a Lusitanian-Mediterranean species (Watling & Auster, 2005). In the Mediterranean, Oceana has recorded *N. granifera* mainly below 150 m depth, on seamounts and marine elevations such as the Avempace, Cabliers, and Chella Banks in the Alboran Sea (Ocaña *et al.*, 2017), and the Emile Baudot escarpment in the Balearic Islands (Maldonado *et al.*, 2015). Recent research around the Balearic Islands has also listed this species among the area's benthic anthozoans (Massutí *et al.*, 2022).

From Oceana's surveys, live colonies of *N. granifera* are white and reach roughly 15-20 cm in height. Polyps are sparsely distributed along branches, sometimes forming a zig-zag pattern. They grow on rocks and on calcareous debris. They appear to resist a certain level of sedimentation, growing on sedimented rocks on steep walls. While some colonies are isolated or in small patches, they can also create dense facies.

 Anthomastus sp. Deep-sea species belonging to this genus of Alcyonacea are distributed in the eastern and mid-Atlantic Ocean (Molodtsova, 2013; WoRMS, 2022). Specimens found in the Mediterranean are normally red in colour, although Oceana has also observed some that are white or slightly pinkish. All examples of *Anthomastus* species found by Oceana were living on dead corals and calcareous debris on Mediterranean seamounts (e.g., the Chella and Cabliers Banks), at 350-450 m depth. They were observed to form part of the deep-sea coral communities in those sites.

- 3) Protoptilum carpenterii is widely distributed in the northern and central Atlantic, in both the eastern and western basins (WoRMS, 2022), and has only been recently reported from the Mediterranean Sea (Mastrototaro *et al.*, 2015). Oceana has filmed this species in Chella Bank, South Formentera, and in pockmarks close to Ses Olives seamount (Mastrototaro *et al.*, 2017). It was recorded from muddy bottoms below 300 m depth, where it formed mixed fields of pennatulacean. Many colonies have an intense red colour with large polyps, while others appear paler, with a pinkish/beige or darker red tone. They can reach over 50 cm height above the seabed. They may have passed unnoticed in some surveys due to possible confusion with *Funiculina quadrangularis*, a much more common species of sea pen in the Mediterranean Sea (Bastari *et al.*, 2018), or due to its rapid withdrawal behaviour into the sediment (Ambroso *et al.*, 2021).
- 4) Phanopathes rigida. This species is found in the Atlantic Ocean, mainly in the western central basin (WoRMS, 2022) and was also recently discovered in the Mediterranean Sea (Bo et al., 2018). Oceana documented forests of P. rigida in the Cabliers Bank, where this species is the most important habitat-building black coral species (Corbera et al., 2019). These findings are unique for the Mediterranean Sea and the Western Atlantic. Colonies of P. rigida are roughly 30-40 cm high, white in colour, with a bushy shape and very straight branches. Oceana has also documented it on the Chella Bank, but only as isolated colonies.
- 5) Anomocora fecunda. This scleractinian coral is very well know from the Macaronesian region and other Atlantic areas in both basins (WoRMS, 2022). Oceana has filmed this species in southern Portuguese waters, but also inside the Mediterranean Sea, on the Chella Bank (Ocaña *et al.*, 2017) and possibly also in the Balearic Island (pending confirmation). The species is commonly found forming caespitose colonies over rocky bottoms in waters deeper than 200 m.

In addition to the species above, Oceana has recorded other habitat-forming anthozoans in the western Mediterranean Sea that may have Atlanto-Mediterranean distributions. However, their taxonomic identity has not been confirmed. One of these species is a gorgonian, possibly of the genus *Placogorgia*, from deep rocky beds around the Alboran Sea and in the Balearic Islands. It is large, with yellow colonies, and differs from other Alcyonaceans known in the Mediterranean Sea; it is much taller (over 50 cm in height), thicker, and has more robust branches. The other species belongs to the suborder Alcyoniina, possibly of the genus *Siphonogorgia*, and has been found primarily on seamounts in the Alboran Sea. This soft coral is dark red to white in colour, and is taller and more highly branched than most Mediterranean Alcyoniina species. It settles on sedimented rocky bottoms or on coral/calcareous debris.

#### Discussion

Increasing knowledge about deep-sea biology in the Mediterranean is providing new information on the distribution of some 'Atlantic' habitat-forming species and extending their known ranges to the Mediterranean Sea. Oceana's observations from the western Mediterranean Sea of anthozoan species that have typically been considered Atlantic add to this growing understanding. While these species have not been considered part of the

benthic ecology of this sea, recent findings suggest that the presumed endemism of 'Atlantic' species should be reconsidered.

A useful starting point for such a reassessment would be to focus on those species that are known to occur on the Atlantic side of the Gibraltar Strait. For example, recent research has shown that *Radicipes gracilis* has been recorded in the Gulf of Cadiz, close to the Gibraltar strait (Grinyo *et al.*, 2022), while the Atlantic gorgonian *Acanthogorgia armata* already appears to have entered the Alboran Sea (Altuna & Poliseno, 2019). Beyond just adjacent waters, however, other observations highlight the possibility of more distant presumed Atlantic species reaching Mediterranean waters. For instance, the Macaronesian black coral *Antipathella wollastoni* has been recorded from the Mediterranean side of the Gibraltar Strait, possibly indicating a climate-drive range extension (Ocaña *et al.*, 2007).

It is worth noting that while this study focuses on the western Mediterranean basin, the distributions of some Atlanto-Mediterranean anthozoan species extend much further east in the Mediterranean Sea. New, but not yet published, records of species like *Protoptilum carpenterii* and *Placogogia* sp. will further increase their known distribution ranges inside the Mediterranean Sea in the near future, and will provide new data for evaluating their ecological importance.

As detailed here, deep-sea 'Atlantic' species like *A. fecunda*, *N. granifera*, and *P. rigida* already form monospecific habitats in the Mediterranean Sea, while others comprise part of important ecosystems like coral reefs and sea pen fields. Therefore, they should be considered Mediterranean habitats and also indicators of VMEs in Mediterranean waters. As components of fragile ecosystems that support high levels of biodiversity in the Mediterranean deep-sea, the importance of these newly-recorded Atlanto-Mediterranean species should be recognised.

#### Bibliography

- AGUILAR R., PERRY A.L., LÓPEZ J. (2017) Conservation and Management of Vulnerable Marine Benthic Ecosystems. *In:* Rossi, S., Bramanti, L., Gori, A., Orejas, C. (eds), *Marine Animal Forests: The Ecology of Benthic Biodiversity Hotspots*, Springer, Cham: 1-43
- ÁLVAREZ H., BLANCO J., GARCÍA S., MARÍN P., PERRY A.L., AGUILAR R. (2015) -Preliminary data on deep-sea benthic habitats in four Macaronesian seamounts. 14<sup>th</sup> Deep-Sea Biology Symposium, 31 Aug-4 Sep 2015, Aveiro, Portugal.
- ALTUNA A., POLISENO A. (2019) Taxonomy, Genetics and Biodiversity of Mediterranean Deep-Sea Corals and Cold-Water Corals. In: Orejas C. Jiménez C. (eds), Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World, Springer, Cham: 531-533.
- AMBROSO S., GRINYÓ J., BILAN M., PUIG P. (2021) Extremely rapid withdrawal behaviour of the sea pen *Protoptilum* cf. *carpenteri* in the deep Mediterranean. *Mar. Biodivers.*, 51: 91.
- BASTARI A., PICA D., FERRETTI F., MICHELI F., CERRANO C. (2018) Sea pens in the Mediterranean Sea: habitat suitability and opportunities for ecosystem recovery, *ICES J. Mar. Sci.*, 75(5): 1722-1732.
- BO M., BARUCCA M., BISCOTTI M.A., BRUGLER M.R., CANAPA A., CANESE S., LO IACONO C., BAVESTRELLO G. (2018) Phylogenetic relationships of Mediterranean black corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Hexacorallia) and implications for classification within the order Antipatharia. *Invertebr. Syst.*, 32(5): 1102-1110.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F. (2004) Marine biodiversity in the Mediterranean: Status of species, populations and communities. *Scientific Reports of the Port-Cros National Park*, 20: 97-146
- BOURY-ESNAULT N., VACELET J., REISWIG H.M., FOURT M., AGUILAR R., CHEVALDONNÉ, P. (2015) - Mediterranean hexactinellid sponges, with the description of a new Sympagella species (Porifera, Hexactinellida). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK, 95(7): 1353-1364.

- BRAGA-HENRIQUES A., PORTEIRO F.M., RIBEIRO P.A., DE MATO, V., SAMPAIO Í., OCAÑA O., SANTOS R.S. (2013) Diversity, distribution and spatial structure of the cold-water coral fauna of the Azores (NE Atlantic). *Biogeosciences*, 10: 4009-4036.
- BRENKE N. (2002) The benthic community of the Great Meteor Bank. Oceanography and Ecology of Seamounts Indications of Unique Ecosystems. ICES ASC CM 2002/M:30.
- CHIMIENTI G., AGUILAR R., MAIORCA M., MASTROTOTARO F. (2022) A newly discovered forest of the whip coral *Viminella flagellum* (Anthozoa, Alcyonacea) in the Mediterranean Sea: a non-invasive method to assess its population structure. *Biology*, 11: 39.
- CORBER, G., LO IACONO C., GRÀCIA E., GRINYÓ J., PIERDOMENICO M., HUVENNE V.A.I., AGUILAR R., GILI J.M. (2019) - Ecological characterisation of a Mediterranean cold-water coral reef: Cabliers Coral Mound Province (Alboran Sea, western Mediterranean). *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 175: 245-262.
- EVANS J., KNITTWEIS L., AGUILAR R., ÁLVAREZ H., BORG J.A., GARCÍA S., SCHEMBRI, P.J. (2018) -On the occurrence of *Coronaster briareus* (Echinodermata, Forcipulatida, Asteriidae) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Biodiv.*, 48: 1381-1390.
- GRASSHOFF M. (1985) Die Gorgonaria und Antipatharia der Großen Meteor-Bank und der Josephine-Bank (Cnidaria: Anthozoa). *Senckenberg. marit.*, 17:65-67
- GRINYÓ J., FRANCESCANGELI M., SANTÍN A., ERCILLA G., ESTRADA F., MECHO A., FANELLI E., COSTA C., DANOVARO R., COMPANY J.B., SOBRINO I., VALENCIA J., AGUZZI J. (2022) - Megafaunal assemblages in deep-sea ecosystems of the Gulf of Cadiz, northeast Atlantic Ocean. *Deep Sea Res. Part I: Oceanogr. Res. Pap.*, 183: 103738.
- HARMELIN J-G., D'HONDT J.L. (1993) Transfers of bryozoan species between the Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea via the Strait of Gibraltar. *Oceanol. Act.*, 16(1): 63-72.
- MALDONADO M., AGUILAR R., BLANCO J., GARCÍA S., SERRANO A., PUNZÓN A. (2015) Aggregated clumps of lithistid sponges: a singular, reef-like bathyal habitat with relevant paleontological connections. *PloS One*, 10(5): e0125378.
- MASSUT, E., SÁNCHEZ-GUILLAMÓN O., FARRIOLS M.T., PALOMINO D., FRANK A., BÁRCENAS P., RINCÓN B., MARTÍNEZ-CARREÑO N., KELLER S., LÓPEZ-RODRÍGUEZ C., DÍAZ J.A., LÓPEZ-GONZÁLEZ N., MARCO-HERRERO E., FERNÁNDEZ-ARCAYA U., VALLS M., RAMÍREZ-AMARRO S., FERRAGUT F., JOHER S., ORDINAS F., VÁZQUEZ, J-T. (2022) - Improving Scientific Knowledge of Mallorca Channel Seamounts (Western Mediterranean) within the Framework of Natura 2000 Network. *Diversity*, 14: 4.
- MASTROTOTARO F., CHIMIENTI G., ACOSTA J., BLANCO J., GARCIA S., RIVERA J., AGUILAR R. (2017) *Isidella elongata* (Cnidaria: Alcyonacea) facies in the western Mediterranean Sea: visual surveys and descriptions of its ecological role. *Eur. Zool. J.*, 84(1): 209-225.
- MASTROTOTARO F., CHIMIENTI G., CAPEZZUTO F., CARLUCCI R., WILLIAMS, G. (2015) -First record of *Protoptilum carpenteri* (Cnidaria: Octocorallia: Pennatulacea) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Ital. J. Zool.*, 82(1): 61-68.
- MOLODTSOVA T.N. (2013) Deep-sea mushroom soft corals (Octocorallia: Alcyonacea: Alcyoniidae) of the Northern Mid-Atlantic Ridge, *Mar. Biol. Res.*, 9:5-6, 488-515.
- OCAÑA O., DE MATOS V., AGUILAR R., GARCÍA S., BRITO A. (2017) Illustrated catalogue of cold water corals (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) from Alboran basin and North Eastern Atlantic submarine mountains, collected in Oceana campaigns. *Rev. Acad. Canar. Cienc.*, 29: 221-256
- OCAÑA O., OPRESKO D.M., BRITO, A. (2007) First record of the black coral Antipathella wollastoni (Anthozoa: Antipatharia) outside of Macaronesian waters. Rev. Acad. Canar. Cienc., 17: 125-138.
- OLIVEIRA F., AGUILAR R., MONTEIRO R., BENTES L., AFONSO C.M.L, GARCÍA S., XAVIER J. R., OCAÑA O., DE MATOS V., TAVARES A. M., GONÇALVES J.M.S. (2017) -*A photographic guide of the species of the Gorringe Bank*. Centro de Ciencias do Mar (CCMAR)/Oceana, Faro: 312 pp.

- OTERO M.M., NUMA C., BO M., OREJAS C., GARRABOU J., CERRANO C., KRUŽIC' P., ANTONIADOU C., AGUILAR R., KIPSON S., LINARES C., TERRÓN-SIGLER A., BROSSARD J., KERSTING D., CASADO-AMEZÚA P., GARCÍA S., GOFFREDO S., OCAÑA O., CAROSELLI E., MALDONADO M., BAVESTRELLO G., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., ÖZALP B. (2017) -Overview of the conservation status of Mediterranean anthozoans. IUCN, Malaga: 73 pp.
- SITJÀ C., MALDONADO M. (2014) New and rare sponges from the deep shelf of the Alboran Island (Alboran Sea, Western Mediterranean). *Zootaxa*, 3760(2):141-179.
- WATLING L., AUSTER P.J. (2005) Distribution of deep-water Alcyonacea off the Northeast Coast of the United States. *In:* Freiwald, A., Roberts, J.M. (eds), *Cold-Water Corals and Ecosystems*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg: 279-296.
- WoRMS EDITORIAL BOARD (2022) World Register of Marine Species. Available from https://www.marinespecies.org at VLIZ. Accessed 2022-03-22.

**Thanos DAILIANIS, GEROVASILEIOU V., CHATZIGEORGIOU G., VERNADOU E., GLAMPEDAKIS I., ARVANITIDIS C., KARGIOLAKI H.** Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR), Institute of Marine Biology, Biotechnology & Aquaculture (IMBBC), 71500 Heraklion Crete, Greece <u>E-mail: thanosd@hcmr.gr</u>

## EXPLORATORY BASELINE SURVEY OF CAVE HABITATS WITHIN A MARINE PROTECTED AREA IN THE AEGEAN SEA

#### Abstract

Sea caves constitute a marine habitat of particular importance, hosting a significant amount of biodiversity and acknowledged as a biodiversity hot spot. The Aegean Sea (Eastern Mediterranean) hosts more than 600 marine caves, the majority of which are in the islanddominated South Aegean Sea. The marine protected area (MPA) of the Dodecanese archipelago incorporates the islands of Karpathos and Saria, both characterized by a complex rocky coastline with steep slopes and a high representation of priority habitats, as well as rare and protected species. An extended survey was performed to map and assess the cave habitats within the MPA jurisdiction, extending over approximately 25 nautical miles of coastline. The survey comprised collection and assessment of information from previous, partial surveys and local stakeholders, along with an expedition of a team of 5 divers to assess the habitat's presence along the rocky coasts of the MPA. In total, 57 distinct point locations were identified and mapped, according to international guidelines. Out of those, 30 were selectively assessed at 3 different levels of effort: (a) topographic characteristics, including entrance dimensions, orientation, and total length, (b) qualitative biodiversity assessment with visual census, (c) quantitative benthic community assessment using non-destructive photo sampling. The collected data will serve to: (a) establish a baseline of benthic community composition of these priority habitats, including typical, rare, protected, and introduced species, (b) evaluate their conservation status through relevant indices and a census of pressures and threats, (c) propose specific management, conservation, and restoration actions. The necessity for the development of methodology to facilitate large-scale mapping of marine cave habitats is highlighted.

Key-words: mapping; benthic assemblages; scientific diving; MPA; Eastern Mediterranean

#### Introduction

Submerged or partially submerged sea caves constitute a marine habitat of particular importance, hosting a significant amount of biodiversity and acknowledged as a biodiversity hot spot (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). At the same time, they are sensitive and susceptible to a multitude of pressures despite the fact that they are often remote or difficult to access. Lately, there is a pronounced indication for impacts on the biotic components of marine caves, deriving either directly from human activities, or indirectly (e.g. climate change) (Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2016; Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2019). Marine caves are included in the EU Habitats Directive (Code 8330) and are protected by Barcelona Convention under the Dark Habitats Action Plan (UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015).

The Aegean Sea (Eastern Mediterranean) hosts more than 600 marine caves, the majority of which are in the island-dominated South Aegean Sea (Sini *et al.*, 2017). However, a relatively small number of marine caves have been studied for their geomorphology and diversity (Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2013; 2015). Despite marine caves being known from 33

out of 62 Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), the exact number of sea caves in MPAs remains unknown (Abdulla *et al.*, 2008) and no specific management plans or regulations are implemented for this habitat in most countries (Ouerghi *et al.*, 2019). The aim of this work was to map and assess, for the first time, marine cave habitats within an MPA of the South-Eastern Aegean Sea, characterized by a complex rocky coastline with steep slopes and a high representation of priority habitats, in order to propose specific management and conservation actions.

#### Materials and methods

The exploratory survey was conducted over seven consecutive days between 27 October and 2 November 2019, extending along 45 kilometers of coastline within the area of jurisdiction of the MPA of North Karpathos and Saria Islands. This MPA is located in the south-eastern Aegean Sea (Greece) and is included in the Greek NATURA 2000 Network (code GR4210003). The survey was performed by boat, at close proximity to the coast, observing geological characteristics that could indicate the presence of partially or fully submerged caves (e.g. ridges, fractures and overhangs near the sea level). Additionally, information on potential presence of fully submerged caves was acquired by local fishers and divers. Three levels of evaluation were employed: (a) observation from the boat, (b) assessment with snorkeling and free diving, and (c) assessment with scuba diving. The surveys were performed by a team of five diving scientists with the support of the personnel of the Management Agency of Dodecanese Protected Areas. For cave formations fulfilling the criteria for characterization as 8330 Habitats (SPA/RAC-UN Environment/MAP & OCEANA, 2017), a minimum level of topographic data was collected (i.e. geolocation data, cave entrance dimensions, entrance orientation, cave length, existence of benthic zonation patterns). For sea caves hosting a typical sciaphilic community, a qualitative biodiversity assessment was performed by visual census. Lastly, for a sub-set of large representative caves, a full assessment of the biodiversity and the ecological status was performed, based on non-destructive photoquadrat sampling and application of ecological quality indices, respectively.

#### Results

In total, 57 locations with indicated or suspected presence of sea caves were surveyed along 45 kilometers of the MPA coastline (Fig. 1). Five of these locations were inspected with observation from the vessel only, while 20 cave formations were surveyed with scuba diving and 32 with snorkeling or free diving. Out of the 57 total examined locations, 27 did not comply with the criteria for the 8330 Habitat (i.e. were small-sized crevices, pass-throughs, overhangs, or walls with vertical or negative inclination) and no further assessment was performed apart from recording the location coordinates. For the remaining 30 cave formations complying with the 8330 Habitat criteria, the majority (20 caves, 67%) were partially submerged, meaning that a part of the entrance and the cave length was above seawater level, while 10 caves (33%) were fully submerged (i.e. their entrance was below sea level, although some had internal air chambers). The seafloor depth of the cave entrances ranged from -1 to -16 m (Fig. 2A), with a median of -7 m  $\pm$  4.5 SD. The length of the caves (meaning the extent of the cave formation that is covered by ceiling, from entrance to end point) ranged from 2 to 37 m (Fig 2B), with a median of 15 m  $\pm$  7.6 SD.

Regarding the biodiversity of the assessed 30 caves, 68 taxa were recorded in total, belonging to 14 major taxonomic groups, namely 2 plant, 12 invertebrate, and 2 vertebrate

phyla. Overall, a rich biodiversity was recorded, including the typical components of the endemic Mediterranean coralligenous habitat (e.g. Mesophyllum sp., Peyssonnelia sp.) which were characteristic at the cave entrances, as well as aggregations of species representatives of the dark and semi-dark Mediterranean assemblages (e.g. the sponges Diplastrella bistellata and Plakina sp., the yellow cup coral Leptopsammia pruvoti, the narwal shrimp Plesionika narval and the cardinal fish Apogon imberbis). Moreover, several typical Eastern Mediterranean cave-dwelling organisms were commonly recorded, including the bryozoan Hippaliosina depressa and the coral Madracis pharensis. Among a rich motile fish fauna, five non-indigenous species (NIS) were commonly recorded at the examined caves. Out of those, Pempheris rhomboidea, Pterois miles, and Sargocentron rubrum were recorded at the semi-dark and dark parts of the caves, while Enchelycore anatina and Siganus luridus were observed mainly near the cave entrance zone. Pressures were recorded in some caves, in the form of marine litter, but also as partial necroses and mortality of sponges and fragmentation of fragile species (mainly bryozoans and corals). Detailed biodiversity and ecological quality assessment of the seven representative caves are presented in Digenis et al. (2022).



Fig.1. Map of the Marine Protected Area of North Karpathos and Saria Island, indicating the 57 point locations where the presence of fully or partially submerged sea caves was surveyed. Different symbols indicate surveying method: black circle = scuba diving; transparent circle = snorkeling and free diving; cross = observation from vessel.

Tab. 1: Location names and geographic coordinates of the 30 surveyed sites complying with the 8330 Habitat criteria. Survey method (SD: scuba diving; FD: free diving and snorkeling) and collected data (Topo: topographic characteristics; Bio: biotic data through visual census; PhQ: non-destructive photoquadrat sampling for comprehensive biodiversity analysis) are also listed for each cave.

Location name	Coordinates		Survey method		Collected data		
	Lat	Lon	SD	FD	Торо	Bio	PhQ
Troulakas	35.811	27.233	•		•	٠	•
Alona	35.820	27.230	•		•	•	•
Alimounta	35.896	27.241	•		•		•
Platoma	35.870	27.234	•		•		
Monaxios	35.830	27.240	•		•		
Ammoui	35.825	27.236	•		•		
Yeros	35.802	27.232		•	•	•	
Palatia	35.887	27.233	•		•		•
Agios Panteleimonas	35.855	27.193	•		•	•	•
Melouros 1	35.803	27.188	•		•	•	
Yaftes 2	35.813	27.199	•		•		
Yaftes 3	35.811	27.198	•		•	•	
Linovrochi	35.837	27.232		•	•		
Yiourious 2	35.866	27.203	•		•	•	•
Plaka 3	35.882	27.214	•		•	•	
Oxonisos 2	35.901	27.219	•		•	٠	•
Alimounta 2	35.895	27.236		•	•	•	
Kisolia	35.889	27.236		•	•	•	
Palatia 1	35.887	27.235		•	•	٠	
Imera Athymaria 2	35.854	27.240	•		•		
Asprouas	35.853	27.240		•	•	•	
Spathareas 1	35.845	27.239		•	•		
Spathareas 2	35.844	27.239		•	•		
Agia Aikaterini	35.830	27.227		•	•	•	
Troulakas 1	35.814	27.234		•	•		
Arelia 2	35.809	27.233		•	•	٠	
Nisi tis graias	35.795	27.228		•	•		
Chalavronta 1	35.837	27.212		•	•	•	
Chalavronta 2	35.839	27.208		•	•	•	
Pountes	35.831	27.213		•	•	•	



Fig.2. (A) Number of caves grouped in six categories according to cave length; (B) Number of caves grouped in three categories according to entrance depth.
#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The present study constitutes a detailed assessment of the presence and distribution of marine cave habitats (Habitats Directive type 8330) within an Eastern Mediterranean MPA, along with a preliminary evaluation of their topographic and biotic characteristics. The collected and analyzed data serve to: (a) provide a catalogue of the presence and extent of marine cave habitats within the MPA; (b) establish a baseline of benthic community composition; and (c) serve as a basis for sound management, conservation and restoration actions. It is notable that marine caves, although a priority habitat in the Mediterranean Sea, are not exhaustively mapped and assessed within Mediterranean MPAs, in contrast to other marine habitats listed in the EU Habitats Directive, such as Posidonia seagrass meadows (habitat type 1120), submerged sandbanks (habitat type 1110), and reefs (habitat type 1170). This is contradictory to their generally accepted important role as biodiversity hotspots and refugia (Gerovasileiou et al. 2015) and their sensitivity to ongoing and future pressures (UNEP-MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015). This gap is relevant to inherent difficulties in broad-scale mapping and remote sensing, i.e. there is presently no way to effectively identify submerged cave habitats by high-throughput methods such as acoustic and satellite data, due to their cryptic nature. This is augmented by the innate fragmentation of this habitat, as well as regional heterogeneity (Giakoumi et al. 2013). Our survey, though comprehensive and detailed, has limitations in regard to bathymetry (limited to 16 m) and its exhaustiveness, since it is based on indications from geomorphological features and scarce local ecological knowledge in order to focus the exploratory actions in areas of interest. At the same time, surveys of this nature are particularly resource-intensive, especially when applied over extended lengths of coastline. Future priorities towards the mapping and assessment of marine caves in Mediterranean MPAs should concentrate in the exploration and development of highthroughput methods to this end, including: (a) use of Diver Propulsion Vehicles (DPVs) to extend the exploratory survey range; (b) development of methodologies based on Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs) and possibly Autonomous Underwater Vehicles (AUVs) to enhance observation ranges overcoming the limitations of diving in terms of depth and operational time; (c) investigation of the potential of acoustic methods such as multi-beam sonar to indicate the presence of cave formations, and (d) employment of 3D photogrammetry analysis to increase the efficiency and resolution of the assessment of biotic and abiotic factors.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was funded in the context of the projects: (a) "Management interventions to N. Karpathos and Saria Protected Area", included in the "South Aegean Operational Programme 2014–2020" and co-financed by EU and national resources and (b) DRESSAGE (MIS5045792) through the Operational Program "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (EPAnEK 2014–2020). Special thanks are due to the personnel of the Management Agency of the Dodecanese Protected Areas, Konstantinos Protopappas, Giorgos Priaris, Ioanna Papaggeli, and Georgia Piligotsi for valuable operational support.

#### Bibliography

ABDULLA A., GOMEI M., MAISON E., PIANTE C. (2008) - *Status of Marine Protected Areas in the Mediterranean Sea*. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Malaga and World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), Paris: 152 pp.

- DIGENIS M., ARVANITIDIS C., DAILIANIS T., GEROVASILEIOU V. (2022) Comparative Study of Marine Cave Communities in a Protected Area of the South-Eastern Aegean Sea, Greece. J. Mar. Sci. Eng., 10: 660.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., CHINTIROGLOU C., VAFIDIS D., KOUTSOUBAS D., SINI M., DAILIANIS T., ISSARIS Y., AKRITOPOULOU E., DIMARCHOPOULOU D., VOULTSIADOU E. (2015) - Census of biodiversity in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 16: 245-265.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., TRYGONIS V., SINI M., KOUTSOUBAS D., VOULTSIADOU, E. (2013) - Three-dimensional mapping of marine caves using a handheld echosounder. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 486: 13-22.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., VOULTSIADOU E., ISSARIS Y., ZENETOS A. (2016) Alien biodiversity in Mediterranean marine caves. *Mar. Ecol.*, 37: 239-256.
- GEROVASILEIOU V.; BIANCHI C. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev., 59: 1-88.
- GIAKOUMI S., SINI M., GEROVASILEIOU V., MAZOR T., BEHER J., POSSINGHAM H.P., ABDULLA A., ÇINAR M.E., DENDRINOS P., GUCU A.C., KARAMANLIDIS A.A., RODIC P., PANAYOTIDIS P., TASKIN E., JAKLIN A., VOULTSIADOU E., WEBSTER C., ZENETOS A., KATSANEVAKIS S. (2013) - Ecoregion-based conservation planning in the Mediterranean: Dealing with large-scale heterogeneity. *PLoS ONE*, 8: e76449.
- OUERGHI A., GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2019) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge and the Mediterranean Action Plan for the conservation of "dark habitats". *In*: Öztürk B. (ed), *Marine Caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea: Biodiversity, Threats and Conservation*, Publication no. 53, Turkish Marine Research Foundation (TUDAV), Istanbul, Turkey: 1-13.
- SEMPERE-VALVERDE J., SABINO LORENZO Á., ESPINOSA F., GEROVASILEIOU V., SÁNCHEZ-TOCINO L., NAVARRO-BARRANCO C. (2019) - Taxonomic and morphological descriptors reveal high benthic temporal variability in a Mediterranean marine submerged cave over a decade. *Hydrobiologia*, 839: 177-194.
- SINI M., KATSANEVAKIS S., KOUKOUROUVLI N., GEROVASILEIOU V., DAILIANIS T., BUHL-MORTENSEN L., DAMALAS D., DENDRINOS P., DIMAS X., FRANTZIS A., GERAKARIS V., GIAKOUMI S., GONZALEZ-MIRELIS G., HASIOTIS T., ISSARIS Y., KAVADAS S.G., KOUTSOGIANNOPOULOS D.D., KOUTSOUBAS D., MANOUTSOGLOU E., MARKANTONATOU V., MAZARIS A.D., POURSANIDIS D., PAPATHEODOROU G., SALOMIDI M., TOPOUZELIS K., TRYGONIS V., VASSILOPOULOU V., ZOTOU M. (2017) - Assembling ecological pieces to reconstruct the conservation puzzle of the Aegean Sea. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 4: 347.
- SPA/RAC–UN Environment/MAP, OCEANA (2017) Guidelines for inventorying and monitoring of dark habitats in the Mediterranean Sea. By Gerovasileiou V, Aguilar R, Marín P., SPA/RAC-Deep Sea Lebanon Project, Tunis: 40 pp. + Annexes.
- UNEP-MAP-RAC/SPA (2015) Action plan for the conservation of habitats and species associated with seamounts, underwater caves and canyons, aphotic hard beds and chemosynthetic phenomena in the Mediterranean Sea. Dark Habitats Action Plan. RAC/SPA, Tunis: 17 pp.

#### Nicolò DI TULLIO, FERRARO V., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N., MONTEFALCONE M.

Seascape Ecology Laboratory, DiSTAV (Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences), University of Genova - Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genova, Italy <u>E-mail: nicolo.ditullio@gmail.com</u>

### EFFECTS OF GLOBAL AND LOCAL PRESSURES ON THREE SUBMERGED MARINE CAVES IN THE WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN SEA

#### Abstract

Submerged marine caves, priority habitats under European directives, are subjected to a combination of global and local human pressures. Although information about the effects of global warming on marine caves is seldom available, there is still very little information about the effects of local pressures on these unique habitats. In this study we evaluated and compared change over time in benthic communities experienced by three submerged marine caves in the Western Mediterranean Sea: Ventimiglia and Grotta Marina of Bergeggi in the Ligurian Sea and Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro in the Tyrrhenian Sea. Photoquadrats have been sampled underwater in different stations along the caves and in distinct years, providing long series of data spanning from 10 to 30 years. On photoquadrats, the percent cover of non-taxonomic benthic descriptors, grouped into growth forms, was visually estimated. Euclidean Distance was used to measure change over time in benthic communities. Results showed that global pressures did not significantly change the cave benthic communities over the long time-period, whilst local pressures due to infrastructure building caused the most significant change in a comparatively shorter time. The three marine caves displayed different behaviours, thus confirming the singularity of each cavity system. The observed vulnerability of the three caves investigated urgently asks for including these habitats in monitoring plans to assess the effects of local human pressures.

**Key-words:** Mediterranean Sea, marine caves, non-taxonomic descriptors, trophic guilds, timeseries

#### Introduction

Marine ecosystems are changing under the combined effect of local and global pressures (Gissi *et al.*, 2021). Evidence of community shifts has already been reported in many subtidal ecosystems of the north-western Mediterranean Sea, due to the synergic effects of climate change and local disturbances, which caused significant alterations, often irreversible, in community structure and composition (Gatti *et al.*, 2017).

Submerged marine caves are unique and vulnerable habitats protected by the European Community (Habitat Directive 92/43 EEC). They exhibit high biodiversity and are threatened by multiple pressures (Parravicini *et al.*, 2010; Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018). Their sessile communities are highly heterogeneous, reflecting the cave topography and gradients, so that the effects of pressures can vary considerably according to geographical location and environmental conditions. Local disturbances deriving from coastal interventions may cause the major changes in both semi-submerged and submerged caves, acting synergically with climate change and water warming (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018). Diachronic inventories are rarely carried out and time series are of prime

importance to detect marine ecosystem change, even in the absence of direct human impacts (Bianchi *et al.*, 2022). There is a few studies about time series on marine caves (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021), nevertheless in the NW Mediterranean Sea three iconic examples of caves monitored for decades exist: the Grotta Marina of Bergeggi, the cave system of Ventimiglia, and the Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro, all located in Italy. This study represents the first attempt to compare the change over time (10 to 30 years) experienced by benthic sessile communities in these three marine caves to evaluate i) effects of both local and global pressures on cave ecosystems, and 2) similar patterns of change in response to anthropogenic pressures.

#### Materials and methods

The Grotta Marina of Bergeggi is located in the western Ligurian Sea (Savona, North-West Italy) within the Marine Protected Area 'Isola di Bergeggi', established in 2007. It is a semi-submerged cave. The submerged portion reaches 7 m depth, is a tunnel-shaped cave and has a limited development but a remarkable morphologic complexity, which creates strong gradients (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018). The main local human pressure on this cave originates from the nearby Vado Ligure commercial harbour, being the cave located a few kilometres downstream this harbour, which was hugely enlarged between 2012 and 2018. A long series (1969, 1971, 2005, 2008, and 2011) of beach nourishment interventions were also carried out around the Bergeggi coastal area, which enhanced sedimentation on many coastal ecosystems (Parravicini *et al.*, 2010).

The cave system of Ventimiglia is located in the western Ligurian Sea (Ventimiglia, North-West Italy) and is made by two adjacent blind-ended caves (Grotta Grande and Grotta Piccola), considered as "twin cavities" (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021): a larger semi-submerged cave with a maximum depth of 6 m (Grotta Grande), and a smaller submerged cave with a maximum depth of 4 m (Grotta Piccola). The main local human pressure affecting this cave system is represented by the recent construction of the new marina in Ventimiglia, which started in 2010 and ended in 2019. The main dam and the entrance of the touristic harbour is nearby the entrance of the Grotta Piccola.

The Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro is located in the Tyrrhenian Sea (Salerno, South-West Italy). It is a wide and complex semi-submerged cave, reaching a maximum depth of 30 m; with two distinct entrances and a wide lateral chamber the cave has both the characteristics of a tunnel-shaped and of a blind-ended cave. The coastline of Capo Palinuro is not significantly affected by major local human activities, and the only putative stressor may be linked with the summer frequentation by touristic boats that enter the cave.

In the Grotta Marina of Bergeggi a total of 8 sampling stations were selected randomly on walls in the different sectors of the cave and at the same depth of about 6 m (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018). In each station five replicates of wire-frame photography were collected in four distinct periods (1986, 2004, 2009, and 2013), for a total of 40 photoquadrats per year. In the Ventimiglia cave system, 9 sampling stations were selected randomly on walls at about 5 m depth and at a constant distance from each other, starting from the entrance to the inner portions of the two caves (Nepote *et al.*, 2017). In each station three replicates of wire-frame photography were collected every year, from 2010 to 2018, for a total of 27 photoquadrats per year. In the Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro, 17 sampling stations were selected randomly on walls in the different sectors of the cave and at about 10 m depth (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2022). In each station three replicates of

wire-frame photography were collected in two distinct periods (1992 and 2018), for a total of 51 photoquadrats per year.

Growth forms have been adopted as non-taxonomic descriptors to assess change over time in benthic communities of the three marine caves (Parravicini *et al.*, 2010), which are informative about the ecosystem structure and the habitat occupancy strategy adopted by sessile organisms (Nepote *et al.*, 2017). Morphology of organisms is also a simpler descriptor to be employed and identified during laboratory analyses (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018). Growth forms include borers, hemispherical determinate mounds, domed determined mounds, flattened indeterminate mounds, cylindrical prostrate indeterminate mounds, prostrate plates, erect plates, trees, runners, determinate sheets, indeterminate sheets, vines, and pedunculate sponges (see Nepote *et al.*, 2017 and Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018 for further details).

On photoquadrats the percent (%) cover of each growth form was visually estimated, also considering the cover of turf and sediment. Mean values ( $\pm$ s.e.) of each descriptor were obtained averaging the photoquadrats on each station. Cover data were then arcsine  $\sqrt{(x/100)}$  transformed. Change over time in the occupational strategy in each cave was evaluated by computing Euclidean Distances between the photoquadrats of a given year and the centroid of the photoquadrats of the first year of the time series. Euclidean Distances were chosen as a measure of dissimilarity among communities, as they emphasize differences in the proportional species composition and account for joint-absence information. The rate of change in the benthic communities of each cave was computed as the difference between Euclidean Distances over years, and then expressed as percentage. All statistical analyses have been performed by using the software R Development Core Team (2011) and the software IBM SPSS Statistics (v. 21).

#### **Results and Discussion**

The benthic community in the Grotta Marina of Bergeggi maintained virtually stable between 1986 and 2009, while it changed between 2009 and 2013 (Fig. 1). The Ventimiglia cave system showed a sharp change between 2010 and 2013 and then it maintained almost stable in the last sampling years (i.e., between 2013 and 2018). The Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro maintained nearly stable between 1992 and 2018.

The synoptic comparison among the three caves shows that the Grotta Marina of Bergeggi displayed a low rate of change (0.03%) between 1986 and 2009, similar to that experienced by the Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro (0.2%). On the contrary, the rate of change of the Grotta Marina between 2009 and 2013 was comparatively higher (2.8%), and similar to that observed in the Ventimiglia cave system, this latter showing the highest rate of change (4.6%) in the shortest time period.

The analysis of long time series of quantitative information about sessile communities in marine caves allowed elucidating the evolution of the Bergeggi, Ventimiglia, and Palinuro cave ecosystems during the last 30 years. Notwithstanding the dearth of long-term ecological studies in the Mediterranean Sea, little research effort has been invested on marine caves in comparison to other marine habitats (Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2015) and the historical series of data analysed in this study may thus represent a precious and unique baseline for understanding the vulnerability of these fragile ecosystems to global and local pressures. The non-taxonomic descriptors here adopted (i.e., growth forms) were effective indicators of the benthic community alteration occurred within the caves. The Grotta Marina of Bergeggi experienced a slow but continuous decline in the cover of erect organisms in the last thirty years, matched by an increase in turf and sediment. 3-

dimensional growth forms have been replaced by 2-dimensional ones, leading to a general homogenisation of the cave communities (Parravicini et al., 2010). The first evidence of change in this cave has been reported since the 1990s, which was likely to be due to the synergic effects of both local pressures and climate change (Montefalcone et al., 2018). Beach nourishments were considered as the main source of impact, especially those major interventions occurred in 2005, 2008, and 2011. The Vado Ligure harbour enlargement (started in 2011) enforced the pressure of local disturbances affecting this cave, as resulted from the huge increase in the benthic community dissimilarity observed between 2009 and 2013. The human interventions that occurred along the coast of Bergeggi in recent years may have changed the natural hydrodynamic and sedimentary regimes, which, in turn, could have detrimental effects on the cave assemblages because of the increased water turbidity and the alteration in the sedimentation rate (Rovere et al., 2015). The Ventimiglia cave system has the comparatively shorter time series, but the most representative in terms of sampling frequency, as it was specifically addressed to evaluate the impact of the construction of the touristic harbour on the cave ecosystems (Nepote et al., 2017). Since the beginning of the harbour construction, started in 2011, the benthic communities in the Ventimiglia caves showed significant change over time, as most of the 3-dimensional forms have been replaced by turf and sediment.

The very low rate of change experienced by the Grotta Azzurra of Capo Palinuro in the last three decades clearly reflects the virtual absence of major local human activities along the coastline, being climatic disturbance the major driver of the change observed (Gambi & Barbieri, 2012).



Fig. 1: Growth forms change over time, expressed as mean Euclidean Distance (ED  $\pm$  s.e.) in the three marine caves investigated.

#### Conclusions

The synoptic analysis among the three marine caves showed that global pressures did not significantly change the cave benthic communities over the long time-period, whilst local pressures due to infrastructure building caused the most significant change in a comparatively shorter time. The greatest changes were experienced by those caves affected by local human pressures, such as the touristic harbour construction in

Ventimiglia and the commercial harbour enlargement in Bergeggi. Both Ventimiglia and Bergeggi caves displayed a similar rate of change, which was remarkably higher than in Palinuro. The three marine caves displayed different behaviours, thus confirming the singularity of each cavity system.

Although a slow but gradual change has already been described in cave ecosystems because of climate change and water warming (Gambi & Barbieri, 2012; Parravicini *et al.*, 2010; Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018), the synergic occurrence of local human pressure may cause the most detrimental effects on the resilience of these vulnerable ecosystems. Assessing the effects of human pressures on biodiversity is a prerequisite for effective marine spatial planning, harmonizing conservation purposes with sustainable development. The observed vulnerability of the three caves investigated urgently asks for including these habitats in monitoring plans to assess the effects of multiple pressures.

#### Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the Marine Protected Area 'Isola di Bergeggi' (Savona), Felice Zanini (Savona), Diego Fioravanti (Ventimiglia), and Fabio Barbieri (Palinuro Sub Diving Center, Salerno) for their assistance during field activities. We also acknowledge all the MSc students at the University of Genova who collaborated in data analyses.

#### Bibliography

- BIANCHI C.N., AZZOLA A., COCITO S., MORRI C., OPRANDI A., PEIRANO A., SGORBINI S., MONTEFALCONE M. (2022) - Biodiversity monitoring in Mediterranean marine protected areas: Scientific and methodological challenges. *Diversity*, 14 (1): 43.
- GAMBI M.C., BARBIERI F. (2012) Population structure of the gorgonian *Eunicella cavolinii* in the "Grotta Azzurra" cave of Palinuro, after the mass mortality event in 2008. *Biologia Marina Mediterranea*, 19 (1): 174-175.
- GATTI G., BIANCHI C.N., MONTEFALCONE M., VENTURINI S., DIVIACCO G., MORRI C. (2017) - Observational information on a temperate reef community helps understanding the marine climate and ecosystem shift of the 1980–90s. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 114 (1): 528-538.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. *Oceanography and Marine Biology*, 59: 1-88.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., CHINTIROGLOU C., VAFIDIS D., KOUTSOUBAS D., SINI V., DAILIANIS T., ISSARIS Y., AKRITOPOULOU E., DIMARCHOPOULOU D., VOUTSIADOU E. (2015) - Census of biodiversity in marine caves of the eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, 16: 245-265.
- GISSI E., MANEA E., MAZARIS A.D., FRASCHETTI S., ALMPANIDOU, V., BEVILACQUA S., COLL M., GUARNIERI G., LLORET-LLORET E., PASCUAL M., PETZA D., RILOV G., SCHONWALD M., STELZENMULLER V., KATSANEVAKIS S. (2021) - A review of the combined effects of climate change and other local human stressors on the marine environment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 755: 142-564.
- MONTEFALCONE M., AZZOLA A., FRUSTI C., INCANI M., MORRI C., OPRANDI A., BIANCHI C.N. (2022) Changes in the benthic community of the marine cave 'Grotta Azzurra' of Capo Palinuro (Salerno, Italy) after 26 years. *Biologia Marina Mediterranea*, in press.
- MONTEFALCONE M., DE FALCO G., NEPOTE E., CANESSA M., BERTOLINO M., BAVESTRELLO G., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2018) - Thirty year ecosystem trajectories in a submerged marine cave under changing pressure regime. *Marine Environmental Research*, 137: 98-110.

- MONTEFALCONE M., PARRAVICINI V., BIANCHI C.N. (2011) Quantification of coastal ecosystem resilience. In: Wolanski E. and McLusky D.S. (eds), *Treatise on Estuarine and Coastal Science*. Waltham, Academic Press., 10 (3): 49-70.
- NEPOTE E., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., FERRARI M., MONTEFALCONE M. (2017) Impact of a harbour construction on the benthic community of two shallow marine caves. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 114: 35-45.
- PARRAVICINI V., GUIDETTI P., MORRI C., MONTEFALCONE M., DONATO M., BIANCHI C.N. (2010) - Consequences of sea water temperature anomalies on A Mediterranean submarine cave ecosystem. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 86 (2): 276-282.
- ROVERE A., CASELLA E., VACCHI M., PARRAVICINI V., FIRPO M., FERRARI M., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2015) Coastal and marine geomorphology between Albenga and Savona (NW Mediterranean Sea, Italy). *Journal of Maps*, 11 (2): 278-286.

Markos DIGENIS, ARVANITIDIS C., DAILIANIS T., GEROVASILEIOU V.

Hellenic Centre for Marine Research, Institute of Marine Biology, Biotechnology and Aquaculture, Heraklion, Greece / Department of Environment, Ionian University, Zakynthos, Greece

E-mail: markosdigenis@gmail.com

## COMPARISON OF BENTHIC ASSEMBLAGES FROM SIX MARINE CAVES IN A PROTECTED AREA OF THE SOUTH-EASTERN AEGEAN SEA, GREECE

#### Abstract

Despite the large number of marine caves which have been recorded along the Greek coasts of the Aegean Sea, only few have been studied for their biodiversity. In this study, the benthic assemblages of six marine caves in a Protected Area of the South-Eastern Aegean Sea (Karpathos and Saria Islands, Greece) were quantitatively studied for the first time. A total of 120 photoquadrats were collected and analysed, covering the entrance and semi-dark zones of the caves. Motile taxa were qualitatively recorded with visual census. Our study yielded 81 sessile and 45 motile taxa, including 12 protected and 10 non-indigenous species. Multivariate analysis showed that different geomorphological and topographic features of the studied caves significantly affected the structure of the benthic assemblages. In addition, several pressures and threats were recorded in all studied caves. The results of this baseline survey are essential to the development of specific management and conservation actions for the protection of marine caves and their biota.

Key-words: benthic communities, motile fauna, morphological variables, MPA, Eastern Mediterranean

#### Introduction

Marine caves have been characterized as "biodiversity reservoirs" or "refuge habitats" due to the high number of taxa which find refuge in their interior, including several endemic, rare and protected species (Harmelin *et al.*, 1985; Gerovasileiou & Voultsiadou, 2012; Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). Therefore, they are protected by the European Union's Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) and the Barcelona Convention under the Dark Habitats Action Plan (UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015). Sea caves constitute a typical feature of the Mediterranean Sea with more than 3,000 caves recorded along its rocky coastline (Giakoumi *et al.*, 2013). According to the latest census, 622 sea caves are known from the Greek coasts of the Aegean Sea with their majority distributed at its southern, island-dominated sector (Sini *et al.*, 2017).

Marine caves exhibit a notable biotic heterogeneity, also known as "individuality", which is commonly attributed to different geomorphological and topographic features (e.g. cave morphology, depth, and orientation of the entrance) generating steep environmental gradients (Riedl, 1966; Bussotti *et al.*, 2006; Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021) which directly affect the structure of hard substrate benthic communities. Herein, a quantitative description of hard-substrate benthic assemblages and a qualitative assessment of motile fauna are provided for six marine caves in a Marine Protected Area (MPA) of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. Furthermore, we investigated the association of different geomorphological and topographical factors of the caves with the structure of benthic assemblages.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Six marine caves of the MPA of North Karpathos and Saria Islands (NATURA 2000 code GR4210003) at the South-Eastern Aegean Sea, Greece (Fig. 1A) were surveyed by diving scientists in October 2019. Two of the studied caves (Alona and Troulakas) were fully submerged, located at the north-eastern coast of Karpathos Island, while the other four caves (Giourious, Oxonisos, Palatia and Panteleimonas) were semi-submerged, located along the northeast to western coastline of Saria Island (Fig. 1B). All examined caves were blind-ended (i.e. with a single opening/entrance) with a total length of 16 to 37 m, while their maximum depth ranged from 4 to 11 m for fully submerged and 9–16 m for semi-submerged caves.



Fig.1. Location of the study area in Greece, Eastern Mediterranean (A) and the studied caves with the percent coverage of sessile taxa and non-living substrate for each ecological cave zone (CE: cave entrance, SD: semi-dark zone) (B).

For the study of hard substrate benthic assemblages, a series of 10 randomly placed quadrats (25x25 cm) was photographed from the opposite walls of each cave zone, resulting in a total of 120 photoquadrats for the six surveyed caves. Since none of the studied caves had a distinct completely dark zone, the zones examined were the cave entrance (CE) and the semi-dark zone (SD). Photographs were taken at 4,608 by 3,456 pixel resolution with a digital camera coupled with two external underwater strobes. Qualitative identification of motile species was performed with visual census, with emphasis on protected and non-indigenous species (NIS).

The percent cover of sessile taxa in the photoquadrats was calculated with PhotoQuad software by overlaying 100 uniformly stratified points (Trygonis & Sini, 2012). An arbitrary value of 0.5% cover was given to those taxa that were present in photoquadrats but did not fall below an assignment point. Multivariate, non-parametric resemblance analysis of the biotic coverage data (transformed under the square root formula) was performed with the software PRIMER-6. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS), one-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) and similarity percentages analysis (SIMPER) were used to investigate benthic assemblage structure and its association with different geomorphological and topographic factors of the studied caves.

#### Results

A total of 81 sessile taxa were identified, classified into Porifera (37), Bryozoa (13), Macroalgae (10), Cnidaria (6), Ascidiacea (6), Brachiopoda (3), Mollusca (3), Foraminifera (1), Polychaeta (1), and Crustacea (1). Both the cave entrance and the semi-dark zone of the studied caves were rich in terms of biodiversity, with 71 and 68 recorded taxa from each zone, respectively. Macroalgae, mostly rhodophytes, dominated in terms of percent cover at the entrance of all caves while sponges dominated at the semi-dark zone (Fig. 1B). The total number of taxa varied among the surveyed caves, from 43 in Alona and Palatia caves to 59 in Troulakas cave.

All studied marine caves and ecological zones within these caves were significantly differentiated. The results of one-way ANOSIM analysis showed that the examined geomorphological and topographic factors (i.e. cave type, entrance depth, entrance area, and entrance orientation) had significant effect on the resemblance patterns of benthic assemblages structure (p-value < 0.01 in all cases). This heterogeneity is particularly evident for photoquadrats from different ecological zones, cave types and entrances with different size and depth, which appear to be grouped in different clusters in the nMDS plots (Fig. 2).



Fig.2. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plots showing the similarities among the analysed photoquadrats from all studied caves. Photoquadrat samples have different shapes and shades for different factors. (A) Ecological zone: cave entrance (CE) or semi-dark zone (SD); (B) Cave type: semi-submerged (1) or submerged (2); (C) Entrance area: 15–40 m<sup>2</sup> (1), 110–230 m<sup>2</sup> (2), or 630 m<sup>2</sup> (3) and (D) Entrance depth (max): 0–10 m (1) and 10–20 m (2).

SIMPER analysis results showed that different taxa had different percent contribution to the average similarity for every studied factor. Nevertheless, the average similarity of equivalent ecological zones from different marine caves was higher (46.0% for the entrance and 37.2% for the semi-dark zone) than the average similarity between the different zones (28.8%).

Regarding motile fauna, 45 taxa classified as Pisces (24), Crustacea (10), Echinodermata (6), Polychaeta (2), Mollusca (2), and Mammalia (1) were recorded, including five protected and 10 non-indigenous species (NIS). In addition, several pressures and threats were recorded in the studied marine caves (Fig. 3). NIS were observed in all caves, varying from one to seven taxa in a single cave. Litter, mainly consisting of plastic waste (e.g. fishing lines) was observed in most of the caves (Fig. 3B).

Partial necrosis and broken fragments of different taxa were also observed in five caves (Fig. 3C), specifically of encrusting rhodophytes, massive sponges (*Agelas oroides*, *Ircinia oros* and *Spirastrella cunctatrix*), scleractinian corals (*Leptopsammia pruvoti*) and erect bryozoans (*Myriapora truncata* and *Reteporella* sp.).



Fig.3. The alien lionfish *Pterois miles* from the semi-dark zone of Oxonisos cave (A), fishing line attached to the walls at the semi-dark zone of Troulakas cave (B) and fragments of scleractinian corals and erect bryozoans (with arrows in C). Photos by T. Dailianis.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

This quantitative and qualitative baseline survey underlines the rich biodiversity of six marine caves belonging to the MPA of Karpathos and Saria Islands in the South-Eastern Aegean Sea. While most of the sessile species identified are commonly found in the interior of marine caves and other marine habitats of the Greek Seas (Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2015), 10 species were recorded for the first time as part of the marine cave fauna of the Aegean Sea (the sponge *Haliclona aquaeductus*, the gastropod *Cerithium scabridum*, the bryozoans *Caberea boryi*, *Reptadeonella violacea* and *Patinella radiata*, the echinoderm *Diadema setosum*, the ascidian *Pycnoclavella nana*, and the fishes *Atherina* sp., *Parupeneus forsskali*, and *Torquigener flavimaculosus*).

Multivariate resemblance analysis showed that the six studied marine caves were significantly differentiated, mainly due to location-specific geomorphological features, resulting in high levels of individuality (Bussotti *et al.*, 2006; Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). In addition, the studied caves presented higher similarity when equivalent ecological zones were compared, mainly due to the dominance of rhodophytes and sponges in the entrance and semi-dark zone, respectively (Gerovasileiou & Voultsiadou, 2012; Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2017).

Marine caves are difficult to assess over extended geographic areas or with remote sensing, requiring dedicated surveys by experienced scientists for their exploration and assessment. As a consequence, they constitute an under-reported habitat type, even within protected areas and despite their ecological importance. The high spatial heterogeneity in the composition of benthic assemblages coupled with the finding of several NIS and other threats in the studied sea caves shows that further monitoring, management and conservation actions are needed for this vulnerable marine habitat in the Eastern Mediterranean Sea.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the projects: (a) "Centre for the study and sustainable exploitation of Marine Biological Resources (CMBR)" (MIS 5002670), which was implemented under the Action "Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure," funded by the Operational Programme "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship, and Innovation" (NSRF 2014-2020) and co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Regional Development Fund) and (b) "Management interventions to N. Karpathos and Saria Protected Area", included in the "South Aegean Operational Programme 2014–2020" and co-financed by EU and national resources. We would like to thank Giorgos Chatzigeorgiou, Ioulios Glampedakis, and Emmanouela Vernadou for their valuable help during fieldwork and Michail Ragkousis for the creation of QGIS maps. Special thanks are due to the personnel of the Management Agency of the Dodecanese Protected Areas for their valuable operational support.

#### Bibliography

- BUSSOTTI S., TERLIZZI A., FRASCHETTI S., BELMONTE G., BOERO, F. (2006) Spatial and temporal variability of sessile benthos in shallow Mediterranean marine caves. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 325: 109-119.
- GEROVASILEIOU V.; BIANCHI C. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev., 59: 1-88.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., CHINTIROGLOU C., VAFIDIS D., KOUTSOUBAS D., SINI M., DAILIANIS T., ISSARIS Y., AKRITOPOULOU E., DIMARCHOPOULOU D., VOULTSIADOU E. (2015) Census of biodiversity in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 16: 245-265.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., DIMITRIADIS C., ARVANITIDIS C., VOULTSIADOU E. (2017) -Taxonomic and functional surrogates of sessile benthic diversity in Mediterranean marine caves. *PLoS ONE*, 12: e0183707.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., VOULTSIADOU E. (2012) Marine Caves of the Mediterranean Sea: A Sponge Biodiversity Reservoir within a Biodiversity Hotspot. *PLoS ONE*, 7: e39873.
- GIAKOUMI S., SINI M., GEROVASILEIOU V., MAZOR T., BEHER J., POSSINGHAM H.P., ABDULLA A., ÇINAR M.E., DENDRINOS P., GUCU A.C., KARAMANLIDIS A.A., RODIC P., PANAYOTIDIS P., TASKIN E., JAKLIN A., VOULTSIADOU E., WEBSTER C., ZENETOS A., KATSANEVAKIS S. (2013) - Ecoregion-based conservation planning in the Mediterranean: Dealing with large-scale heterogeneity. *PLoS ONE*, 8: e76449.
- HARMELIN J.G., VACELET J., VASSEUR P. (1985) Les grottes sous-marines obscures: Un milieu extrême et un remarquable biotope refuge. *Téthys*, 11: 214-229.
- SINI M., KATSANEVAKIS S., KOUKOUROUVLI N., GEROVASILEIOU V., DAILIANIS T., BUHL-MORTENSEN L., DAMALAS D., DENDRINOS P., DIMAS X., FRANTZIS A., GERAKARIS V., GIAKOUMI S., GONZALEZ-MIRELIS G., HASIOTIS T., ISSARIS Y., KAVADAS S.G., KOUTSOGIANNOPOULOS D.D., KOUTSOUBAS D., MANOUTSOGLOU E., MARKANTONATOU V., MAZARIS A.D., POURSANIDIS D., PAPATHEODOROU G., SALOMIDI M., TOPOUZELIS K., TRYGONIS V., VASSILOPOULOU V., ZOTOU M. (2017) -Assembling ecological pieces to reconstruct the conservation puzzle of the Aegean Sea. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 4: 347.
- TRYGONIS V., SINI M. (2012) photoQuad: A dedicated seabed image processing software, and a comparative error analysis of four photoquadrat methods. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.*, 424-425: 99-108.
- RIEDL R. (1966) Biologie der Meereshöhlen. Paul Parey, Hamburg: 636 pp.
- UNEP-MAP-RAC/SPA (2015) Action plan for the conservation of habitats and species associated with seamounts, underwater caves and canyons, aphotic hard beds and chemo-synthetic phenomena in the Mediterranean Sea. Dark Habitats Action Plan. RAC/SPA, Tunis: 17 pp.

#### Francesco ENRICHETTI, BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., TOMA M., CANESE S., CAU C., GIUSTI M., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M.

Università di Genova, Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita, Corso Europa 26, 16132, Italy Email: francesco.enrichetti@edu.unige.it

## SUBSTRATE-RELATED FACIES OF DENDROPHYLLIA CORNIGERA (LAMARCK, 1816)

#### Abstract

Dendrophyllia cornigera (Lamarck, 1816) is a bright yellow scleractinian considered a typical hard bottom species from the NE Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea. Some evidence suggests that this coral displays wide adaptability to environmental constraints, including the ability to create aggregations on soft bottoms.

To fully investigate D. cornigera ecological requirements, we present a comprehensive revision of the available literature on its distribution and ecology, including new ROV records along the Italian coast. Results indicate that this species can create three main facies, characterized by a specific combination of substrate type, inclination, and depth: (1) scattered living colonies on a wide array of hard bottoms, presenting a wide geographical and bathymetrical distribution; (2) dense aggregations occurring on sub-horizontal soft bottoms, reported only from mesophotic depths in two sites; (3) Dendrophyllia thanatocoenoses resulting widespread on upper bathyal rocks and soft bottoms. Dead branches are often intermixed with scattered living polyps and can form extended frameworks, enhancing seafloor complexity. Differences in colony size and associated fauna composition have been detected among the three facies.

This study highlights the wide adaptability of D. cornigera in terms of environmental settings, changing the traditional view of its substrate preference and providing valuable insights for the implementation of international deep-sea habitat classification schemes.

Key-words: Dendrophylliidae, Mediterranean Sea, mesophotic, thanatocoenoses, upper bathyal

#### Introduction

Coral forests are considered key habitats in mesophotic and deep-sea environments, providing shelter and food for a rich associated fauna and playing a fundamental role in marine ecological processes (Rossi *et al.*, 2017). The conservation of these habitats is of primary interest, but their geographical distribution and the ecological requirements of the structuring species have been only partially addressed. The yellow coral *Dendrophyllia cornigera* (Lamarck, 1816), for example, presents a NE Atlantic and Mediterranean distribution (Gori *et al.*, 2014; Castellan *et al.*, 2019), and it is considered a typical hard bottom habitat-forming species (Pérès and Picard, 1964; Zibrowius, 1980; Chimienti *et al.*, 2019). Several studies suggest that it displays wide adaptability to environmental features, including depth, temperature, and turbidity (Roberts *et al.*, 2006; Naumann *et al.*, 2013; Castellan *et al.*, 2019; Reynaud *et al.*, 2021). In addition, *D. cornigera* has been reported also on soft bottoms, indicating that its broad adaptability can be extended to its substrate preferences (Bo *et al.*, 2014; Michez *et al.*, 2014; Enrichetti *et al.*, 2019).

Aiming to better understand *D. cornigera* occurrence and ecological requirements, we present a comprehensive revision of the available information on its distribution and

ecology, with a specific focus on the different biocoenoses it participates in and the substrate type on which they develop.

#### Materials and methods

To investigate *D. cornigera* ecological requirements throughout its whole distribution range, a large dataset was created including information from i) an extensive bibliographic research and ii) 645 sites explored from 40 to 1800 m by means of ROV (Remotely Operated Vehicles) along the Italian coast.

Bibliographic material and ROV footages were analyzed searching for information regarding *D. cornigera* spatial and bathymetrical distribution, substrate type, inclination, and the biocoenosis of which is part. In addition, the ROV video was analyzed to obtain data about the structure of the populations of *D. cornigera* recorded in different situations.

#### Results

The final dataset accounted for 383 *D. cornigera* records, spanning from the Celtic Sea to Senegal and from the Azores Islands to the Aegean Sea. 83% of the records come from hard substrates, including outcropping and sub-outcropping rocks, coralligenous rocks, and dead *Lophelia/Madrepora* frameworks. Records on soft bottoms result common (17%) both in the NE Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea (Fig. 1). Sloping substrates, with inclinations ranging between 20° and 70°, are the most common (55%), followed by horizontal (37%) and vertical substrates (8%).

Three main *Dendrophyllia* facies have been identified, each one characterized by a specific combination of substrate, inclination, and depth (Fig. 2).

Living colonies on hard bottoms (Fig. 2a) present a wide geographical and bathymetrical distribution (30-1200 m) and are a component of different biocoenoses. Density generally ranges from 0.6 to 2 colonies m<sup>-2</sup>, and average size results in  $9.2 \pm 0.2$  (SE) cm. Within these biocoenoses, *D. cornigera* is generally associated with sponges (e.g., *Pachastrella monilifera*), gorgonians (e.g., *Eunicella cavolini*), or black corals (e.g., *Antipathella subpinnata*).

Dense aggregations on sub-horizontal soft bottoms (Fig. 2b) have been reported only from mesophotic depths (90-140 m) in two sites of the Ligurian and Ionian seas, where density generally ranges from 11 to 36 colonies m<sup>-2</sup>. Colonies' size is slightly reduced ( $8.3 \pm 0.2$  cm). Typically-associated fauna includes cerianthids, the sabellid *Myxicola* sp., and holothurians.

*Dendrophyllia cornigera* thanatocoenoses (Fig. 2c) result quite widespread on upper bathyal (140-800 m) rocks and soft bottoms. Dead branches are often intermixed with scattered living polyps and can form extended frameworks, greatly enhancing seafloor complexity. Associated fauna includes several bathyal sponges (e.g., *Hamacantha (Vomerula) falcula*), small gorgonians (e.g., *Bebryce mollis*), and brachiopods (*Megerlia truncata*).



Fig. 1. Dendrophyllia cornigera geographical distribution according to the substrate type



Fig.2. Images of the three main biocoenoses created by *D. cornigera*: (a) scattered isolated colonies on hardgrounds (SW Sardinia), (b) dense meadow on soft bottom (Ligurian Sea), and (c) extended thanatocoenosis on upper bathyal soft bottoms (NW Sicily).

#### Discussion

*Dendrophyllia cornigera* presents wider adaptability if compared to other cold-water corals, especially regarding its broad bathymetrical distribution, and thermal and turbidity tolerance (Roberts *et al.*, 2006; Naumann *et al.*, 2013; Gori *et al.*, 2014; Castellan *et al.*, 2019; Reynaud *et al.*, 2021). The present study further enlarges the combination of environmental constraints suitable for this species, including substrate inclination (from horizontal to vertical) and substrate type (including hard and soft bottoms).

The majority of the records were reported from hardgrounds, according to the common view of *D. cornigera* as a typical hard bottom species (e.g., Chimienti *et al.*, 2019). Indeed, this species is included in various categories of the updated Barcelona Convention (BC) classification of marine benthic habitat types for the Mediterranean Sea (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2021), where it participates in different biocoenoses, including those

dominated by sponges, gorgonians, black corals, and deep-sea scleractinians (Bo *et al.*, 2012; Castellan *et al.*, 2019; Chimienti *et al.*, 2019; Enrichetti *et al.*, 2019).

The formation of soft bottom facies is probably linked to the ability of *D. cornigera* larvae to settle on small pebbles or shell fragments. Interestingly, the congeneric species *Dendrophyllia ramea* (Linnaeus, 1758) is also known for creating aggregations on soft bottoms (Orejas *et al.*, 2019), indicating that the affinity for this substrate could be widespread within the genus. The wide occurrence of *D. cornigera* on soft bottoms, with at least two high-density populations, supports the existence of a proper *Dendrophyllia* facies developing on this substrate, despite no specific category is available yet in the BC classification system (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2021). However, this classification presents a proper category for soft bottom *Dendrophyllia cornigera* thanatocoenoses, as a result of their wide occurrence in the offshore circalittoral and upper bathyal of the NE Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea.

#### Bibliography

- BO M., BERTOLINO M., BAVESTRELLO G., CANESE S., GIUSTI M., ANGIOLILLO M., PANSINI M., TAVIANI M. (2012) Role of deep sponge grounds in the Mediterranean Sea: a case study in southern Italy. *Hydrobiologia*, 687(1): 163-177.
- BO M., BAVA S., CANESE S., ANGIOLILLO M., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BAVESTRELLO G. (2014) - Fishing impact on deep Mediterranean rocky habitats as revealed by ROV investigation. *Biological Conservation*, 171: 167-176.
- CASTELLAN G., ANGELETTI L., TAVIANI M., MONTAGNA P. (2019) The yellow coral Dendrophyllia cornigera in a warming ocean. Frontiers in Marine Science: 6: 1-9.
- CHIMIENTI G., BO M., TAVIANI M., MASTROTOTARO F. (2019) Occurrence and biogeography of Mediterranean cold-water corals. *In:* Orejas C., Jiménez C. (eds) *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World*, vol 9, Springer, Cham: 213-343.
- ENRICHETTI F., DOMINGUEZ-CARRIÓ C., TOMA M., BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., CANESE S., BO M. (2019) - Megabenthic communities of the Ligurian deep continental shelf and shelf break (NW Mediterranean Sea). PloS one, 14(10), e0223949.
- GORI A., REYNAUD S., OREJAS C., GILI J.M., FERRIER-PAGÈS C. (2014) Physiological performance of the cold-water coral *Dendrophyllia cornigera* reveals its preference for temperate environments. *Coral Reefs*, 33: 665–674.
- MICHEZ N., FOURT M., AISH A., BELLAN G., BELLAN-SANTINI D., CHEVALDONNÉ P., FABRI M.-C., GOUJARD A., HARMELIN J.-G., LABRUNE C., PERGENT G., SARTORETTO S., VACELET J., VERLAQUE M. (2014) - Typologie des biocénoses benthiques de Méditerranée Version 2. *Rapport SPN 2014 - 33*, MNHN, Paris, 26 pp.
- MONTEFALCONE M., TUNESI L., OUERGHI A. (2021) A review of the classification systems for marine benthic habitats and the new updated Barcelona Convention classification for the Mediterranean. *Marine Environmental Research*, 169: 105387.
- NAUMANN M.S., OREJAS C., FERRIER-PAGÈS C. (2013) High thermal tolerance of two Mediterranean cold-water coral species maintained in aquaria. *Coral Reefs*, 32(3): 749-754.
- OREJAS C., GORI A., JIMÉNEZ C., RIVERA J., KAMIDIS N., ALHAIJA R.A., IACONO C. L. (2019) -Occurrence and distribution of the coral *Dendrophyllia ramea* in Cyprus insular shelf: Environmental setting and anthropogenic impacts. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies* in Oceanography, 164: 190-205.
- PÉRÈS J.M., PICARD J. (1964) Nouveau manuel de bionomie benthique de la mer Méditerranée. *Recueil des Travaux de la Station Marine d'Endoume*, 31(47): 5-137.
- REYNAUD S., OREJAS C., CAMPAGNO A., ROTTIER C., JIMENEZ C., FERRIER-PAGÈS C. (2021) -Dendrophylliidae cold-water corals in a warm ocean: the effect of exposure duration on their

physiological response. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 193, 104962.

- ROBERTS J.M., WHEELER A.J., FREIWALD A. (2006) Reefs of the deep: the biology and geology of cold-water coral ecosystems. *Science*, 312(5773), 543-547.
- ROSSI S., BRAMANTI L., GORI A., OREJAS C. (eds) (2017) Marine animal forests: the ecology of benthic biodiversity hotspots. Springer, Cham Pub., 1366 pp.
- ZIBROWIUS H. (1980) Les Scléractiniaires de la Méditerranée et de l'Atlantique nord-oriental. *Mémoires de l'Institut océanographique, Monaco.* 11: 284 pp, 117 pls.

Michela GIUSTI, ANGIOLILLO M., BO M., ENRICHETTI F., TOMA M., ROSSI L., RENDE S.F., IZZI A., PAZZINI A., BOSMAN A., TUNESI L. ISPRA, Rome, Italy E-mail: michela.giusti@isprambiente.it

### MONITORING ITALIAN CIRCALITTORAL AND UPPER BATHYAL BIOGENIC REEFS WITHIN THE EUROPEAN MARINE STRATEGY FRAMEWORK DIRECTIVE (MSFD)

#### Abstract

Through the implementation of the European Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), Italy is monitoring coralligenous, off-shore rocky habitats and cold-water corals to evaluate the Good Environmental Status. This, because of the ecological importance and vulnerability of these habitats. The national monitoring is carried out by the national Agencies for the Environmental Protection, between 30m and 100m, and by ISPRA in deeper sites. This study presents the results of the monitoring carried out from 2020 to date for the deeper habitats by ISPRA in five Tyrrhenian and Ionian areas. The overall area covered by multibeam was 74 km<sup>2</sup>. The ROVimaging data analysis allowed to identify more than 100 megabenthic taxa per area. Collected information confirms the importance of monitoring to assess the MSFD measures efficacy and to define new conservation actions.

Key-words: MSFD, CWC, ROV-Imaging, marine litter, Mediterranean Sea

#### Introduction

The Mediterranean deep benthic habitats are increasingly threatened by growing human pressures, such as fishing, pollution, climate change, littering, oil and gas exploration and production, and the construction of marine infrastructure (Fanelli et al., 2021). For these reasons several international and European agreements and Directives provide the basis for the protection of deep-sea ecosystems. In addition, since 2008, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) requires the achievement of the Good Environmental Status (GES) of marine waters throughout Europe. To this end, in 2012, EU Member States completed an initial assessment of their marine waters, based on the available data, and defined targets and indicators for the following monitoring phases; the current one will end in 2026. The GES achievement of marine waters is assessed considering 11 descriptors. Descriptor 1 "Biodiversity" considers, as well as several other components, the environmental status of benthic habitats by combining it with the objectives and criteria of descriptors 6 (D6 - Seafloor integrity) and 10 (D10 - Marine litter). In this framework, Italy has identified coralligenous habitats, off-shore rocky habitats and Cold-Water Corals (CWCs) as important habitats to monitor due to their ecological importance and vulnerability to anthropogenic impacts. The national monitoring is carried out by the national Agencies for the Environmental Protection (ARPAs), in the 30-100 m depth range, and by ISPRA in deeper sites. The MSFD envisages an assessment approach per individual European sea, which in turn is subdivided into sub-regions. Specifically, Italian marine waters belong to three different subregions: the Western Mediterranean (MWE), the Adriatic Sea (MAD), the Ionian and the Central Mediterranean Sea (MIC). This paper presents the results of the monitoring of deep habitats in the range between 100 m and 500 m, applying a methodology fully in line with the Ecosystem Approach Process

(EcAp) of the UNEP/ MAP Barcelona Convention, by which the Contracting Parties committed to achieve the GES of the Mediterranean Sea.

The monitoring activities were carried out on assemblages characterized by habitatforming species of ecological importance, living in conditions of low or no light and stable low temperatures (Chimienti et al., 2018). These are mainly composed by anthozoan structuring species living both on coarse and hard bottoms, often inside canyon systems or in areas of high hydrodynamism. These species are one of the main components of Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs), which are considered hotspots of biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in the deep sea (FAO, 2009). VMEs are also characterized by high vulnerability to mechanical disturbance and low recovery ability due to the fragility, uniqueness, structural complexity, and life history of their component species. Because of this, Italy defined a specific monitoring program of these habitats within the MSFD framework. VMEs, because of their limited accessibility, have long been poorly studied. Currently, the availability of innovative techniques that include the use of Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs), has enabled a significant increase in their knowledge, allowing accurate and quantitative descriptions of community composition and associated fauna with a non-invasive approach. Nowadays, data collection through ROVs is also complemented by other monitoring methodologies such as bycatch study of fisheries, photogrammetry technologies and habitat prediction. The use of ROVs was applied to monitoring activities of circalittoral and bathyal environments in areas known for the presence of animal forests and CWCs during the first Italian MSFD cycle. This paper describes the preliminary results of deep habitat monitoring activities from 2020 to present, with the aim of establishing a baseline assessment of the ecological status of the circalittoral animal forests and scleractinian CWCs for future MSFD monitoring activities.

#### Materials and methods

During the summer-autumn 2020 and 2021, five research campaigns were conducted on board the ISPRA research vessel *Astrea*. The study areas were selected because they were known to harbor important circalittoral animal forests and upper bathyal areas dominated by scleractinian CWCs (e.g., Taviani *et al.*, 2019; Angeletti *et al.*, 2020; Romagnoli *et al.*, 2021; EU-ENPI Project). In particular, the monitoring activities were carried out considering three main different typologies of assemblages characterized by habitat-forming species: CWCs scleractinian reefs, black corals forests, and areas characterized by soft bottom with scattered rocky boulders. In August and September 2020, an offshore area located in the Corsica Channel (CC) and the Dohrn Canyon (DC) were studied for the presence of CWCs, while, in August-September 2021, the waters around the islands of Ponza (PO) and Linosa (LI) were studied focusing on black corals, and an area off Syracuse (SI) was explored to monitor the third habitat type. All areas belong to the MWE subregion, except LI and SI, which are part of the MIC subregion (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Localization of the five investigated areas belonging to the two MSFD MWE and MIC subregions.

The offshore area CC is a narrow (10-35 km wide) and shallow (maximum depth of about 900 m) channel between Corsica Island and the Tuscan Archipelago (Angeletti et al., 2020). The PO study area is in the Pontine Archipelago and encompasses the waters around Ponza and Ventotene islands. This Archipelago comprises two groups of volcanic islands: Ventotene and Santo Stefano to the southeast and the three islands: Ponza, Palmarola and Zannone to the northwest (Barberi et al., 1967). The DC is located in the Gulf of Naples and, with its forked structure, extends perpendicularly to the coastline from a depth of about 250 m to a depth of about 1300 m, about 12 NM from the near shore (Taviani et al., 2019). The SI study area, situated at about 1.5 NM offshore the nearest coast, is in the southeastern part of the Sicilian continental margin and includes the so-called Apollo-bank, recently described by Angiolillo et al. (2022). The LI study area is located south of Sicily, between Malta and Tunisia; it belongs to the Pelagie Archipelago and encompasses the waters around the island. All the areas were investigated with a ROV (Perseo, L3 Calzoni) equipped with a Kongsberg high-definition video-camera, two laser beams 16 cm apart used as a metric scale, a robotic arm to take species samples and an ultrashort baseline (USBL) to acquire the ROV position every 2 seconds. The ROV was moving at a speed of c.a. 0.5 knots keeping a fixed distance from the seabed of c.a. 1.5 meters. When these requirements were not met such as, for example, during the ascent and descent phases of the ROV, when there was poor visibility, or when the ROV was stationary for sample collection or close-up video recording, the corresponding video frames were not considered in the analyses. When possible, highresolution bathymetric data were collected using a hull-mounted Kongsberg EM2040 multibeam echo-sounder, to reconstruct very high-resolution digital elevation models

(DEMs) and backscatter maps of the seafloor, useful for identifying the potential presence of hard bottom to investigate with ROV. The data collected were analyzed to classify, to the lowest possible taxonomic level, all megafaunal taxa visible along each video transect using the free internet software VLC. Particular attention was paid in the identification of the structuring anthozoan species to determine coral abundance, size structure and condition. In addition, the marine litter observed was classified according to the MSFD Joint List (Fleet *et al.*, 2021), giving an estimation of the impact caused to erect species (entanglement).

#### Results

A total of 46 dives were performed with ROV during the monitoring activities: 4 in CC, 11 in DC, 23 in PO, 6 in LI and 13 in SI. Overall, the activities conducted resulted in 85 hours of ROV surveys on the seafloor, covering a linear distance of 33 km, allowing to identify more than 100 megabenthic and demersal species.

Monitoring activities have confirmed the presence, in the bathyal areas of CC and DC, of significant assemblages of CWCs and associated species. In both areas, cnidarians were the most important contributor to the overall diversity (around 30%). In DC area, the two CWC scleractinian species, Desmophyllum pertusum and Madrepora oculata, were present throughout the bathymetric range explored (322-452 m) with average densities of 0.87-2.01 col. m<sup>-2</sup> and 2.46-4.30 col. m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively. There are numerous charismatic species associated with the CWC scleractinian facies, such as D. dianthus, which forms dense aggregations (up to 33 individuals m<sup>-2</sup>) and Javania cailleti with 243 individuals m<sup>-2</sup> along the NW wall of the canyon. Here, are also found the largest populations of Neopycnodonte zibrowii and Acesta excavata (up to 25 and 22 individuals m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively). The only conspicuous and structuring species that is well distributed in DC is the black coral Parantipathes larix. In CC, CWC scleractinians formed mounds at 341-457 m with average densities of 0.44-2.16 colonies m<sup>-2</sup> of D. pertusum and 1.18-4.78 colonies  $m^{-2}$  of *M. oculata*. Moreover, different assemblages of gorgonian species were observed: on the flank of the mounds mixed forests of Viminella flagellum, distributed in dense patches with up to 21 colonies m<sup>-2</sup>, and Callogorgia verticillata were dominant, while on the top of the mounds, smaller colonies of Paramuricea hirsuta, Villogorgia bebrycoides, Muriceides lepida, and Swiftia dubia settled on the scleractinian coral bioconstruction. Noteworthy is the presence of colonies of Isidella elongata in the muddy areas around the mounds. Marine litter accounted for 138 items in the two study areas, mainly made of lost fishing gear. This caused entanglement events (32-68%) mainly on M. oculata, D. pertusum, M. lepida and P. larix. In the PO area, ROV observations were mainly conducted on rocky outcrops along the continental slope. The biological cover of the seabed was predominantly dominated by sponges in moderately sedimentary conditions and only partially by coralline algae. In almost all ROV dives, the black coral P. larix formed notably large forests. In this area, stretches of seabed characterized by Dendrophyllia cornigera and walls with Corallium rubrum were found. Also, of great interest were the lithistid sponges still poorly known in the Mediterranean Sea. Data collected in the LI area confirmed the presence of a rich benthic community dominated by black corals and small gorgonians (Bebryce mollis and V. bebrycoides), found between 115 m and 345 meters depth. Moreover, rich low-circalittoral coralligenous communities made of lush colonies of Eunicella cavolini, Paramuricea *clavata* and *Antipathella subpinnata* were observed. The SI area was characterized by the occurrence of vulnerable species typical of soft bottoms such as Funiculina

*quadrangularis* and *Virgularia mirabilis*. In the area several trawl marks were observed. In the shallower and coastal site, known as "Apollo bank", ROV dives, carried out between 70 and 80 meter depth on a soft bottom with scattered boulders, revealed a lush population of *Dendrophyllia ramea* and the presence of several colonies of *C. rubrum*. A total of 171 colonies of *D. ramea* were counted over an area of approximately 350 m<sup>2</sup>, with a mean density of 0.17-0.88 col. m<sup>-2</sup> (up to 8 col. m<sup>-2</sup>). 97% of the observed colonies were under 40 cm in size and about 50% of the overall colonies showed single corallites. Moreover, a total of 30 litter items were counted highlighting that the dominant litter types (96.6%) were related to fishing activities, 26.6% of which was observed to entangle sessile invertebrates. Entanglement affected 44% of the largest colonies of *D. ramea* that, occasionally, presented epibiosis (Angiolillo *et al.* 2022).

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

High-resolution image data collected provide a preliminary assessment of the ecological status of circalittoral animal forests and scleractinian CWCs, showing the different effects of anthropogenic impact on the considered vulnerable habitats. The main pressure is marine litter (mainly lost fishing gear) and consequent entanglement of structuring species. Data collected confirmed the importance of CC and DC areas for the presence of scleractinian CWCs and allowed the collection of important data on these communities, discovering some new sites in very good health status. The considered target scleractinian CWC species are classified as endangered by the IUCN Red List and listed in Annex II of the SPA/BD Protocol (Barcelona Convention). Black corals (EN, NT, Annex II) and some habitat-forming gorgonians (CR, DD, Annex II), important components of these assemblages, confirming that the investigated areas fully meet the criteria to be classified as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs) (Morato et al., 2018). Moreover, both areas, host benthic species known to reach more than 500 years of age, such as N. zibrowii, L. glaberrima and I. elongata (Bo et al., 2015; Montero-Serra et al., 2018); in addition, the DC area is characterized by the presence of a biocenosis, unique to the Mediterranean, dominated by bivalves (Taviani et al., 2019). In all areas there is a high predisposition of the dominant species to create a three-dimensional habitat complex, both as a carbonate bioconstruction and as an animal forest. In addition to this, a high density of large habitatformers was recorded in CC, probably due to the specific hydrodynamics of the area. Data collected in PO and LI areas confirmed the presence of benthic assemblages dominated by structuring species of great ecological value, harboring the typical antipatharians species of Mediterranean mesophotic zone. The extensive forests of the black coral P. larix in the PO area are confirmed (ENPI-EU, 2014; Ingrassia et al., 2016). Regarding the SI area, the presence of a large population of D. ramea is worthy of attention also because of the peculiarity of the co-presence of this species with C. rubrum. The activities conducted at the five areas made it possible to confirm the presence of habitats of special conservation interest and to increase the information available on their distribution, composition and vulnerability to certain human activities (i.e., marine litter and fishing activities). The information gathered makes it clear how important it is to urgently implement measures to protect deep-sea habitats through the creation of marine protected areas, starting with the CBD's requirement to protect 30% of the seas by 2030, and the European Biodiversity Strategy 2030, which calls for 10% of waters to be under strict protection by that date.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the crew of ISPRA's ship R/V *Astrea* for their professional cooperation and helpfulness during the field campaigns.

#### Bibliography

- ANGIOLILLO M., GIUSTI M., ROSSI L., TUNESI L. (2022) A Dendrophyllia ramea Population in the Ionian Sea (Central Mediterranean Sea) Threatened by Anthropogenic Impacts. Front. Mar. Sci.
- ANGELETTI L., CASTELLAN G., MONTAGNA P., REMIA A., TAVIANI M. (2020) The "Corsica Channel Cold-Water Coral Province" (Mediterranean Sea). *Front. Mar. Sci*, 7, 661.
- BARBERI F., BORSI S., FERRARA G., INNOCENTI F. (1967) Contributo alla conoscenza vulcanologica e magmatologica delle isole dell'Arcipelago Pontino. *Mem. Soc. Geol. It.*, 6. 581-606.
- BO M., BAVESTRELLO G., ANGIOLILLO M., CALCAGNILE L., CANESE S., CANNAS R., CAU A., D'ELIA M., D'ORIANO F.,FOLLESA M.C., QUARTA, G., CAU A. (2015) -Persistence of pristine deep-sea coral gardens in the Mediterranean Sea (SW Sardinia). *PLoS* One, 10(3), e0119393.
- CHIMIENTI G., BO M., MASTROTOTARO, F. (2018) Know the distribution to assess the changes: Mediterranean cold-water coral bioconstructions. *Rend. Lincei Sci. Fis. Nat.*, 29(3), 583-588.
- FAO (2009) Report of the technical consultation on international guidelines for the management of deep-sea fisheries in the high seas, Rome. 4–8 February and 25–29 August 2008. *Food Agric. Organ. U.N. Fish. Aquac. Rep.* 881:86.
- FANELLI E., BIANCHELLI S., FOGLINI F., CANALS M., CASTELLAN G., GÜELL-BUJONS Q., GALIL B., GOREN M., EVANS J., FABRI M.C., VAZ S., CIUFFARDI T., SCHEMBRI P.J., ANGELETTI L., TAVIANI M., DANOVARO, R. (2021) - Identifying priorities for the protection of deep Mediterranean Sea ecosystems through an integrated approach. *Front. Mar. Sci*, 884.
- FLEET D., VLACHOGIANNI T., HANKE G., MSFD Technical Group on Marine Litter. (2021) - A Joint List of Litter Categories for Marine Macrolitter Monitoring. EUR, 30348, 52.
- INGRASSIA M., MACELLONI L., BOSMAN A., CHIOCCI F. L., CERRANO C., MARTORELLI E. (2016) - Black coral (Anthozoa, Antipatharia) forest near the western Pontine Islands (Tyrrhenian Sea). Marine Biodiversity, 46(1), 285-290.
- MONTERO-SERRA I., LINARES C., DOAK D. F., LEDOUX J. B., GARRABOU J. (2018) -Strong linkages between depth, longevity, and demographic stability across marine sessile species. *Proc. R. Soc. B: Biol. Sci.*, 285(1873), 20172688.
- MORATO T., PHAM C. K., PINTO C., GOLDING N., ARDRON J. A., DURAN MUNOZ P., NEAT F. (2018) A multi criteria assessment method for identifying Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems in the North-East Atlantic. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 460.
- ROMAGNOLI, B., GRASSELLI, F., COSTANTINI, F., ABBIATI, M., ROMAGNOLI, C., INNANGI S., DI MARTINO G., TONIELLI, R. (2021) - Evaluating the distribution of priority benthic habitats through a remotely operated vehicle to support conservation measures off Linosa Island (Sicily Channel, Mediterranean Sea). Aquat. Conserv.: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst., 31(7), 1686-1699.
- TAVIANI M., ANGELETTI L., CARDONE F., MONTAGNA P., DANOVARO R. (2019) A unique and threatened deep water coral-bivalve biotope new to the Mediterranean Sea offshore the Naples megalopolis. *Sci. Rep.*, 9(1), 1-12.

Jordi GRINYÓ, CHEVALDONNÉ P., THOMAS SCHOHN T., LE BRIS N. Sorbonne University UMR8222 LECOB / Department of Ocean System Sciences, NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research and Utrecht University <u>E-mail: jordi.grinyo@nioz.nl</u>

# BATHYAL MEGABENTHIC DIVERISTY ON THE AJACCIO AND VALINCO SUBMARINE CANYONS (WEST CORSICAN MARGIN)

#### Abstract

Deep-sea environments in the Mediterranean Sea have been widely degraded over the past decades and thus there is an urgent need to implement protection measures. Within European Union's Mediterranean waters vast extensions of the deep-sea ecologically relevant ecosystems have been protected by integrating them to the Natura 2000 network. Inside the French Exclusive Economic Zone, this network is currently expanding to offshore areas, beyond 12 nautical miles. This study is focused on the megabenthic biodiversity on a volcanic promontory on the south flank of the Ajaccio submarine canyon and a wall of the Valinco Canyon (SW Corsica), between 1690 and 2250 m depth. We addressed differences in organism abundance and megabenthic assemblage composition between substrates and characterized lebensspuren and benthic litter in these two sites. By means of a photogrammetric analysis, four megabenthic assemblages segregated by substrate were identified. Hard substrate assemblages were characterized by the presence of sponges, the squat lobster Munida tenuimana, polychaetes and gastropods while soft sediment assemblages were characterized by the elpidiid holothurian Penilpidia ludwigi and an unidentified sabellid Lebensspuren likely derived from the activity of epibenthic, infaunal and bathypelagic organisms. Litter was not abundant at these offshore sites. Litter at the Valinco site, had both a land-based and marine origin while the one at the Ajaccio site had a marine origin. This study provides new understanding on the ecology and diversity of Mediterranean deep-sea environments in the 2000 m bathymetric zone, stressing the persistent knowledge gap surrounding deep-sea escarpments in the basin.

Key-words: deep-sea, megabenthic assemblages, lebensspuren, marine litter, Mediterranean Sea

#### Introduction

The study of megabenthic assemblages in the Mediterranean Sea has been mainly focused on the study of three-dimensionally complex sessile suspension feeder communities (Bo *et al.*, 2014; Mastrototaro *et al.*, 2017; Santín *et al.*, 2018). This research has mostly been developed from the lower circalittoral to the upper bathyal, with few studies venturing into the lower bathyal zone. Most studies conducted in lower bathyal Mediterranean environments were conducted by means of bottom contact gears on soft bottoms (Cartes, 1993; Sardà *et al.*, 2004; Ramírez-Llodra, 2008) These gear's operational limitations on complex hard bottoms has greatly limited knowledge on megabenthic assemblages on lower bathyal canyon walls and seamounts.

Recently, the anthropogenic pressures on deep Mediterranean communities have substantially raised, including bottom trawling, marine pollution and exploration for hydrocarbons. Therefore, there is a pressing need to establishing baselines for future conservation and management plans, which are now lacking. Within EU Mediterranean waters, large areas of the continental shelf and slopes have been protected through their inclusion in the Natura 2000 network (EC 2020/96) and, currently, the Natura 2000

network has expanded to offshore areas (>12 nautical miles). Within the French exclusive economic zone, a new site known as the "Reefs of the Ajaccio Seamount and of the Valinco rocky outcrops" have been included. This site hosts rocky outcrops and coral thanatocoenoses associated to submarine canyons and volcanic promontories. This study's main goals are to assess the bathymetric distribution of megabenthic species, tackle standing stock variability among different substrates, characterize the composition of the megabenthic assemblages, as well as characterize and quantify lebensspuren and benthic litter in the area.

#### **Material and Methods**

This study's main target was the top and side of a volcanic promontory located at 2060 -2250 m depth, 27 miles off Ajaccio. The second target was located on a steep wall of the Valinco canyon, between 1690 - 1990 m depth. Four ROV transects were carried out. Three transects were recorded on the volcanic promontory on the Ajaccio canyon and one single transect was recorded on a vertical wall of the Valinco canyon. The Hybrid Remotely Operated Vehicle (H-ROV) Ariane (Ifremer), specifically designed to perform georeferenced photographic surveys of the seafloor to develop 3D mosaics, was used. A total of 1041 HD (6000 x 4000 pixels) still images were recorded, covering a surface of 7714 m<sup>2</sup>. The Agisoft PhotoScan professional edition (v.1.2.5) software was used to build 3D image reconstructions. The 3D reconstructions were used for fine-scale spatial positioning of all megafaunal species, lebensspuren formations and marine litter items. Megafauna was identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level, yet morphospecies categories were established since most organisms could not be identified to species. Lebensspuren formations were classified based on their potential origin and morphology (Bell et al., 2013). Litter items were classified based on their origin and the material they were made. For each 3D photogrammetric reconstruction, morphospecies abundances were standardized by dividing the abundances registered in a certain substrate patch by its surface resulting in a density value. A non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination (nMDS) was used to identify megabenthic assemblages. Adonis permutation multivariate analysis was used to test for significant differences between assemblages. The indicator value index (IndVal) was used to identify each assemblage representative morphospecies.

#### Results

A total of 4508 organisms were observed on the explored area. Twenty morphospecies were identified in the Ajaccio volcanic promontory. Porifera and Polychaeta were the most diverse and abundant groups, being represented by 4 and 5 morphospecies, which accounted for 89% and 8.9% of all observed organisms, respectively. Eleven morphospecies were identified in the Valinco Canyon wall. Polychaeta was the most diverse group the most abundant (59.3% of all observed morphospecies), followed by Echinodermata (31.6%).

Within the explored bathymetric range, morphospecies densitiesly ranged between 1 and 25 individual m<sup>2</sup>. However, at 2030 to 2070 m depth Porifera disclosed an abrupt increment in abundance reaching values of 174 individuals m<sup>-2</sup>, mainly corresponding to Porifera sp.1 patches. This phylum presented the narrowest bathymetric distribution, occurring between 2000 and 2190 m depth. Conversely, Polychaeta and Echinodermata showed the widest bathymetric distribution.

Overall morphospecies density was variable across the different substrates with average values ranging between  $0.20\pm0.07$  ind. m<sup>-2</sup> (SD) on compacted muds to  $47\pm18$  ind. m<sup>-2</sup> (SD) in serpulid thanatocoenosis.

The nMDS analysis and subsequent permutation multivariate allowed to identify four megabenthic assemblages differentiated by the substrate on which they occurred.

Bare rock assemblage: this assemblage occurred on oxide coated rocky substrates and to a lesser extent compacted mud. Twelve morphospecies formed this assemblage which was characterized by an unidentified Gastropod and an amphinomid Polychaeta.

Coral thanatocoenosis assemblage: this assemblage was composed of 8 morphospecies, six of which were sessile. It was characterized by the squat lobster *Munida tenuimana*.

Serpulid thanatocoenosis assemblage: this assemblage was formed by 5 morphospecies which were characterized by an unidentified incrusting sponge that represented 98% of all observed organisms achieving maximum densities of 180 patches m<sup>-2</sup>.

Soft sediment assemblage: this assemblage was formed by 5 morphospecies. An unidentified sabellid and the holothurian *Penilpidia ludwigi* were the dominant ones, representing 48% and 37% of all observed organisms, respectively.

Five distinct lebensspuren categories were identified: crawl marks, decapod tracks, depressions, mounds, and pocks (small holes). In the Ajaccio promontory 226 lebensspuren formations were observed, pocks and mounds were the most abundant (48% and 23%, respectively). In the Valinco canyon 282 lebensspuren formations were found, mounds and crawl marks were the most abundant formations (67% and 18%, respectively). Lebensspuren densities were significantly higher in the Valinco canyon, except for pocks and decapod tracks.

Twelve litter items, belonging to 5 different categories, were observed on the Ajaccio promontory. Glass bottles, military and textile items were the most abundant categories (25% of all litter items). Six marine litter items, belonging three categories were observed, in the Valinco canyon. Plastic debris was the most abundant category (50% of observed items). Litter densities reached values of 0.001 items m<sup>-2</sup> and 0.006 items m<sup>-2</sup>, in the Ajaccio and Valinco areas respectively.

#### Discussion and conclusions

Our observations are in accordance with previous species richness values from Mediterranean lower bathyal environments (Ramírez-Llodra et al., 2008). Porifera and polychaeta were the most diverse and abundant groups, representing 87.4% and 9.7% of all observed organisms, respectively. This contrasts with earlier observations on Mediterranean megabenthic assemblages bound between 1200 m and 2200 m depth, where these groups are thought to be scarce (Cartes *et al.*, 2009).

Anthozoans were rather scarce, being limited to two species and four observations. This contrasts with Mediterranean bathyal environments above 1500 m depth where anthozoans can account for a considerable proportion of megabenthic assemblages (Bo *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, rare morphospecies ( $\leq$  3 records) significantly contributed to species richness, representing 33.3% and 66.6% of all morphospecies in Ajaccio and Valinco, respectively. This appears to be a shared feature of megabenthic assemblages on bathyal and abyssal environments in which rare taxa can make up for a large proportion of megabenthic assemblages (Durden *et al.*, 2015).

Megabenthic species abundance varied across the explored bathymetric range, experiencing an abrupt increment between 2030 and 2075 m depth where highest densities were registered (180 encrusting sponge patches m<sup>-2</sup>). Although it is entirely due

to the occurrence of the numerous patches of the peculiar Porifera sp.1, this pattern contrasts with the common conception that megabenthic organisms' density decreases with depth (Rex *et al.*, 2006). However, in seamounts and canyons in other areas of the world similar situations have been observed (Santín et al., 2018).

Megabenthic assemblages were separated by substrate type. Three different megabenthic assemblages were found on hard substrates. Bare rock assemblages were found on both Fe-Mn oxide-coated rocks (95.6%) and compacted muds (4.4%).

Bare rock assemblages occurred on Fe-Mn oxide-coated rocks (96%) and compacted muds (4%), contrasting with previous studies on seamounts, which differentiated between assemblages occurring on polymetallic crusts from those occurring on other hard substrates (Schlacher *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, assemblages occurring on polymetallic crusts on Pacific seamounts presented lower densities than those occurring on other adjacent hard substrates (Schlacher *et al.*, 2014). This differs from the present study as overall organism density on Fe-Mn coated rocks and compacted muds did not significantly differ. This assemblage was characterized by the presence of gastropods and polychaetes and several sponge species, but other groups characteristic of shallower Mediterranean Fe-Mn oxide coated environments such as bryozoans and bivalves were completely absent (Toscano & Raspini, 2005).

In the Mediterranean Sea, thanatocoenoses are omnipresent on hard substrate between 200 and 3500 m depth. Depending on the subfossil remains that form thanatocoenosis benthic assemblages may differ in terms of abundance and species composition (Rosso et al., 2010). This was the case of both benthic assemblages occurring on serpulid and coral thanatocoenoses in the study area. On solitary coral thanatocoenosis assemblages presented higher species richness than those occurring on serpulid thanatocoenosis and where characterized by *Munida tenuimana*. This squat lobster is a common inhabitant of bathyal environments where it has been observed to occur on both live and dead coral assemblages (Mastrototaro et al., 2010). Furthermore, it should be mentioned that 85% of organisms were sponges contrasting with previous reports on solitary coral thanatocoenosis where this group was quite scarce (Sartoretto & Zibrowius, 2018). Similarly, on serpulid thanatocoenosis, sponges were the most abundant group. This assemblage was dominated by Porifera sp.1, which represented 98% of all observed organisms forming dense aggregates that reached densities of 180 encrusting sponge patches m<sup>-2</sup> ( $62 \pm 58$ , mean  $\pm$  SD). This may suggest that serpulid thanatocoenosis in deep bathyal environments provide a rather suitable substrate for this particular encrusting sponge.

Assemblages on soft sediments were represented by *Hymenodicus coronata*, *Bathypterois dubius* and *Plesionika acanthonotus*, typical inhabitants of Mediterranean bathyal muds (Cartes *et al.*, 2009). This assemblage was characterized by an unidentified species of sabellid and the elpidiid holothurian *Penilpidia ludwigi*. This unknown sabellid was sparsely distributed, reaching maximum densities of 0.4 ind. m<sup>-2</sup>, resembling previous observations on bathyal sediments in submarine canyons of the Catalan margin (Mamouridis *et al.*, 2011). Lastly, *P. ludwigi* has been recently described to occur across the entire Mediterranean, covering a wide bathymetric range (480 – 4760 m depth) (Chimienti *et al.*, 2019). This species have been described to form dense aggregates reaching densities of 300 ind. m<sup>-2</sup> yet, in the study area it was quite scarce, reaching maximum densities of 2 ind m<sup>-2</sup> (Chimienti *et al.*, 2019).

In both sampling locations lebensspuren presented a similar composition but densities in Valinco were generally higher. Lebensspuren density is considered to result from a

combined effect of both the bioturbation capacity of a benthic community and physical processes that regulate lebensspuren residence time (Bell *et al.*, 2013). Based on organic carbon flux patterns in submarine canyons it is likely that Valinco that covered a shallower bathymetric range is closer to the canyon head, thus receiving higher organic carbon fluxes which promotes lebensspuren formation (Smith *et al.*, 2008). Lebensspuren likely derived from biogenic processes exerted by epibenthic (crawl marks), infaunal (pocks and mounds) and bathypelagic (depressions) organisms.

Marine litter was observed in all dives but in small quantities compared to previous studies in the Mediterranean Sea. Densities values agreed with previous observations on deep bathyal environments in the Mediterranean (Tubau *et al.*, 2015). Litter composition in both sampling stations differed. In Ajaccio glass, textile and military debris were the most abundant components. Conversely, Valinco presented a more homogeneous composition with single use plastic items (plastic bags) and glass bottles (beer bottles) as the most abundant component, being in line with previous observations in Mediterranean bathyal environments (Cau *et al.*, 2019).

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to dedicate this work to the memory of Boris Daniel, friend, colleague, conservationist, who supported Mediterranean deep-sea biology initiatives for many years and who inspired and promoted the collaborative Cylice-Eco project, as chargé de mission of the Mediterranean branch of the French Agency for Biodiversity (AFB). We'd like to thank the crew of the R/V *Europe*, the H-ROV Ariane team (Ifremer) for their support in the preparation and realization of the operations. This work was funded by the Agence Française pour la Biodiversité (Cylice-Eco AFB2018-349).

#### Bibliography

- BELL J.B., JONES D.O.B., ALT C.H.S. (2013) Lebensspuren of the Bathyal Mid-Atlantic Ridge. *Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.*, 98:341–351.
- BO MARZIA, BAVA S., CANESE S., ANGIOLILLO M., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BAVESTRELLO G. (2014) Fishing impact on deep Mediterranean rocky habitats as revealed by ROV investigation. *Biol. Conserv.*, 171:167–176.
- CARTES J.E., SARDA F. (1993) Zonation of deep-sea decapod fauna in the Catalan Sea (Western Mediterranean). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 94:27–34.
- CARTES J.E., MAYNOU F., FANELLI E., ROMANO C., MAMOURIDI, V., PAPIOL V. (2009) -The distribution of megabenthic, invertebrate epifauna in the Balearic Basin (western Mediterranean) between 400 and 2300 m: Environmental gradients influencing assemblages composition and biomass trends. J. Sea Res., 61:244–257.
- CAU A., BELLODI A., MOCCIA D., MULAS A., PORCU C., PUSCEDDU A., FOLLESA M.C. (2019) -Shelf-life and labels: A cheap dating tool for seafloor macro litter? Insights from MEDITS surveys in Sardinian sea. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 141:430–433.
- CHIMIENTI G., AGUILAR R., GEBRUK A.V., MASTROTOTARO F. (2019) Distribution and swimming ability of the deep-sea holothuroid *Penlpidia ludwigi* (Holothuroidea: Elasipodida: Elpidiidae). *Mar. Biodivers.*, 49:2369–2380.
- COMMISSION IMPLEMENTING DECISION (EU) 2020/96 of 28 November 2019 adopting the thirteenth update of the list of sites of Community importance for the Mediterranean biogeographical region (notified under document C(2019) 8583) (OJ L 28 31.01.2020, p. 1-143 ELI: http://data.europa.eu/eli/dec\_impl/2020/96/oj)
- DURDEN J.M., BETT B.J., JONES D.O.B., HUVENNE V.A.I., RUHL H.A. (2015) Abyssal hills hidden source of increased habitat heterogeneity, benthic megafaunal biomass and diversity in the deep sea. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 137:209–218.

- MAMOURIDIS V., CARTES J.E., PARRA S., FANELLI E., SAIZ SALINAS J.I. (2011) A temporal analysis on the dynamics of deep-sea macrofauna: Influence of environmental variability off Catalonia coasts (western Mediterranean). *Deep Sea Res.*, *Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap.*, 58:323–337.
- MASTROTOTARO F., D'ONGHIA G., CORRIERO G., MATARRESE A., MAIORANO P., PANETTA P., GHERARDI M., LONGO C., ROSSO A., SCIUTO F., SANFILIPPO R., GRAVILI C., BOERO F., TAVIANI M., TURSI A. (2010) - Biodiversity of the white coral bank off Cape Santa Maria di Leuca (Mediterranean Sea): An update. Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 57:412–430.
- MASTROTOTARO F., CHIMIENTI G., ACOSTA J., BLANCO J., GARCIA S., RIVERA J. (2017) *Isidella elongata* (Cnidaria : Alcyonacea) facies in the western Mediterranean Sea: visual surveys and descriptions of its ecological role. *Eur. Zool. J.*, 84:209–225.
- SANTÍN A., GRINYÓ J., AMBROSO S., URIZ M.J., GORI A., DOMINGUEZ-CARRIÓ C., GILI J.-M. (2018) - Sponge assemblages on the deep Mediterranean continental shelf and slope (Menorca Channel, Western Mediterranean Sea). *Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap.*, 131:75–86.
- SARDÀ F., CARTES J.E., COMPANY J.B. (1994) Spatio-temporal variations in megabenthos abundance in three different habitats of the Catalan deep-sea (Western Mediterranean). *Mar. Biol.*, 120, 211–219. doi:10.1007/BF00349681
- SARTORETTO S., ZIBROWIUS H. (2018) Note on new records of living Scleractinia and Gorgonaria between 1700 and 2200 m depth in the western Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Biodivers.*, 48, 689–694.
- SCHLACHER T.A., BACO A.R., ROWDEN A.A., O'HARA T.D., CLARK M.R., KELLEY C., DOWER J.F. (2014) - Seamount benthos in a cobalt-rich crust region of the central Pacific: Conservation challenges for future seabed mining. *Divers. Distrib.*, 20:491–502. doi:10.1111/ddi.12142
- SMITH A.K.L., KAUFMANN R.S., BALDWIN R.J. (2008) Coupling of Near-Bottom Pelagic and Benthic Processes at Abyssal Depths in the Eastern North Pacific Ocean. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 39, 1101–1118.
- RAMÍREZ-LLODRA E., BALLESTEROS M., COMPANY J.B., DANTART L., SARDÀ F. (2008) -Spatio-temporal variations of biomass and abundance in bathyal non-crustacean megafauna in the Catalan Sea (North-western Mediterranean). *Mar. Biol.*, 153, 297–309.
- TOSCANO F., RASPINI A. (2005) Epilithozoan fauna associated with ferromanganese crustgrounds on the continental slope segment between Capri and Li Galli Islands (Bay of Salerno, Northern Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). *Facies*, 50:427–441.
- TUBAU X., CANALS M., LASTRAS G., RAYO X., RIVERA J., AMBLAS D. (2015) Marine litter on the floor of deep submarine canyons of the Northwestern Mediterranean Sea: The role of hydrodynamic processes. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 134:379–403.
- REX M.A., ETTER R.J., MORRIS J.S., CROUSE J., MCCLAIN C.R., JOHNSON N.A., STUART C.T., DEMING J.W., THIES R., AVERY R. (2006) Global bathymetric patterns of standing stock and body size in the deep-sea benthos. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 317:1-8.

## Monica MONTEFALCONE, AZZOLA A., CANESSA M., OPRANDI A., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N.

DiSTAV (Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences), University of Genoa, Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genova, Italy E-mail: monica.montefalcone@unige.it

## THE SEA CAVES OF THE MARINE PROTECTED AREA OF PORTOFINO (LIGURIAN SEA): LACK OF KNOWLEDGE AND MANAGEMENT

#### Abstract

Sea caves are priority habitats in need of protection according to the Habitat Directive of the European Union and to the Mediterranean Action Plan of the United Nations Environment Programme, and most Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) include sea caves. The rocky cliffs of the Portofino MPA (Ligurian Sea) host a number of sea caves, which are habitual destinations for recreational scuba divers. This notwithstanding, these caves have never been the subject of dedicated studies, and no specific management plans exist. The aims of this paper are to take stock of present knowledge, to report on the results of expeditious topographic surveys of some cavities, and to provide a first inventory of the most conspicuous species that inhabit them. The sea caves of Portofino MPA are essentially rockfall and/or marine erosion cavities, with few or no speleothems due to the geological nature of the rock (conglomerate). Some of Portofino sea caves reach the surface and include an emerged part; most of them, however, are completely submerged, and open at depths that can be grouped in three levels: 7-10 m, 20-25 m, and 33-38 m. All are rather small, their lengths being mostly comprised between 10 m and 20 m. Among the conspicuous species inhabiting the caves, Corallium rubrum, Homarus gammarus, Palinurus elephas, and Sciaena umbra are of conservation interest. Dearth of knowledge, divers' safety and need of protection for habitats and species combine to claim for developing management plans for the sea caves of Portofino MPA.

**Key-words:** Expeditious survey, *Corallium rubrum*, *Homarus gammarus*, *Palinurus elephas*, *Sciaena umbra* 

#### Introduction

Mediterranean sea caves are ecosystems of great scientific interest (Bianchi *et al.*, 1996) and represent major biodiversity hot spots (Gerovasileiou & Voultsiadou, 2014); yet, they are vulnerable to many anthropogenic threats (Rastorgueff *et al.*, 2015; Montefalcone *et al.*, 2018), and are therefore classified as in need of protection by the Habitat Directive of the European Union and the Mediterranean Action Plan of the United Nations Environment Programme (Giakoumi *et al.*, 2013; Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). Most Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) include sea caves (Abdulla *et al.*, 2008). The rocky cliffs of the Portofino MPA (Ligurian Sea) host a number of sea caves (Bavestrello *et al.*, 2022), which are well known to recreational scuba divers but have never been the subject of topographic surveys and/or detailed biospeleological studies (Canessa *et al.*, 2014). Consequently, no management plan (monitoring, access regulations, etc.) for Portofino sea caves is available.

This paper aims at: i) taking stock of present knowledge on Portofino sea caves; ii) reporting on the results of expeditious topographic surveys of some of the cavities; and

iii) providing a first inventory of the most conspicuous species that inhabit them, with special attention to those of conservation interest according to European Directives and other international agreements (Relini, 1999).

#### Materials and methods

Information on the sea caves of the Portofino MPA has been collated from the literature and direct field observations by scuba diving. Expeditious topographic surveys have been carried out in some of the caves, and schematic plans and sections are provided, in which depths are measured instrumentally (dive computer) while lengths and width have been estimated by eye, fin-strokes and/or arms stretch. The inventory of the most conspicuous species has been undertaken visually.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Some of the sea caves of Portofino reach the surface and include an emerged part; almost all of them are mentioned in the volume of Bixio (1987) and listed, without a cadastral number, in the census of Ferrari (2003). Most of the sea caves of the Promontory, however, are completely submerged or include a major submerged part, and are frequently visited by recreational divers. From west to east, they include (Tab. 1): the Shrimps Cave (Grotta dei Gamberi); the Dragon Tunnel (Tunnel del Dragone); the Tortonese Cave (Grotta Tortonese); the Armatum Cave (Grotta dell'Armato); the Marcante Cave (Grotta Marcante); the Ravioli Rock Caves (Grotte dello Scoglio del Raviolo) I and II; the Halocline Cavern (Caverna dell'Aloclino); the Saint George Church Cave (Grotta della Chiesa di San Giorgio); the Paraggi Castle Cave (Grotta del Castello di Paraggi); and the Paraggi Crib Grotto (Grottina del Presepe di Paraggi). Other smaller cavities, however, are widespread throughout the Promontory.

Name of the cavity	Depth (m)	Length (m)	Width (m)
Shrimps Cave	38-32	15	3
Dragon Tunnel	25-10	15	2
Tortonese Cave	10-0	20	3
Armatum Cave	24-20	10	1
Marcante Cave	36-31	10	5
Ravioli Rock Cave I	28	10	1.5
Ravioli Rock Cave II	35	10	2.5
Halocline Cavern	7-5	4	5
Saint George Church Cave	10	15	5
Paraggi Castle Cave	7-15	24	2
Paraggi Crib Grotto	20	2	2

## Tab. 1: Topographic features of the main submerged cavities of the Portofino Marine Protected Area, listed from west to east. Length and width measurements are approximate.

The Shrimps Cave takes its name from the huge numbers of the unicorn striped shrimp *Plesionika narval* that find shelter in the dark part of this blind-ended cave (Fig. 1). The semi-dark portion of the cave is home to several individuals of the forkbeard *Phycis phycis*. The sponge *Axinella verrucosa* colonizes the rocky portions of the otherwise sandy pavement, while encrusting sponges (*Petrosia ficiformis* and others) and serpulid tubeworms are the main space occupiers of the walls. Schools of the cardinal fish *Apogon* 

*imberbis* occur through the cave. The cave also harbours juveniles of the European lobster *Homarus gammarus* and of the spiny lobster *Palinurus elephas*.

*P. narval* is also found in the two caves of Paraggi, located at the opposite end of the Promontory. The Paraggi Castle Cave is a blind-end cavity (Fig. 1), whose walls are colonized by massive sponges, ascidians and hydrozoans in a first zone after the entrance and then by encrusting sponges, while most of the cave has almost bare walls, with serpulids only. In addition to the shrimp, the motile fauna is represented by the common prawn *Palaemon serratus*, the brown meagre *Sciaena umbra* and the cardinal fish *A. imberbis* (Bianchi & Morri, 1994). Not far from this cavity is the small Paraggi Crib Grotto, with a pavement of fine sediment and the walls covered by massive sponges. The motile fauna includes, besides *P. narval*, the golden coral shrimp *Stenopus spinosus* and the leopard-spotted goby *Thorogobius ephippiatus*. The squid *Loligo vulgaris* visits the grotto, as evidenced by the presence of the typical ootheca hanging from the ceiling (Bianchi & Morri, 1994).



Fig. 1: Location of the main sea caves of the Portofino Promontory, and expeditious survey schemes of some of them (horizontal scale approximate). A) Armatum Cave; C) Paraggi Castle Cave; D) Dragon Tunnel; G) Shrimps Cave; H) Halocline Cavern; M) Marcante Cave; P) Paraggi Crib Grotto; R) Ravioli Rock Caves (I and II); S) Saint George Church Cave; T) Tortonese Cave.

A major system of cavities is represented by the three Dovecot Caves (Grotte delle Colombara), located at different depths on the same rock spur. The shallowest is the Tortonese Cave (Fig. 1), named in honour of Enrico Tortonese (1911-1987), who first cited it in a study on the benthos of the region (Tortonese, 1961). The yellow cluster anemone *Parazoanthus axinellae* and the calcareous sponge *Ascandra contorta* abound

at the entrance, while the ceiling is colonized by the sunset cup coral Leptopsammia *pruvoti*. In the inner part, the rock is almost bare, apart from scattered encrusting sponges. H. gammarus, S. spinosus and A. imberbis are the commonest motile species. The eastern branch of the cave surfaces to an inner 'lake'. The emerged walls of the lake show some modest speleothems due to the percolation of meteoric water and the vault has a window through which the sky and the terrestrial vegetation can be seen. The submerged walls are colonized only by serpulids, while the midlittoral rock of the lake is encrusted by the barnacle Microeuraphia depressa; P. serratus swims in the water. The Armatum Cave occurs deeper: is a tunnel-shaped passage between boulders (Fig. 1). The entrance arch is characterized by the abundance of the hydrozoan Eudendrium armatum, from which the cave takes its name. The moray eel Muraena helena, attended by the cleaner shrimp Lysmata seticaudata, may be encountered. L. pruvoti colonizes the ceiling, while the walls are populated by Agelas oroides, P. ficiformis and other massive or encrusting sponges; a small chamber on the eastern side of the tunnel has bare rock with scattered serpulids. The deep Marcante Cave was first mentioned by Tortonese (1958), which illustrated its location thanks to the indications of the diver Duilio Marcante (1914-1985). It is a wedge-shaped cavity (Fig. 1), which houses a rich population of the red coral Corallium rubrum on the ceiling (Cattaneo-Vietti et al., 1993; Bavestrello et al., 1994), together with L. pruvoti and P. ficiformis; the terminal portion of the cave has almost completely bare rock, with few serpulids.

*C. rubrum* also occurs on the ceiling of the Dragon Tunnel (Fig. 1), which is however mostly characterized by the scleractinians *L. pruvoti*, *Madracis pharensis* and *Polycyathus muellerae*; the sponge *P. ficiformis* is also abundant. *P. phycis* takes refuge inside the tunnel.

The Halocline Cavern is a large and low blind-ended opening in the rocky cliff, which has not been surveyed yet. The biota is poor overall: the pavement is colonized by *Chondrosia reniformis* and *P. ficiformis*, the ceiling by *L. pruvoti*, the walls by *Spirastrella cunctatrix* and *Protula tubularia*. In the terminal part, the percolation of meteoric water through the cracks of the rocky cliff creates a freshwater lens floating on seawater, with a permanent halocline easily perceived by divers.

Neither topographical surveys nor faunal inventories are available for the remaining sea caves of the Portofino MPA.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Combining literature data and field observations, it has been possible to provide preliminary data on eleven main sea caves of the Portofino MPA; information on the biota inhabiting eight of them has been collated, and expeditious topographic surveys have been provided for six of them.

These caves are essentially landslide and/or marine erosion cavities, with rare or absent speleothems due to the geological nature of the rock (puddinga). The major sea caves in Liguria are located in karst areas, and originate from the marine entry into pre-existing terrestrial cavities (Canessa *et al.*, 2014).

Only a few caves reach the surface and include an emerged part; most are completely submerged, and open at depths that can be grouped into three levels: 7-10 m, 20-25 m, and 33-38 m, which may represent the outcomes of sea-level stands during the Holocene transgression.

All are quite small, mostly between 10 m and 20 m in length and only few meters wide. The small size can represent a problem for diving visitors, who may remain entrapped, especially in presence of undertow. There have been cases of rescue intervention (three people in Tortonese Cave), and unfortunately fatalities occurred among recreational divers (four people in Saint George Church Cave).

Among the conspicuous species that inhabit the sea caves of Portofino, the red coral *Corallium rubrum*, the European lobster *Homarus gammarus*, the spiny lobster *Palinurus elephas*, and the brown meagre *Sciaena umbra* are of conservation importance, in accordance with EU directives and international agreements (Relini, 1999; Ouerghi *et al.*, 2019). This short list is surely far from complete.

Dearth of knowledge, divers' safety, and need of protection for habitats and species combine to urge the development of management plans for the sea caves of the Portofino MPA. Diving centres should be provided with maps of the caves and diving guides and instructors should be informed about the vulnerability of the cave habitat and species to visitation by divers.

#### Acknowledgments

Thanks are due to Stefano Zachopoulos, Eleonora Zanon and Elena Castelli (Subtribe, Genoa) for logistic support, and to Giorgio Barsotti, Claudio De Angelis and Giuseppe Galletta (GDA, Genoa) for help during field work.

#### Bibliography

- ABDULLA A., GOMEI M., MAISON E., PIANTE C. (2008) Status of Marine Protected Areas in the Mediterranean Sea. IUCN, Malaga, and WWF, Paris: 152 pp.
- BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., BIANCHI C.N., BO M., CAPPANERA V., CORRADI N., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., RELINI G. (2022) - Il promontorio di Portofino: 150 anni di storia di biologia marina. *Notiz. Soc. It. Biol. Mar.*, 81: 53-114.
- BAVESTRELLO G., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., SENES L. (1994) Micro and macro differences in Mediterranean red coral colonies in and outside a cave. *Boll. Mus. Ist. Biol. Univ. Genova*, 58-59: 117-123.
- BIANCHI C.N., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., CINELLI F., MORRI C., PANSINI M. (1996) Lo studio biologico delle grotte sottomarine: conoscenze attuali e prospettive. *Boll. Mus. Ist. Biol. Univ. Genova*, 60-61: 41-69.
- BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C. (1994) Studio bionomico comparativo di alcune grotte marine sommerse: definizione di una scala di confinamento. *Mem. Ist. It. Speleol.*, ser. II, 6: 107-123.
  BIXIO R. (1987) *Le nostre grotte. Guida speleologica ligure.* Sagep, Genova: 176 pp.
- CANESSA M., MONTEFALCONE M., CÁNOVAS MOLINA A., COPPO S., DIVIACCO G., BAVESTRELLO G., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2014) - Submerged marine caves of Liguria: updating the knowledge. In: Langar H., Bouafif C., Ouerghi A. (eds), Proceedings of the 1st Mediterranean symposium on the conservation of dark habitats, UNEP/MAP–RAC/SPA, Tunis: 27-32.
- CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BAVESTRELLO G., SENES L. (1993) Il popolamento a corallo rosso del Promontorio di Portofino (Mar Ligure). *In:* Cicogna F., Cattaneo-Vietti R. (eds), *Il corallo rosso in Mediterraneo: arte, storia e scienza*, Ministero delle Risorse Agricole Alimentari Forestali, Roma: 109-130.
- FERRARI G. (2003) Censimento. In: Cicogna F., Bianchi C.N., Ferrari G., Forti P. (eds), Grotte marine: cinquant'anni di ricerca in Italia, Ministero dell'Ambiente e della Tutela del Territorio, Roma: 431-448.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: a synthesis of current knowledge. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev.*, 59: 1-88.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., VOULTSIADOU E. (2014) Mediterranean marine caves as biodiversity reservoirs: a preliminary overview. *In:* Langar H., Bouafif C., Ouerghi A. (eds), *Proceedings of the 1st Mediterranean Symposium on the Conservation of Dark Habitats*, UNEP/MAP–RAC/SPA, Tunis: 45-50.

- GIAKOUMI S., SINI M., GEROVASILEIOU V., MAZOR T., BEHER J., POSSINGHAM H.P., ABDULLA A., ÇINAR M.E., DENDRINOS P., GUCU A.C., KARAMANLIDIS A.A., RODIC P., PANAYOTIDIS P., TASKIN E., JAKLIN A., VOULTSIADOU E., WEBSTER C., ZENETOS A., KATSANEVAKIS S. (2013) - Ecoregion-based conservation planning in the Mediterranean: dealing with large-scale heterogeneity. *PLoS ONE*, 8 (10): e76449.
- MONTEFALCONE M., DE FALCO G., NEPOTE E., CANESSA M., BERTOLINO M., BAVESTRELLO G., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2018) - Thirty year ecosystem trajectories in a submerged marine cave under changing pressure regime. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 137: 98-110.
- OUERGHI A., GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2019) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge and the Mediterranean Action Plan for the conservation of "dark habitats". *In*: Öztürk B. (ed), *Marine Caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea: Biodiversity, Threats and Conservation*, Publication no. 53, Turkish Marine Research Foundation (TUDAV), Istanbul, Turkey: 1-13.
- RASTORGUEFF P.A., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BIANCHI C.N., BUSSOTTI S., CHEVALDONNÉ P., GUIDETTI P., HARMELIN J.G., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., PEREZ T., RUITTON S., VACELET J., PERSONNIC S. (2015) - An ecosystem-based approach to evaluate the ecological quality of Mediterranean undersea caves. *Ecol. Indic.*, 54: 137-152.
- RELINI G. (1999) Italy and biodiversity conservation in the Mediterranean Sea. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 6 (1): 151-171.
- TORTONESE E. (1958) Bionomia marina della regione costiera fra Punta della Chiappa e Portofino (Riviera ligure di levante). Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol., 11 (2): 167-210.
- TORTONESE E. (1961) Nuovo contributo alla conoscenza del bentos della scogliera ligure. *Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol.*, 12 (2): 163-183.
# Maria MONTSENY, LINARES C., VILADRICH N., BIEL-CABANELAS M., BAENA P., QUINTANILLA E., AMBROSO S. GRINYÓ J., SANTÍN A., SALAZAR J., GILI J.M., GORI A.

Departament de Biologia evolutiva, Ecologia i Ciències Ambientals, Institut de Recerca de la Biodiversitat (IRBio), Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain <u>E-mail: mariamontseny@gmail.com</u>

# EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT MEASURES TO REDUCE THE BYCATCH OF COLD-WATER GORGONIANS AND SUPPORT SUSTAINABLE ARTISANAL FISHING ON THE MEDITERRANEAN CONTINENTAL SHELF

#### Abstract

Cold-water coral (CWC) gardens, mainly composed of gorgonians, soft corals and black corals, support a highly diversified associated mobile fauna, representing a key benthic habitat on the Mediterranean continental shelf. These communities are vulnerable to bottom-contact fishing gears, including trawling and small-scale fishing. In the frame of a collaboration with local fishers, the present study aims to identify the most effective local management measures to significantly reduce impacts while supporting sustainable fishing activity on the continental shelf of Cap de Creus (North-Western Mediterranean Sea). The number and size of gorgonian colonies accidentally captured by trammel nets were quantified, being most of them large colonies. The mean size of bycatch gorgonians was significantly higher. Thus, bycatch effects could lead to changes in population structure and overall ecosystem functioning. However, most bycatch gorgonians came from specific areas, between a specific bathymetric range and were accidentally fished during long soaking time and with high waves conditions. Consequently, avoiding fishing in a restricted selected area when weather conditions are rough may help to significantly reduce the gorgonian bycatch, promoting the conservation of these CWC gardens.

**Key-words:** Cold-water coral gardens, fishing impact, continental shelf, conservation, artisanal fishing

# Introduction

Fishing activity is a serious and worldwide threat to marine ecosystems and their living resources (Roberts, 2002; Morato *et al.*, 2006), severely affecting continental shelves (50-200 m depth) (Halpern *et al.*, 2008). In those environments, under strong currents and food supply, cold-water coral (CWC) species provide reproductive, nursery and feeding grounds for highly diversified associated fauna (Freiwald & Roberts, 2005; Roberts *et al.*, 2009), several of them of commercial interest (Henry & Roberts, 2007). CWC species, encompassing reef-forming and garden-forming species (ICES & Hall-Spencer, 2007; Roberts *et al.*, 2009), are classified as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VEMs) (FAO, 2009). They are species with long lifespan, slow growth, late sexual maturity, and low recruitment rates (Andrews *et al.*, 2002; Orejas *et al.*, 2011), with low recovery capability. Thus, impacts on theirs populations can have severe consequences, also for all the associated fauna they support (Williams *et al.*, 2010; Huvenne *et al.*, 2016).

Habitat destruction, mortality and removing of non-target species, and changes in ecosystem structure and functioning are ones of the impacts described, mainly cause by bottom trawling (Hiddink *et al.*, 2006; Pusceddu *et al.*, 2014). This is the most destructive fishing gear worldwide, however artisanal fishing also interacts with the benthic ecosystem, with less severe effects but with potential important consequences (Chuenpagdee *et al.*, 2003). Hence, the aim of this study is to assess the impact of artisanal trammel net fishing on CWC gardens located on the continental shelf of Cap de Creus, by analyzing the bycatch of gorgonian colonies, to recommend specific management measures to improve the conservation of CWC gardens and their associated biodiversity.

#### Material and methods

The study area is located on the continental shelf (60–130 m depth) on the north and east of the Cap de Creus peninsula (*North-Western Mediterranean Sea*;  $42^{\circ}$  19' 12" N; 003° – 19' 34" E; Fig. 1). The area is recognized as one of the most productive regions among the Mediterranean Sea (Orejas *et al.*, 2009; Gili *et al.*, 2011). Benthic habitats on the continental shelf are mainly composed by sponges, gorgonians, corals and sea pens, forming CWC gardens (Gili *et al.*, 2011; Dominguez-Carrió, 2018). Due the rich and productive community associated to CWC gardens, the marine area of Cap de Creus has been traditionally exploited by the professional fishing fleet (Gómez *et al.*, 2006; Lloret & Riera, 2008). However, due to their vulnerability and high ecological value, the area is now recognized under two protection figures: the Natural Park of Cap de Creus, and the South-West Gulf of Lions Canyons System Special Area of Conservation (Fig. 1). Trawling fishing is the main fishing activity in the Special Area of Conservation, but it is forbidden inside the Natural Park, where artisanal fishing coexists with other recreational activities as diving and boating. Trammel nets, longlines and gillnets dominate the artisanal fishery in the study area (Purroy *et al.*, 2014).

During all fishing season (from April to August) of 2018 and 2019, the impact of artisanal fishing on gorgonian populations in the study area was evaluated by quantifying bycatch of the gorgonian *Eunicella cavolini* (Koch, 1887) from bottom trammel nets (107 nets in total). For each fishing event, location, depth, net length, height, material, mesh size, soaking time, and target species were recorded.



Fig. 1. Map of the study area showing boundaries of protection areas (UTM31 WSG84)

#### Results

Overall, around 360 *E. cavolini* bycatch colonies, including fragments and entire colonies, were recorded in 107 trammel nets evaluated.

The nets most frequently employed were 200 m long of nylon material and with an inner mesh size of 3-3.5 cm. On average, trammel nets had a soaking time of 48h and the gorgonian bycatch significantly increased when soaking time exceeded three days. Most of *E. cavolini* catches occurred in the north of the Cap de Creus peninsula, specifically from 50 m to 120 m depth, with most catches concentrated at 70–100 m depth, and from June to August.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Gorgonian bycatch in the study area is concentrated in the northeast area of the Cap de Creus peninsula, between 70 and 100 m depth. More specifically, although artisanal fishing effort was primarily concentrated at shallower depth, it is at 90-100 m depth where it had the most impact, since gorgonian bycatch is high despite a much lower fishing effort. This area is highly exposed to wave action and strong currents, and consequently is mainly fished in the last three months of the fishing seasons (June to August) when environmental conditions are good. However, when weather is rough, trammel nets are likely to move on the sea floor, increasing the probability of entanglement with gorgonians (Batista *et al.*, 2009). When trammel nets soaking time are long, gorgonian bycatch increases.

The present study reveals that trammel net fishing in the continental shelf of Cap de Creus affects *E. cavolini* populations, however with significantly less impact to benthic ecosystems than bottom trawling fishing (Pham *et al.*, 2014; Catanese *et al.*, 2018).

Trammel nets primarily caught medium and large colonies. The size structure of bycatch colonies was clearly biased toward larger colonies, confirming that nets remove more easily larger and morphological complex colonies (Pham *et al.*, 2014). By reducing the abundance of large colonies, it could have consequences on ecosystem functioning, limiting the role of coral gardens as a refuge, feeding and breeding area for associated fauna (Enrichetti *et al.*, 2019). It could also have negative consequences on the long-term survival of the population since reproductive success could be compromised (Coma & Lasker, 1997). Most bycatch gorgonians were alive and entire colonies, which evidences that colonies are easily removed by trammel nets without causing *in situ* mechanical damage.

From a management perspective, reduce soaking times, avoid adverse weather conditions, fishing shallower, avoiding critical range depth and specific locations with known high densities of gorgonians would significantly reduce gorgonian bycatch in the area. Results of this study evidences the importance to manage small-scale fisheries efficiently by implementing specific measure for this study area.

#### Acknowledgments

This study is dedicated to the memory of Rafael Diego Llinares Bueno. The authors would like to thank fishers, José Luis García, Moisés Tibau, Salvador Manera, Rafael Ruiz, Manel de la Cova, Joaquim Puigvert, Guillermo Cornejo Josep Paltré, as well as the Parc Natural de Cap de Creus for their collaboration during the bycatch quantification. This work was supported by the Fundación Biodiversidad from the Ministerio para la Transición Ecológica through the Pleamar Program (RESCAP project), co-funded by the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund; M. Montseny was founded by the Ministerio de Educación, Cultura y Deporte, Grant/Award Number: FPU 2014\_06977 (FPU 2014 grant), and A.Gori by the Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad, Grant/Award Number: IJCI-2015-23962 (JdC 2015 grant).

# Bibliography

- ANDREWS A.H., CORDES E.E., MAHONEY M.M., MUNK K., COALE K.H., CAILLIET G.M., HEIFETZ J. (2002) - Age, growth and radiometric age validation of a deep-sea, habitatforming gorgonian (*Primnoa resedaeformis*) from the Gulf of Alaska. *Hydrobiologia* 471:101–110.
- BATISTA M.I., TEIXEIRA C.M., CABRAL H.N. (2009) Catches of target species and bycatches of an artisanal fishery: The case study of a trammel net fishery in the Portuguese coast. *Fish Res.*, 100:167–177.
- CARRERAS M., GORI A., MALLIOS A., PALOMERAS N., LINARES C., RIBAS D., HURTÓS N., MAGÍ L., RIDAO P. (2016) - Seabed monitoring with Girona 500 AUV working as HROV. In: Universidad Politécnica de Cataluña (Ed). Proceedings of the 7th International Workshop on Marine Technology – Martech Workshop 2016, 26-28 October 2016, Barcelona: 65-66.
- CATANESE G., HINZ H., GIL M.D.M., PALMER M., BREEN M., MIRA A., PASTOR E., GRAU A., CAMPOS-CANDELA A., KOLEVA E., GRAU A.M., MORALES-NIN B. (2018) -

Comparing the catch composition, profitability and discard survival from different trammel net designs targeting common spiny lobster (Palinurus elephas) in a Mediterranean fishery. *PeerJ*, 17;6:e4707. doi: 10.7717/peerj.4707. eCollection 2018.

- CHUENPAGDEE R., MORGAN L.E., MAXWELL S.M., NORSE E.A., PAULY D. (2003) -Shifting gears: Assessing collateral impacts of fishing methods in US waters. *Front Ecol Environ*, 1:517–524.
- COMA R., LASKER H.R. (1997) Effects of spatial distribution and reproductive biology on in situ fertilization rates of a broadcast-spawning invertebrate. *Biol Bull*, 193:20–29.
- DOMINGUEZ-CARRIÓ C., GORI A., GILI J.M. (2014) Sistema de cañones submarinos occidentales del Golfo de León. Proyecto LIFE+INDEMARES. 100. Fundación Biodiversidad del Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y Medio Ambiente (Ed). 100 pp.
- ENRICHETTI F., BAVA S., BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., LANTERI L., BO M. (2019) -Artisanal fishing impact on deep coralligenous animal forests: A Mediterranean case study of marine vulnerability. *Ocean Coast. Manag.*, 177:112–126.
- FAO (2009) International guidelines for the management of deep-sea fisheries in the High Seas. FAO, Rome. 73 pp.
- FREIWALD. A, ROBERTS J.M. (2005) Cold-water corals and ecosystems. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg
- GILI J.M., MADURELL T., REQUENA S., OREJAS C., GORI A., PURROY A., DOMÍNGUEZ C., LO IACONO C., ISLA E., LOZOYA J.P., CARBONERAS C., GRINYÓ J. (2011) -Caracterización física y ecologica de l'area marina del Cap de Creus. Informe final área LIFE+ INDEMARES (LIFE07/NAT/E/000732). 272. Instituto de Ciencias del Mar/CSIC, Barcelona. Coordination: Fundación Biodiversidad, Madrid. 272 pp
- GÓMEZ S., LLORET J., DEMESTRE M., RIERA V. (2006) The decline of the artisanal fisheries in Mediterranean coastal areas: The case of cap de creus (Cap de Creus). *Coast Manage.*, 34:217–232. doi: 10.1080/08920750500531389
- HALPERN B.S., WALBRIDGE S., SELKOE K.A., KAPPEL C.V., MICHELI F., D'AGROSA
  C., BRUNO J.F., CASEY K.S., EBERT C., FOX H.E., FUJITA R., HEINEMANN D.,
  LENIHAN H.S., MADIN E.M.P., PERRY M.T., SELIG E.R., SPALDING M., STENECK
  R., WATSON R. (2008) A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. *Science*, 319:948–952. doi: 10.1126/science.1149345
- HENRY L.A., ROBERTS J.M. (2007) Biodiversity and ecological composition of macrobenthos on cold-water coral mounds and adjacent off-mound habitat in the bathyal Porcupine Seabight, NE Atlantic. *Deep. Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap.*, 54:654–672.
- HIDDINK J.G., JENNINGS S., KAISER M.J., QUEIRÓS A.M., DUPLISEA D.E., PIET G.J. (2006) -Cumulative impacts of seabed trawl disturbance on benthic biomass, production, and species richness in different habitats. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 63:721–736.
- HUVENNE V.A.I., BETT B.J., MASSON D.G., LE BAS T.P., WHEELER A.J. (2016) -Effectiveness of a deep-sea cold-water coral Marine Protected Area, following eight years of fisheries closure. *Biol. Conserv.*, 200: 60–69.
- ICES, HALL-SPENCER J. (2007) Report of the working group on deep-water Ecology, 26-28 February 2007.
- LLORET J, RIERA V. (2008) Evolution of a mediterranean coastal zone: human impacts on the marine environment of cape creus. *Environ Manage*, 42: 977–988.

- MORATO T., WATSON R., PITCHER T.J., PAULY D. (2006) Fishing down the deep. *Fish* and Fisheries, 7: 24–34.
- OREJAS C., GORI A., LO IACONO C., PUIG P., GILI J.M., DALE M.R.T. (2009) Cold-water corals in the Cap de Creus canyon, northwestern Mediterranean: spatial distribution, density and anthropogenic impact. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 397: 37-51
- OREJAS C., FERRIER-PAGÈS C., REYNAUD S., GORI A., BERAUD E., TSOUNIS G., ALLEMAND D., GILI J.M. (2011) Long-term growth rates of four Mediterranean cold-water coral species maintained in aquaria. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 429: 57-65.
- PHAM C.K., DIOGO H., MENEZES G., PORTEIRO F., BRAGA-HENRIQUES A., VANDEPERRE F., MORATO T. (2014) Deep-water longline fishing has reduced impact on Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems. *Sci. Rep.*, 4: 1-6.
- PURROY A., REQUENA S., GILI J.M., CANEPA A., SARDÁ R. (2014) Spatial assessment of artisanal fisheries and their potential impact on the seabed: the Cap de Creus regional case study (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). *Sci. Mar.*, 78: 449-459.
- ROBERTS C.M. (2002) Deep impact: The rising toll of fishing in the deep sea. *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 17: 242–245.
- ROBERTS J.M., WHEELER A.J., FREIWALD A., CAIRNS S.D. (2009) Cold-water-corals: The biology and geology of deep-sea coral habitats. Cambridge University Press
- WILLIAMS A., SCHLACHER T.A., ROWDEN A.A., ALTHAUS F., CLARK M.R., BOWDEN D.A., STEWART R., BAX N.J., CONSALVEY M., KLOSER R.J. (2010) Seamount megabenthic assemblages fail to recover from trawling impacts. Mar. Ecol., 31: 183-199.
- PUSCEDDU A., BIANCHELLI S., MARTÍN J., PUIG P., PALANQUES A., MASQUÉ P., DANOVARO R. (2014) - Chronic and intensive bottom trawling impairs deep-sea biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 111: 8861–8866.

# Valeria PALUMMO, MILISENDA G., CANESE S., SALVATI E., PICA D., PASSARELLI A., SPANÒ N., ROMEO T., GRECO S.

Department of Integrative Marine Ecology (EMI), Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn Calabria Marine Center, C.da Torre Spaccata, 87071, Amendolara (CS), Italy / Department of Chemical, Biological, Pharmaceutical and Environmental Sciences, University of Messina, Viale Ferdinando Stagno D'Alcontres 31, 98166, Messina, Italy <u>E-mail: valeria.palummo@szn.it</u>

# EFFECT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AND ANTHROPOGENIC FACTORS ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF COLD WATER CORALS

#### Abstract

Predictive habitat mapping is a useful tool for highlighting species-environment connections and for understanding the spatial distribution and complexity of benthic habitats. Most Cold Water Coral (CWC) species have been designated as threatened by the IUCN, because they are directly impacted by human activities as well as fishery and climate change. The aim of the present research is to obtain habitat suitability map for several CWC species and understand the role of environmental factors on their distribution in the Northern part of Strait of Sicily. Multibeam high-resolution data, oceanographic data and ROV images were collected from August to November 2021. Presence-only data of six CWCs species, ten environmental variables (depth, slope, rugosity, aspect, flowdir, temperature, salinity, current North, current East, chlorophyll-a) and one variable relating to the fishing effort (Automatic Information System – AIS), were used to predict the suitable habitats through the Maximum Entropy modelling (MaxEnt). The predictive habitat of these species will be useful tool for decisionmakers in order to develop all necessary conservation measures for this area.

Key-words: Cold Water Corals, MaxEnt, species distribution modelling, habitat suitability

#### Introduction

Cold Water Corals (CWCs), are cold-affinity azooxanthellate cnidarians and bioengineering species able to form three dimensional structures (Chimienti et al., 2019). These species have a wide bathymetric distribution, generally deeper than 50 m depth, and are able to live both on hard and soft substrata. (Angiolillo et al., 2018; Chimienti et al., 2019). They are also sensitive to environmental modification and anthropogenic pressure (Sundahl et al., 2020). Therefore, CWC communities are categorized as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VEMs). These habitats play a key ecological role for a variety of fish species and are also classified as Essential Fish Habitats (EFHs) (D'Onghia 2019). Understanding the spatial distribution of CWCs ecosystems is the best means of applying the correct management measures. Habitat Suitability Models (HSMs) are statistical models that predict the distribution of generally suitable habitat ranges for species in relation to significant environmental variables and are considered a useful tool for managing marine ecosystems (Anderson et al., 2016). The aim of the present work is to describe the principal environmental and anthropogenic variables that play a role in shaping the distribution of six sensible CWC species belonging to three different orders: Scleractinia (Madrepora oculata, Desmophyllum pertusum and Dendrophyllia cornigera), Antipatharia (Leiopathes glaberrima) and Alcyonacea (Callogorgia verticillata and Isidella elongata).

#### Materials and methods

The study area of 1650 km<sup>2</sup> is located in the Northern part of Strait of Sicily (38°0,587'N; 11°19,329'E), between 130 and 1000 m of depth. During the survey (conducted from August to November 2021), seafloor morphology has been acquired by a Multibeam echosounder Kongsberg EM2040 for shallow water and Kongsberg EM710-MK2 for deeper water. Video survey was carried out using a Tomawok ROV Light Work Class equipped with a high definition (6K camera) and laser beams. A total of 140 transects were carried out for a total of 129,507 km in length. The georeferenced presence data of the six species was derived from video analysis (*M. oculata* n=4342, *D. pertusum* n=582, *D. cornigera* n=192, *L. glaberrima* n=375, *C. verticillata* n=3221, *I. elongata* n=10378). Oceanographic parameters were collected in 97 stations using a Rosette and CTD (Sea Bird Scientific SBE 911 Plus V2). Ten environmental variables subdivided in: morphobathymetrics (depth, slope, roughness, aspect, flowdir), oceanographic (temperature, salinity, current North, current East) and AIS fishing effort (Astra paging Ltd) were considered in the models. Habitat suitability maps for the six species of CWCs were performed using Maximum Entropy modeling (MaxEnt), a modeling approach used to identify probability distribution with the highest level of entropy when only species presence data are provided (Etnoyer et al., 2017). The MaxEnt model was trained using batch files that allowed us to generate multiple models. Model generation has been automated with command-line arguments, avoiding the need to click and repeatedly type the program interface (Philips, 2005). For each species were made four models (with ten replicates each) in which the "Regularization Multiplier" (RM) parameter varied, with values of 1, 1.5, 2 and 2.5, respectively. This is a key parameter because the higher the value, the more widespread and less localized the forecast will be (Philips, 2005), reducing the overfitting of the data (Bargain et al., 2018). Jackknife test was used to highlight the percentage of the contribution of each variable contributed to the final MaxEnt habitat suitability model. The accuracy of prediction of the models was calculated by Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) analysis through comparison of the Area Under the ROC Curves (AUC). The AUC value is related to the reliability of the model with respect to the data. AUC value ranges from 0 to 1: less than 0.5 indicates that the model does not fit the data well, more than 0.7 is considered acceptable and value of 1 indicates an ideal model result (Bargain et al., 2017). The obtained probability maps of CWC distribution have been processed in R software to visualize the probability of presence in the study area.

#### Results

Mean AUC values of MaxEnt model for *I. elongata* and *M. oculata* are 0.744 and 0.879, respectively. For the other species this value is more than 0.90. For all species, slope represents the most important predictive variable that explains coral distribution, which is more than 60% with the exception of *I. elongata*. All the species increase linearly their preference until a slope between 20-30° reaching a plateau. *M. oculata* and *C. verticillata* show an optimum range of slope between 20-50° then their preference decrease (Figure 1). *I. elongata* is the only species with a 60% contribution represented by three different variables: slope (26.1%), chlorophyll-*a* (25.1%) and bathymetry (13.5%) (Figure 1). This species shows high preference of slope from 20°, an optimum bathymetry range between

450 and 700 m depth and highest preference for chlorophyll-*a* around the value of 0.077 mg m<sup>-3</sup>. Habitat suitability maps (Figure 2) for *M. oculata* (South and South-West) and *L. glaberrima* (North, West and South-West) show the presence of small patches in delimitated geographical areas. *D. pertusum*, *D. cornigera*, and *C. verticillata* are more randomly distributed, while *I. elongata* has a suitable habitat extended throughout the study area, with a higher probability in the South-East area.



Fig 1: Individual response curve of the main predictive environmental variables for *Madrepora oculata* (A), *Desmophyllum pertusum* (B), *Dendrophyllia cornigera* (C), *Leiopathes glaberrima* (D), *Callogorgia verticillata* (E) and *Isidella elongata* (F-H).



Fig 2: Habitat suitability map for *Madrepora oculata* (A), *Desmophyllum pertusum* (B), *Dendrophyllia cornigera* (C), *Leiopathes glaberrima* (D), *Callogorgia verticillata* (E) and *Isidella elongata* (F) on the Northern part of the strait of Sicily using MaxEnt model.

#### Discussions

The protection and management of VMEs and VME indicator taxa need detailed spatial data. These data could be difficult to obtain or collect in some challenging and large areas. Therefore, the prediction of their distribution using suitable habitat models is becoming a useful tool for decision makers (Kinlet *et al.*, 2022). Identifying the probable species occurrence over wide areas is fundamental for marine spatial planning. Within this study, habitat-modelling techniques were used to create predictive maps of six CWC species of conservation concern in the study area. The present study had the possibility to use a large observation and detailed bathymetry dataset that is fundamental to produce robust habitat suitability models (AUC > 0.7) and consequently useful predictions of VMEs occurrence (Anderson *et al.*, 2016).

The MaxEnt variable response curves gave us a picture of how the variables influenced the potential suitability of the species reported in the maps. The slope was the variable that most significantly influenced the distribution of all the analyzed species, with a positive linear relationship. This variable provides information about the topography of the bottom,

and increasing slope value is related to an increase in terrain complexity (Bargain et al., 2018). In general, high slope values are associated with steeply areas, whereas low values are associated with flat areas (Wilson *et al.*, 2007). All the species prefer step slope (>  $25^{\circ}$ ) except for C. verticillata that decreases its preference for slope  $> 50^{\circ}$ . Usually, CWC species show a preference for high terrain complexity (Pearman et al., 2020). As reported by Angiolillo et al. (2021), for example, M. oculata and D. pertusum prefer vertical walls slope that correspond usually to areas exposed to high water circulation and low sedimentation rates. From our model, these species are influenced by bathymetry variable preferring a range between 450 and 700 m. Indeed, the bathymetric range of occurrence for these species is between 500 and 1650 m depth (Chimienti et al., 2019). In the Mediterranean Sea, I. elongata forests are EFHs for red shrimps Aristeus antennatus and Aristaeomorpha foliacea, and are considered extremely vulnerable to trawling, which has caused a population decline in the Mediterranean Sea (Pierdomenico et al., 2018). The new valuable information available from the present study will be useful for the management of fishing activity and for the possible selection of new Fishery Restricted Areas (FRAs) aiming at the conservation and restoration of the area.

#### Conclusions

The habitat suitability modeling information presented in this study is a key step to better understanding the distribution of CWCs in the Northern part of the Strait of Sicily. Furthermore, it provides essential information to guide future surveys and conservation plans.

#### Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the AALEA and MainportGeo team for the logistic help in the project and all our colleagues who had participated in the survey.

# Bibliography

- ANDERSON O.F., GUINOTTE J.M., ROWDEN A.A., TRACEY D.M., MACKAY K.A., CLARK M.R. (2016) - Habitat suitability models for predicting the occurrence of vulnerable marine ecosystems in the seas around New Zealand. *Deep Sea Res. Part I.*, 115: 265-292.
- ANGIOLILLO M., CANESE S. (2018) Deep Gorgonians and Corals of the Mediterranean Sea. *In*: Beltran C.D., Camacho E.T. (Eds.), *Corals in a Changing World*, IntechOpen, London: 29-49.
- ANGIOLILLO M., LA MESA G., GIUSTI M., SALVATI E., DI LORENZO B., ROSSI L., TUNESI L. (2021) - New records of scleractinian cold-water coral (CWC) assemblages in the southern Tyrrhenian Sea (western Mediterranean Sea): human impacts and conservation prospects. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 197: 102656.
- BARGAIN A., FOGLINI F., PAIRAUD I., BONALDO D., CARNIEL S., ANGELETTI L., TAVIANI M., ROCHETTE S., FABRI M.C. (2018). - Predictive habitat modeling in two Mediterranean canyons including hydrodynamic variables. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 169: 151-168.
- BARGAIN A., MARCHESE F., SAVINI A., TAVIANI M., FABRI M.-C. (2017) Santa Maria di Leuca Province (Mediterranean Sea): Identification of suitable mounds for cold-water coral settlement using geomorphometric proxies and Maxent methods. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 4: 338. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2017.00338
- CHIMIENTI G., BO M., TAVIANI M., MASTROTOTARO F. (2019) Occurrence and biogeography of Mediterranean cold-water corals. *In:* Orejas C., Jiménez C. (eds) *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World*, vol 9, Springer, Cham: 213-243.

D'ONGHIA G. (2018) - Cold-Water Corals as Shelter, Feeding and Life-History Critical Habitats

for Fish Species: Ecological Interactions and Fishing Impact. In: Orejas C, Jiménez (eds). *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future*. Springer, Cham: 335-356.

- ETNOYER P.J., WAGNER D., FOWLE H.A., POTI M., KINLAN B., GEORGIAN S.E., CORDES E.E. (2018) Models of habitat suitability, size, and age-class structure for the deep-sea black coral *Leiopathes glaberrima* in the Gulf of Mexico. *Deep Sea Res. Part II.*, 150: 218-228.
- FABRI M.-C., BARGAIN A., PAIRAUD I., PEDEL L., TAUPIER-LETAGE I. (2017) Coldwater coral ecosystems in Cassidaigne Canyon: An assessment of their environmental living conditions. *Deep Sea Res. Part II.*, 137: 436-453.
- KINLAN B.P., POTI M., DROHAN A.F., PACKER D.B., DORFMAN D.S., NIZINSKI M.S. (2020) -Predictive modeling of suitable habitat for deep-sea corals offshore the northeast United States. *Deep Sea Res. Part I.*, 158: 10322.
- PEARMAN T.R.R., ROBERT K., CALLAWAY A., HALL R., IACONO C.L., HUVENNE V.A. (2020) -Improving the predictive capability of benthic species distribution models by incorporating oceanographic data–Towards holistic ecological modelling of a submarine canyon. *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 184: 102338.

PHILLIPS S. J. (2005) - A brief tutorial on Maxent. AT&T Research, 190(4): 231-259.

- PIERDOMENICO M., RUSSO T., AMBROSO S., GORI A., MARTORELLI E., D'ANDREA L., GILI J.M., CHIOCCI F.L. (2018) - Effects of trawling activity on the bamboo-coral *Isidella elongata* and the sea pen *Funiculina quadrangularis* along the Gioia Canyon (Western Mediterranean, southern Tyrrhenian Sea). *Prog. Oceanog.*, 169: 214-226.
- SUNDAHL H., BUHL-MORTENSEN P., BUHL-MORTENSEN L. (2020) Distribution and Suitable Habitat of the Cold-Water Corals *Lophelia pertusa*, *Paragorgia arborea*, and *Primnoa resedaeformis* on the Norwegian Continental Shelf. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 7: 213.
- WILSON M.F., O'CONNELL B., BROWN C., GUINAN J.C., & GREHAN A.J. (2007). Multiscale terrain analysis of multibeam bathymetry data for habitat mapping on the continental slope. *Mar. Geod.*, 30: 3-35.

#### Andrzej PISERA, GEROVASILEIOU V., DIGENIS M.

Institute of Paleobiology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland <u>E-mail : apis@twarda.pan.pl</u>

# LITHISTID SPONGES FROM SUBMARINE CAVES OF CRETE ISLAND: HIDDEN DIVERSITY AND FALSE ENDEMICITY

#### Abstract

Recent exploration in marine caves of Crete (Greece, Eastern Mediterranean Sea) brought to light several taxa of lithistid sponges, some of them important volumetrically. Further examination of sponge samples from already investigated and newly explored caves of Crete Island revealed the presence of four lithistid taxa: Neophrissospongia endoumensis, Microscleroderma lamina, Gastrophanella phoeniciensis and numerous specimens of an undescribed phymaraphiniid reported for the first time in the Mediterranean Sea. The presence of four different species of lithistid sponges in five marine caves of Crete, including taxa known only from the Western Mediterranean (or even Atlantic Ocean) and Lebanon contradicts current ideas about their diversity, distribution and origin. Through the current study it is shown that targeted sampling and taxonomic identification based on spicules can overcome misidentifications, underestimations of diversity and false patterns of endemism.

Key-words: Crete, Eastern Mediterranean, lithistid demosponges, biodiversity, taxonomy

#### Introduction

Although rock sponges (also known as lithistids or desma-bearing demosponges) are mostly known from the deep sea, they have been reported in shallow waters around the globe only from marine caves (Schuster *et al.*, 2021 and references therein), especially in the northern and eastern Mediterranean Sea (Perez *et al.*, 2004; Pisera & Vacelet, 2011; Pisera & Gerovasileiou, 2021). In most cases, particular caves harbour a single species that is usually unknown from other caves or habitat types. Numerous lithistids that belong to the species *Neophrissospongia endoumensis* (family Corallistidae) were recently reported to form large masses in marine caves of Crete (Greece), associated with freshwater influx (Pisera & Gerovasileiou, 2021). Further studies of these caves and more detailed scrutiny of already known specimens revealed higher lithistid diversity and past misidentifications.

#### Materials and methods

During summers of 2016, 2017 and 2021 several marine caves were surveyed with SCUBA diving on the south and northwest coast of Crete (Greece, Eastern Mediterranean). Lithistids were found and collected from three semi-submerged and two submerged caves with internal air chambers and freshwater springs at their innermost dark part. The depth of the studied caves ranged between 0 and 15 meters.

Sponge specimens were studied under binocular stereomicroscope in reflected light in order to choose representative areas not overgrown by other sponges, for further SEM analysis. Selected fragments were boiled in concentrated nitric acid for organic tissue removal and to obtain clean siliceous spicules. Loose spicules and fragments of choanosomal skeleton were studied under SEM.

#### Results

*Neophrissospongia endoumensis* was the most common and volumetrically important lithistid sponge in the studied caves (Fig. 1D, 2A). This sponge belongs to family Corallistidae and is characterized, among others, by the presence of strongly sculptured desmas known as dicranoclones (see Pisera & Gerovasileiou, 2021, and Fig. 2A herein). The second most common lithistid was a new taxon of the family Phymaraphiniidae (Fig. 1E), which had characteristic trider desmas (Fig. 2B), phyllotriaenes as ectosomal spicules, spinose microrhabds and amphiasters as microscleres (not shown in Fig. 2B). This sponge was known for a long time from those caves, but it was misidentified as discoloured *Petrosia* sp. based solely on underwater photos, due to its similar shape, size and colour inside dark caves. Recent studies of spicules in SEM, revealed its real taxonomic position.



Fig.1. Morphology of the studied lithistid sponges: (A-B) *Microscleroderma lamina*; (C) *Gastrophanella phoeniciensis*; (D) Underwater photo of *Neophrissospongia endoumensis* (NE) and the undescribed phymaraphiniid (PH); (E). Underwater photo of the undescribed phymaraphiniid sponge.

*Microscleroderma lamina* (family Scleritodermidae) was recorded in a semi-submerged cave in northern Crete, forming contorted laminae, similarly to *N. endoumensis*, but thinner, smaller, brown in colour (when alive) and with "hairy" outer surface. Due to its habits, it could be easily mistaken for *N. endoumensis*, which however has thicker walls and is white when alive (but necrosed parts are brownish). It is characterized by rhizoclone choanosomal desmas (Fig. 2C) and sigmaspire microscleres (not shown in Fig. 2C). Last but not least, *Gastrophanella phoeniciensis* (family Siphonidiidae) was found for the first time in caves on the northern coast of the island. It constitutes a large, slightly

club-shaped sponge (Fig. 1C) with rhizoclone choanosomal desmas (Fig. 2D) and tylostyle microscleres (not shown in Fig. 2D).



Fig.2. Desma skeleton of the studied lithistid sponges showing clear differences in character of their choanosomal skeleton: (A) *Neophrissospongia endoumensis*; (B) undescribed phymaraphiniid; (C) *Microscleroderma lamina*; and (C) *Gastrophanella phoeniciensis* (D). Different taxa bear different microsclere spicules (not shown here).

All four lithistid taxa were found in the inner dark chambers of shallow caves, at a depth of 0.5-1 m, just below freshwater masses (halocline) or nearby springs of freshwater influx. *N. endoumensis*, which formed large masses in a marine cave in Sfakia area (Fig. 1D), was also collected from a deeper marine cave in the same area, at 15 m, but always next to freshwater springs. The undescribed phymaraphiniid was found in both semi-dark and dark cave parts and had a mean cover of  $22.7\% \pm 5.4$  (SE) on the cave walls (as measured in 16 randomly placed photoquadrats of  $25 \times 25$  cm), thus representing an important colonizer of the cave (Fig. 1E).

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The presence of the four lithistid taxa – sometimes in high abundances and large masses – in dark cave sections with freshwater springs, corroborates previous suggestions that their presence could be linked to the higher concentration of silicate in the seawater due to freshwater influx, which resembles conditions in the deep sea (Pisera & Gerovasileiou, 2021). This is also supported by observations from four other caves in different islands of the Aegean and Levantine Seas (VG & MD, unpublished data) which are still under investigation. To our opinion, the most probable source of propagules for shallow sea caves are unrecognized deep-water populations of lithistid sponges (Pisera & Gerovasileiou, 2021). This could – at least partly – explain their fragmented distribution pattern.

The species *N. endoumensis* was originally described from a Western Mediterranean marine cave near Marseille (Pisera & Vacelet, 2011), but most probably occurs also in

marine caves of Tenerife in the Atlantic Ocean (AP, unpublished observations). Microscleroderma lamina and G. phoeniciensis were previously known only from a shallow marine cave of Lebanon (Perez et al., 2004). It cannot be excluded that the species Aciculites mediterranea, reported from a marine cave of Sardinia (Manconi et al., 2006) could be conspecific with G. phoenicensis. On the other hand, phymaraphiniid sponges have never been reported from the Mediterranean Sea but are known from the Atlantic Ocean (Carvalho & Pisera, 2019; Carvalho et al., 2020). Mediterranean forms are different from those of the Atlantic genus Exsuperantia and constitute without doubt a new species (probably also a new genus). Occurrence of four different species of lithistid sponges in five marine caves of Crete, including taxa known only from the Western Mediterranean (or even Atlantic Ocean) and Lebanon, contradicts earlier findings which concluded that every marine cave may harbour a single species that is unknown from other caves (i.e., suggesting its origin in each cave). Our study clearly shows that such pattern is caused by limited exploration, regional lack of expertise and superficial examination that often leads to misidentification, suggesting inexistent patterns in sponge diversity and endemicity.

#### Acknowledgements

Fieldwork activities were supported by (a) the project "Centre for the study and sustainable exploitation of Marine Biological Resources (CMBR)" (MIS 5002670), which was implemented under the Action "Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure," funded by the Operational Program "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation" (NSRF 2014–2020) and co-financed by Greece and the EU (European Regional Development Fund) and (b) "STUDIOTOPIA – Art meets Science in the Anthropocene (2019-2022)" residency program hosted by Onassis Stegi and co-funded by the Creative Europe program of the European Union. The authors are grateful to Thanos Dailianis for help during fieldwork.

#### Bibliography

- CARVALHO F.C., CÁRDENAS P., RÍOS P., CRISTOBO J., RAPP, H. T., XAVIER, J.R. (2020) -Rock sponges (lithistid Demospongiae) of the Northeast Atlantic seamounts, with the description of ten new species. *PeerJ*, 8: e8703.
- CARVALHO F., PISERA A. (2019) Revision of the genus *Exsuperantia* Özdikmen, 2009 (Tetractinellida: Phymaraphiniidae) with description of a new species from the Atlantic Ocean. *Zootaxa*, 4613 (1): 135–151.
- MANCONI R., SERUSI A. (2008) Rare sponges from marine caves: discovery of *Neophrissospongia nana* nov. sp. (Demospongiae, Corallistidae) from Sardinia with an annotated checklist of Mediterranean lithistids. *ZooKeys*, 4: 71–87.
- MANCONI R., SERUSI A., PISERA A. (2006) A new Mediterranean 'lithistid' sponge, *Aciculites mediterranea* sp. nov. (Porifera: Demospongiae) from a dark marine cave in Sardinia. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K., 86 (4): 691–698.
- PEREZ T., VACELET J., BITAR G., ZIBROWIUS H. (2004) Two new lithistids (Porifera: Demospongiae) from a shallow eastern Mediterranean cave (Lebanon). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K., 84 (1): 15–24.
- PISERA A., GEROVASILEIOU V. (2021) Lithistid Demosponges of Deep-Water Origin in Marine Caves of the North-Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 8: 630900.
- PISERA A., VACELET J. (2011) Lithistid sponges from submarine caves in the Mediterranean: taxonomy and affinities. *Sci. Mar.*, 75 (1): 17–40.
- SCHUSTER A., PISERA A., EKINS M., DEBITUS C. (2021) New genus and species of lithistid demosponges from submarine caves in Nuku Hiva (Marquesas Islands) and Tahiti Iti (Society Islands), French Polynesia. *Eur. Zool. J.* 88 (1): 749–770.

#### Antonietta ROSSO, GEROVASILEIOU V., DIGENIS M.

Department of Biological, Geological and Environmental Sciences, University of Catania, Catania, Italy

Email: rosso@unict.it

# NEW INSIGHT INTO THE BRYOZOAN DIVERSITY OF MARINE CAVES OF THE AEGEAN SEA (EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN)

#### Abstract

Bryozoans are among the main colonizers of marine caves. Nevertheless, their diversity in sea caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea remains largely understudied. During the last decade several marine caves were surveyed with SCUBA diving in insular areas and rocky peninsulas of the Aegean Sea in the framework of different research expeditions. Numerous qualitative samples were collected in order to enrich taxonomic accounts for this phylum from this area. Examination of the collected material revealed 58 taxa from 15 caves across seven Greek islands (Agios Efstratios, Antikeri, Pantieronissi, Polyaigos, Crete, Karpathos and Saria) and Chalkidiki Peninsula in North Greece. The majority of the identified taxa belonged to Cheilostomatida (43), followed by Cyclostomatida (13) and Ctenostomatida (2). Four taxa constitute new records for the bryozoan fauna of Greece, while several are reported for the first time from marine caves of the Aegean Sea. In addition, some unidentified taxa constitute candidate new records for this marine area or possibly undescribed species.

Key words: Benthic invertebrates, biodiversity, taxonomic identification, hard substrate, sea caves

#### Introduction

Bryozoans are among the main colonizers of hard substrates in Mediterranean marine caves (e.g., Harmelin, 2000; Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021, and references therein) that host a relevant proportion of the bryozoan biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea (Rosso & di Martino, 2016). However, bryozoan diversity in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea remains largely understudied. Few isolated records of cave bryozoans occur in historical literature (see Gerovasileiou & Rosso, 2016). Some recent papers also contributed with information from a few marine caves, geographically scattered in the region, specifically small caves and overhangs in Lebanon (e.g., Harmelin, 2014, Harmelin et al., 2016), two submarine caves in the Island of Lesvos (Rosso et al., 2019) and other caves of Greece (Gerovasileiou et al., 2015) and one submarine cave in Cyprus (Guido et al., 2017; Achilleos et al., 2020). These investigations allowed for the discovery of species new to science as well as species originating from outside the Mediterranean Sea (Rosso et al., 2020b).

During the last years several marine caves were surveyed with SCUBA diving in different insular areas and rocky peninsulas of the Greek Aegean Sea in the framework of different research expeditions. Numerous qualitative samples of sessile benthos were collected for taxonomic identification of small-sized taxa, including bryozoans. This material has been

examined aiming at increasing present knowledge on bryozoan diversity of marine caves in the Eastern Mediterranean and especially in the Aegean Sea.

### **Materials and Methods**

The studied material was collected from 15 marine caves (nine semi-submerged and six entirely submerged with internal air chambers) from seven different islands of the Aegean Sea (i.e., Agios Efstratios, Pantieronissi, Polyaigos, Antikeri, Crete, Saria and Karpathos) and the Chalkidiki Peninsula. The study area covers the entire Aegean ecoregion, with the northernmost cave located in Chalkidiki and the southernmost on the southern coasts of Crete (Fig. 1, Table 1). Most caves (7) are located in the western sector of Crete (four on the northern and three on the southern side), while 1-3 caves were surveyed in each of the other areas.

Samples were collected with SCUBA diving from different ecological cave zones (i.e., entrance, semi-dark and dark zone), but mostly from semi-dark cave sectors. Samples were either fixed in 96% ethanol or preserved dried. Sampling events took place between 2009 and 2021. Material was examined under a stereomicroscope and selected colonies were observed both untreated and washed, but uncoated under a Tescan LMU2 Vega Scanning Electron Microscope at the University of Catania Microscopy Laboratory.



Fig.1. Location of the studied marine caves in the Aegean Archipelago, Eastern Mediterranean Sea (A) and the entrance of the semi-submerged Trypia Spilia Cave in Agios Efstratios Island (B).

Table 1. Investigated caves and localities, and their main features. CE: cave entrance; SD: semidark zone; D: dark zone. Numbers after + indicate species found only as dead colonies.

Geographical location	Sithonia, Chalkidiki	Agios Efstratios Island	Pantieronissi Island	Polyaigos Island	Antikeri Island	Chania & Vamos, Crete	Sfakia, Crete	Saria & Karpathos Islands
Number of caves	1	1	1	1	1	4	3	3
Depth range	0-12 m	0-5 m	0-8 m	0-4 m	15 m	0-10 m	0-17 m	0-16 m
Number of samples	1	5	1	3	1	5	6	4
Cave zone	SD	CE, SD	SD	SD, D	SD	CE, SD, D	CE, SD	SD
Number of species	1	10+8	3	9	14	7	30+2	23

#### Results

A total of 52 living species were identified (some shown in Fig. 2). The majority belonged to Cheilostomatida (38 taxa), followed by Cyclostomatida and Ctenostomatida (12 and 2 taxa, respectively). This list increases to 58 taxa if we also consider one further cyclostomatid and five cheilostomatid species found only as dead colonies.

From this preliminary survey, the highest number of species (32) was found in Sfakia area in South Crete, and mostly in the Italian Cave (27 species), which received higher sampling effort compared with the other study sites. The semi-submerged Trypia Spilia cave of Agios Efstratios Island (Fig. 1) was found to host 18 species (10 living + 8 dead), followed by the submerged cave in Antikeri Island (14 species), two semi-submerged caves of Saria Island (Agios Panteleimonas and Oxonisos caves with 14 and 13 species, respectively) and 1-HT\_8330\_13 cave in Sfakia (11 living + 2 dead species). All other caves had less than ten species in the collected material.



Fig.2. Some cyclostomatid (A, D) and cheilostomatid (C, C, E-I) bryozoan species from the studied Aegean caves. (A) *Idmidronea triforis*; (B) *Cradoscrupocellaria hirsuta*; (C) *Bugula germanae*; (D) *Plagioecia sarniensis*; (E) *Reptadeonella* cf. *violacea*; (F) *Savignyella* cf. *lafontii*; (G) *Reteporella grimaldii*; (H) *Celleporina caliciformis*; (I) Celleporidae sp. Scale bars: 500 µm for all species, except for D: 1 mm.

Most species were present in different marine caves with only a single or a small number of colonies, except for *Savignyella* cf. *lafontii* (forming extensive mats of several colonies in the Antikeri and the Italian caves), *Idmidronea triforis* and *Crisia* spp. (more than 20 and 10 colonies, respectively, in the Italian Cave), *Chlydonia pyriformis* (with a dozen of

colonies in the Blue Cave of Chania, Crete) and *Turbicellepora* cf. *coronupus* (with a dozen of colonies in Trypia Spilia and Oxonisos caves). None of the identified species was found to occur in all the surveyed caves and the most frequent species (i.e. *Chlydonia pyriformis*) was shared by 7 out of 15 marine caves. *Cradoscrupocellaria hirsuta* and *Turbicellopra* cf. *coronopus* were found in five caves while *Caberea boryi*, *Escharina vulgaris* and *Celleporina* cf. *caliciformis* were found in four caves.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Despite the qualitative nature of our sampling and variable effort among study sites, this preliminary survey revealed a high number of species. All caves were studied for the first time for their bryozoan fauna and a considerable number of species (ca. 20 species - 35%) were reported for the first time as elements of the marine cave fauna of the Aegean Sea (Gerovasileiou et al., 2015; Rosso et al., 2019). To our knowledge, this is also the first finding of extensive mats of the cheilostomatid Savignyella cf. lafontii in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea (found at the entrance of two submerged caves, at 15-17 m depth). The maximum number of species identified in a single cave, i.e. 27 species in the Italian Cave (Sfakia, Crete), was quite high when compared to that of the well-studied Fara Cave of Lesvos Island, where systematic quantitative sampling was applied (Rosso et al., 2019). Both caves are located at a similar depth range (Italian Cave: 8-18 m; Fara Cave: 14-18 m) and host a much lower number of species compared to the deeper, wellstudied Agios Vasilios Cave (24-40 m, 63 species) of Lesvos Island (Rosso et al., 2019). Four taxa, namely Cradoscrupocellaria hirsuta, Schizomavella cf. subsolana, Celleporina caliciformis and juvenile colonies possibly belonging to the genus Lagenipora are reported for the first time from Greece (Gerovasileiou & Rosso, 2016). Cradoscrupocellaria hirsuta, first described from the Azores, has only recently been reported from several submarine caves in Italian and Croatian waters by Rosso et al. (2016) who suggested that this species is either introduced in the Mediterranean or cryptogenic, but possibly widespread in this basin.

Several taxa are reported for the first time from marine caves of the Aegean Sea. Among them, some (e.g., *Walkeria tuberosa, Bugula germanae, Synnotum egyptiacum, Caberea boryi*, and *Chlydonia pyriformis*) develop small erect flexible colonies and are usually rare within caves. In contrast, the erect rigid species *Reteporella grimadii* forms large convolute reticulate laminar colonies up to some centimetres wide. *Bugula germanae* is a rarely reported species that was described from Corsica in the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. So far it is known from a wide depth range (10-60 m), associated with algae and *Posidonia* meadows in the Western Mediterranean, and from 180 m on a biogenic sandy bed near Crete in the Aegean Sea (Harmelin, 1969; Zabala, 1986). This is its first documented finding in sea caves.

In addition, some taxa in the studied material were identified only at the genus/family level, or as similar to already established species (cf.) and constitute candidate new records for this marine area or possibly undescribed species. Further qualitative and quantitative surveys in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea are expected to increase the bryozoan diversity of this understudied area.

#### Acknowledgements

AR received funds from the University of Catania through "PiaCeRi-Piano Incentivi per la Ricerca di Ateneo 2020/22 linea di intervento 2". VG and MD were supported by the projects: (a) "Centre for the study and sustainable exploitation of Marine Biological Resources (CMBR)"

(MIS 5002670), which was implemented under the Action "Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure," funded by the Operational Programme "Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship, and Innovation" (NSRF 2014-2020) and co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Regional Development Fund) and (b) "STUDIOTOPIA – Art meets Science in the Anthropocene (2019-2022)" residency program hosted by Onassis Stegi and co-funded by the Creative Europe programme of the European Union. Samplings took place in the framework of different research expeditions which received funding from different sources. We would like to thank Thanos Dailianis for his help during fieldwork and Stelios Katsanevakis for his support. This is the Catania Palaeoecological Research Group contribution n. 492.

#### Bibliography

- ACHILLEOS K., JIMENEZ C., BERNING B., PETROU A. (2020) Bryozoan diversity of Cyprus (eastern Mediterranean Sea): first results from census surveys (2011-2018). *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 21 (1): 228-237.
- GEROVASILEIOU V.; BIANCHI C. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev., 59: 1-88.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., CHINTIROGLOU C., VAFIDIS D., KOUTSOUBAS D., SINI M., DAILIANIS T., ISSARIS Y., AKRITOPOULOU E., DIMARCHOPOULOU D., VOULTSIADOU E. (2015) - Census of biodiversity in marine caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 16: 245-265.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., ROSSO A. (2016) Marine Bryozoa of Greece: an annotated checklist. *Biodivers. Data J.*, 4: e10672
- GUIDO A., JMENEZ C., ACHILLEOS K., ROSSO A., SANFILIPPO R., HADJIOANNOU L., PETROU A., RUSSO F., MASTANDREA A. (2017) - Cryptic serpulid-microbialite bioconstructions in the Kakoskali submarine cave (Ciprus, Eastern Mediterranean). *Facies*, 63: 21.
- HARMELIN J.-G. (1969) Bryozoaires récoltés au cours de la campagne du Jean Charcot en Méditerranée orientale (Août-Septembre 1967). I. Dragages. Bull. Mus. nat. Hist. nat. Sér. 2, 40: 1179-1208.
- HARMELIN J.-G., (2000) Ecology of cave and cavity dwelling bryozoans. *In:* HERRERA CUBILLA Z., JACKSON J.B.C. (eds), *Proceedings of the 11th International Bryozoology Association Conference*, Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute, Balboa (Panama): 38-53.
- HARMELIN J.-G. (2014) Alien bryozoans in the eastern Mediterranean Sea-new records from the coasts of Lebanon. *Zootaxa*, 3893 (3): 301-338.
- HARMELIN J.-G., BITAR G., ZIBROWIUS H. (2016) High xenodiversity versus low native biodiversity in the south-eastern Mediterranean: bryozoans from the coastal zone of Lebanon. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 17 (2): 417-439.
- ROSSO A., DI MARTINO E. (2016) Bryozoan diversity in the Mediterranean Sea: an up-date. *Medit. Mar. Sci.*, 17(2): 567-607.
- ROSSO A., DI MARTINO E., PICA D., GALANTI L., CERRANO C., NOVOSEL M. (2016) -Non-indigenous bryozoan species from natural and artificial substrata of Mediterranean submarine caves. *Mar. Biodivers.*, 48 (3): 1345-1355.
- ROSSO A., DI MARTINO E., GEROVASILEIOU V. (2020a) Revision of the genus *Setosella* (Bryozoa: Cheilostomata) with description of new species from deep-waters and submarine caves of the Mediterranean. *Zootaxa*, 4728 (4): 401-442.
- ROSSO A., GEROVASILEIOU V., DI MARTINO E. (2020b) Really Onychocellids? Revisions and new findings increase the astonishing bryozoan diversity of the Mediterranean Sea. J. Mar. Sci. Eng., 8 (11): 904.
- ROSSO A., GEROVASILEIOU V., SANFILIPPO R., GUIDO A. (2019) Bryozoans assemblages from two submarine caves in the Aegean Sea (Eastern Mediterranean). *Mar. Biodivers.*, 49 (2): 707-726.
- ZABALA M. (1986) Fauna dels Briozous dels Països Catalans. Inst. Est. Catalans Arx. Sec. Ciénc. Barc., 84, 1-836.

Andreu SANTÍN, GRINYÓ J., AGUZZI J., AMBROSO S., BAENA P., BAHAMON N. BIEL CABANELAS M., CHATZIEVANGELOU D., COMPANY J.B., CORBERA G., GARCÍA DEL ARCO J.A., GÓMEZ, M., GORI A., GUTIÉRREZ V., LINARES C., MONTSENY M., NAVARRO J., RECASENS L., ROTLLANT G., SALAZAR J., GARCÍA VARAS J.L., GILI J.M., GIRONA'S TERRITORIAL FEDERATION OF FISHERS' GUILD

Institut de Ciències del Mar (ICM-CSIC), Barcelona, Catalunya, Spain <u>E-mail: santin@icm.csic.es</u>

# ECOLOGICAL RESTORATION OF HUMAN-IMPACTED MEDITERRANEAN BENTHIC MARINE ECOSYSTEMS THROUGH ACTIVE STRATEGIES AND PARTICIPATORY APPROACH: THE LIFE PROJECT ECOREST

#### Abstract

The negative effects from recurrent industrial fishing are widespread in the Mediterranean Sea waters, being the conservation status of the benthic ecosystems especially critical in the Catalan continental margin (NW Mediterranean Sea), which is identified as a hotspot of ecological importance due to the high concentration of endangered, threatened or vulnerable sessile and demersal species. Here, more than 90% of the sea bottom between 50 and 800 m depth has been affected by bottom otter trawling. This high fishing pressure is triggering a reduction in the structural complexity of the benthic habitats and an impoverishment of the associated biodiversity, affecting most of the Ecosystem Services provided. In the northern and central Catalan margin, 14 no-take fishing areas (29.022 ha), have been established and supported by fisher's guilds to permanently restrict fishing and help recover and restore the benthic communities and fishing resources. However, the ability of these benthic habitats to recover from human impacts is extremely slow since they are formed by long-lived, slow-growing sessile species, with delayed sexual maturity and limited recruitment. Natural recovery of these species may take decades to centuries, so it is of key importance to actively accelerate their recovery and revert their degradation. Ecological restoration aims to return the damaged ecosystems to a state that is within some acceptable limits relative to a less disturbed status, in order to recover its ecosystem services and functionality.

Up to date, most restoration actions beyond the littoral zones have been far to match with the scale of ecosystem damage. The project Life ECOREST aims at scaling up the spatial and temporal frames of restoration actions performed by current scientific efforts on continental shelf and slope deep-sea environments, making them technologically and economically affordable while, at the same time, doing so in close cooperation with fishers' guilds and relevant stakeholders.

**Keywords:** Active restoration, long-term monitoring, researchers & fishers' collaboration, Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems, Western Mediterranean Sea.

#### Background

The highly diverse Mediterranean Sea ecosystems host around 7-10% of the world's marine biodiversity (Bianchi & Morri, 2000; Cuttelod *et al.*, 2008). In this sense, shelf waters represent 20% of Mediterranean waters, playing an important role for biodiversity compared with the 7.6% share in the world oceans (Gori *et al.*, 2017). However, the marine communities inhabiting the continental shelves and slopes are in a poor

conservation state, mainly caused by decades of human impacts (Ramirez-Llodra, *et al.*, 2011). Bottom trawling has greatly contributed to the degradation of deep-water habitats to a point where the abundance of megafauna has declined dramatically (Althus *et al.*, 2009; Pusceddu *et al.*, 2014). This has caused the rarefaction and local extinction of multiple species and the simplification of habitats, now mainly formed by vast extensions of barren sediments with low structural complexity and populated by a reduced number of species that tolerate human impacts (e.g. motile or burrowing species).

The negative effects from recurring industrial fishing are widespread in all the Spanish Mediterranean coast. The conservation status of the benthic habitats is especially critical in the Catalan continental margin (north-western Mediterranean Sea) which is identified spot of ecological importance due to the high concentration of endangered, as a hot threatened or vulnerable species (Bianchi & Morri, 2000). Here, more than 90% of the sea floor between 50 and 800 m depth is severely exploited and depleted by different trawling being the most extended (Aguzzi et al., 2022). In rocky areas, the practices, high complex topography of bottoms prevents trawling access, however, benthic ecosystems are here threatened by artisanal fisheries, which can annually remove more than 1,300 structuring species per boat (Santín et al., 2022). This high fishing pressure is triggering a reduction in the structural complexity of the benthic habitats and an impoverishment of the associated biodiversity, affecting most of the Ecosystem Services (ES) provided. Three-dimensionally complex benthic ecosystems maintain nursery grounds and are crucial habitats for a myriad of marine organisms to complete their life cycle, find food or hide from predators (Gori et al., 2017). Additionally, they are key components in the transfer of energy and matter playing a paramount role in nutrient cycles in the deep sea. The loss of ES ultimately affects several economic sectors depending on the sea (Cuttelod et al., 2008).

Benthic habitats such as sponge grounds, coral gardens or cold-water coral reefs are considered by FAO as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs): groups of species, communities or habitats highly vulnerable to fishing impacts (UNGA Resolution 61/105). They are also protected by the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species and by the EU Habitats Directive (92/43/ECC). Specifically, Reef formations corresponding to the Habitat of Community Interest 1170 "Reefs" (Annex I) occur in several fishing grounds of the continental shelf and shelf edge on the Catalan margin. Based on remotely operated vehicle observations (ROVs) and artisanal fishing by-catch, it is known that these reefs host densely populated coral gardens (15-20 colonies m<sup>2</sup>) and sponge grounds (14 individuals m<sup>2</sup>) (Gili *et al.*, 2011). However, reef sites have been widely impacted by fishing activities. In reef sites on the Cap de Creus, lost fishing gear reached densities of 25 items per 100 m, up to 15% of gorgonians showing epiphyted or necrotic sections and 10% of colonies were entangled in fishing gears. Although Cap de Creus is a Site of Community Interest (SCI), fragile habitats in this area are still being impacted by fishing and need the implementation of conservation measures (Gili *et al.*, 2011).

In the central and northern Catalan margin, there are 15 no-take areas  $(315 \text{km}^2)$  where the fishing activity has been recently permanently restricted to recover fish stocks (Orden APA/1212/2020). No-take restrictions have been officially declared (8 areas) or agreed with fisher associations (7 areas) (Fig. 1). However, the ability of these habitats to recover from human impacts is extremely slow since they are formed by long-lived, slow-growing species, with a delayed sexual maturity and limited recruitment. Natural recovery may take centuries, so it is of key importance to actively initiate or expedite recovery and revert degradation (Montseny *et al.*, 2021). Ecological restoration is an attempt to return a damaged system to an ecological state that is within some acceptable limits relative to a less disturbed system, in order to recover a natural range of ecosystem structure and dynamics. Up to date, most restoration actions beyond the littoral zone have been far to match with the scale of ecosystem damage. The project Life ECOREST aims at scaling up the spatial and temporal frames of restoration actions performed by current scientific efforts on continental shelf and slope, making them technologically and economically affordable.

#### The Life ECOREST project

In order to contribute towards the recovery of benthic habitats, it is proposed to restore the existing no-take areas (315 km<sup>2</sup>) in the continental shelf and slope (50 - 400 m depth) of the Catalan continental margin (Fig. 1) through the recovery and transplant of ecosystem engineering benthic species accidentally caught by fishers in adjacent zones, this being the first restoration project in the deep sea with such a geographical scope at the EU level. Although during the last 20 years the restoration of marine ecosystems has increased substantially worldwide, most restoration actions to date have been carried out in shallow environments, mainly focusing on structuring species such as oysters, mangroves, seagrass or tropical coral reefs, which play a paramount role in the formation of a habitat while, in contrast, only seven active restoration actions focusing on deep-sea sessile structuring organisms (e.g. Oculina varicosa Le Sueur, 1820 and Desmophyllum pertusum (Linnaeus, 1758)) have been performed in intermediate (50 - 200 m depth) to deep-sea (> 200 m depth) environments (Montseny et al., 2021). Owing to technical and logistic challenges and the high costs associated with working in deep-sea environments, these actions have been generally carried out over short periods of time (1 to 4 years) and covering small areas  $(2 - 20 \text{ m}^2)$ .

To overcome these limitations, a novel cost-efficient restoration technique for cold-water coral gardens (named the "*badminton method*") was recently developed, consisting on attaching accidently caught sessile structuring organisms (mainly gorgonians) to cobble supports and returning them to deep environments by gently tossing the transplanted organisms directly from a boat (Montseny *et al.*, 2020). With a survival rate over 90 % on all transplanted individuals, this technique offers a low-cost methodology for the restoration of deep-sea sessile fauna, but the technique needs to still be validated for other sessile organisms (e.g. sponges), has so far only been tested in a small area (north of Cap de Creus, Fig. 1) and still needs long term monitoring and validation.

Parallelly, the insufficient exchange of information between researchers and fishers usually resulted in management regulations enforced on the community, and without the search for collaboration within collectives and multidisciplinary and participative approaches, government policies are often perceived by the resource users as alien restraints, ending up not followed as desired (Santín *et al.*, 2022). Fortunately, this view is changing, and fishers and scientists are more open to listening and contributing to both collectives' benefit, pursuing a common goal: more diverse and well-conserved seafloors that translate into more productive seafloors. Furthermore, fishers' knowledge and expertise about local ecology and conditions should be considered as a valuable asset to conservationists and resource managers to be considered for fisheries legislation, policy-making, basic research, and environmental studies.



Fig.1. Map of the 16 no take areas in which the Life ECOREST project will be applying active restoration techniques

Therefore, the general objective of the Life ECOREST (2022 - 2026) project is to revert the poor conservation status of benthic habitats impacted by fishing activities and reestablish their main ES and functions through active restoration strategies, to be implemented in close collaboration among scientists, fishers and public administration. Accordingly, the project has set the following specific objectives to be achieved within the timeframe of the project and sustained beyond its end:

- (I) To validate the efficacy of low-cost, low-tech restorations strategies of transplanting at large spatial scales to recover habitat structural complexity within the no-take zones.
- (II) To evaluate the recovery of ES (nursery grounds and resting and breeding habitat functions) in restored areas and buffer zones by assessing variations in habitat complexity and associated biodiversity.
- (III) To promote a participative fishery management by elaborating a collaborative and consensus based proposal of permanent no-take areas and management measures between partners and stakeholders to minimize the impact of fishing.

Hence, the main expected result of the Life ECOREST is to enhance prior and develop new methodologies and protocols that can be officially assumed by the competent administration and fishers for the active restoration of degraded marine communities. They will be jointly developed between scientists, fishers, public administrations and NGOs and will allow the maintenance of restoration actions by fishers in the years to come. During the project, fishers will actively participate in the development and application of restoration techniques gaining a unique experience that will be incorporated into their daily routine since aquaria facilities for the maintenance of daily bycatch will remain in the fisher associations. The governance mechanisms implemented during the project will guarantee an agreed decision about how restoration actions will continue after the end of the project.

Efforts from both researchers and fishers should be made and are being made, to bring mutual benefits. For scientists, fishers contribute with valuable data, experience, and knowledge on the field. For fishers, scientists can provide expertise on managing the resource sustainably, and explanations for the phenomena observed, enriching both collectives in a new and profitable way. The paradigm shift in the treatment and trust between fishermen and scientists is possible, and with the aim of long-term sustainability, could be enormously beneficial for society.

#### Acknowledgements

The Life ECOREST team would like to thank the personnel of EuroVértice Consultores, and specifically María Huertas, Marta Reguilón and Josmary Pérez for their dedication, help and hard work during the first steps of the project. The present contribution is part of the LIFE ECOREST project (LIFE20 NAT/ES/001270), which is funded by the LIFE programme, the EU financial instrument for the environment. The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union.

#### Bibliography

- AGUZZI J., NAVARRO J., VIGO M., MASMITJA I., BAHAMON N., GARCÍA J.A, ROTLLANT G., RECASENS L., GRINYÓ J., CARRERAS M., DEL RÍO J., GOMARIZ S., COMPANY J.B. (2022) - Towards monitoring and recovery of fisheryimpacted species in deep-sea marine ecosystems: a joint effort between biology and technology. *In*: Pelegrí J.L., Gili J.M., Martínez de Albéniz M.V. (eds.), *The ocean we want: inclusive and transformative ocean science*, Institut de Ciències del Mar, CSIC, Barcelona, 114-116.
- ALTHAUS F., WILLIAMS A., SCHLACHER T. A., KLOSER R. J., GREEN M., BARKER B.A., BAX N., BRODIE P., BRYCE M. (2009) - Impacts of bottom trawling on deep-coral ecosystems of seamounts are long-lasting. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 397: 279-294.
- BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C. (2000) Marine biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: situation, problems and prospects for future research. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 40(5): 367-376.
- COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 92/43/EEC (1992) On the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. Council Directive 92/43/EEC (21<sup>st</sup> of May of 1992).
- CUTTELOD A., GARCÍA N., ABDUL MALAK D., TEMPLE H., KATARIYA V. (2008) The Mediterranean: a biodiversity hotspot under threat. *In*: Vié, J.-C., Hilton-Taylor, C., Stuart, S.N. (eds.), *The 2008 Review of The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. IUCN GLAND, SWITZERLAND: 1-13.
- GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION 61/105 (2007) Sustainable fisheries, including through the 1995 Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks, and related instrument. A/RES/61/105 (6<sup>th</sup> of March of 2007).
- GILI J.M., MADURELL T., REQUENA S., OREJAS C., GORI A., PURROY A., DOMINGUEZ-CARRIO C., LO IACONO C., ISLA E., LOZOYA J. P. GRINYO J., (2011) - Caracterización física y ecológica del área marina del Cap de Creus: Informe final área LIFE+ INDEMARES (LIFE07/NAT/E/000732), Instituto de Ciencias del Mar/CSIC (Barcelona). Coordination: Fundación Biodiversidad, Madrid, 1-272.
- GORI A., BAVESTRELLO G., GRINYÓ J., DOMINGUEZ-CARRIÓ C., AMBROSO S., BO M. (2017) -Animal Forests in Deep Coastal Bottoms and Continental Shelf of the Mediterranean Sea. *In*: Rossi S., Bramanti L., Gori A., Orejas C. (eds.), *Marine Animal Forests*. Springer, Cham: 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17001-5\_5-1

MONTSENY M., LINARES C., VILADRICH N., CAPDEVILA P., AMBROSO S., DÍAZ D., GILI, J.-M., GORI A. (2020) - A new large-scale and cost-effective restoration method for cold-water coral gardens. *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.*, 30: 1-11.

- MONTSENY M., LINARES C., CARREIRO-SILVA M., HENRY L. A., BILLETT D., CORDES E. E., SMITH C.J., PAPADOPOULOU N., BILAN M., GIRARD F., BURDETT H.L., LARSSON A., STRÖMBERG S., VILADRICH N., BARRY J.P., PATRICIA P., GODINHO A., GRINYÓ J., SANTÍN A., MORATO T., SWEETMAN A.K., GILI J.M. AND GORI A. (2021) - Active ecological restoration of cold-water corals: Techniques, challenges, costs and future directions. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 8: 621151. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.621151
- ORDEN APA/1212/2020 (2020) por la que se establecen zonas de veda espaciotemporal para la modalidad de arrastre de fondo y cerco en determinadas zonas del litoral mediterráneo para el periodo 2021-2022. BOE (16th of December of 2020), 331(Sec. III): 117341-117346.
- PUSCEDDU A., BIANCHELLI S., MARTÍN J., PUIG P., PALANQUES A., MASQUÉ P., DANOVARO R. (2014) - Chronic and intensive bottom trawling impairs deep-sea biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 111(24): 8861-8866.
- RAMÍREZ-LLODRA E., TYLER P.A., BAKER M.C., BERGSTAD O.A., CLARK M.R., ESCOBAR E., LEVIN L.A., MENOT L., ROWDEN A.A., SMITH C.R., VAN DOVER C.L., (2011)-Man and the last great wilderness: human impact on the deep sea. *PLoS ONE*, 6(8): e22588.
- SANTÍN A., GRINYÓ J., AMBROSO S., BAENA P., BIEL M., CORBERA G., SALAZAR J., MONTSENY M., GILI J.-M. (2022) - Fishermen and scientists: synergies for the exploration, conservation and sustainability of the marine environment. *In*: Pelegrí J.L., Gili J.M., Martínez de Albéniz M.V. (eds.), *The ocean we want: inclusive and transformative ocean science*, Institut de Ciències del Mar, CSIC, Barcelona, 78-79.

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

\*\*\*\*\*

# POSTERS

\*\*\*\*

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)

#### Elisa ARROYO-MARTÍNEZ, ESTEBAN A., RAMOS-ESPLÁ A., GIMÉNEZ-CASALDUERO F.

Department of Marine Sciences, University of Alicante, 03080 Alicante, Spain. <u>E-mail: elisa.arroyo@ua.es</u>

# DIVERSITY AND DISTRIBUTION OF ELASMOBRANCHS IN THE SE-IBERIAN PENINSULA (WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN) AS POSSIBLE INDICATORS OF HABITAT PRESENCE

#### Abstract

The Mediterranean Sea is considered a Elasmobranchii-rich basin but it has the highest proportion of threatened species in the world. There are currently 73 species and almost half of them are threatened. The Mediterranean elasmobranchii community has shown a decline in diversity and abundance mainly due to overfishing. Elasmobranch identification and distribution has been carried out from the MEDITS demersal surveys and other sources, in order to know its potential habitats in the SE of the Iberian Peninsula and viability as indicators of conservation status of deep habitats. 34 species (16 Selachii and 18 Batoidea spp.) have been identified. 93.2% of the total MEDITS samples presented some species. The most abundant species are Scyliorhinus canicula, Galeus melastomus and Etmopterus spinax. Most of these species are common in trawling or surface longline bycatch. The seabed of the SE of the Iberian Peninsula is of great ecological interest due to the convergence of different geomorphological formations and oceanographic features. All the species present in the study area have shown a distribution (geographical and bathymetric) in accordance with that described so far.

Key-words: Chondrichthyes, bycatch, distribution, diversity, vulnerable species

#### Introduction

The Mediterranean Sea is a biodiversity hotspot and a conservation area of global priority (e.g. Derrick *et al.*, 2020). Many of the bottom trawl fisheries operating in this area are multispecific and their selectivity is low (Lleonart & Maynou, 2003). Elasmobranchii make up a significant proportion of the bycatch, although they represent a minor part of the landings (Guijarro *et al.*, 2012). The objective of this work is to know the diversity and distribution of elasmobranchs in the SE of the Iberian Peninsula and determine the potential habitats of the main species analyzing their viability as indicators of presence and conservation status of deep habitats.

#### Material and methods

The study area covers from Torrevieja (Alicante) to Águilas (Murcia), between 40 to 845 m depth. The geomorphology of the seabed presents canyons, seamounts and pockmarks. Much of this area is included in the Natura 2000 Network (Fig. 1). The identification of elasmobranchs has been carried out from the MEDIterranean Trawl Surveys (MEDITS) (1994 to 2017) and has been completed with other sources (Tab. 1).

#### Results

In total, 34 species of elasmobranch have been found in the study area (Tab. 1). 93.2% of the total tows (279) made during the MEDITS surveys presented elasmobranchs. The most abundant species were *S. canicula*, *G. melastomus*, *E. spinax R. asterias* and *T.* 

*marmorata*. The abundance captured of *S. canicula* has increased over the years, but there is a slight tendency to decrease in the average weight per specimen.



Fig. 1: Map of the elasmobranch sampling effort of the MEDITS surveys (1994-2017).

surveys; (D) Depth (m); (Pel) Pelagic, (Dem) Demersal; Mediterranean IUCN Category.												
Specie	Α	D	IUCN	Specie	Α	D	IUCN					
Heptranchias perlo	-	91-150	DD	Leucoraja naevus	12	41-256	NT					
Hexanchus griseus	-	116-304	LC	Raja asterias	123	41-403	NT					
Alopias vulpinus	-	Pel	EN	Raja brachyura	17	47-254	NT					
Cetorhinus maximus	-	Pel	EN	Raja clavata	6	162-256	NT					
Isurus oxyrinchus	-	Pel	CR	Raja miraletus	5	41-87	LC					
Prionace glauca	-	Pel	CR	Raja montagui	33	41-402	LC					
Galeorhinus galeus	-	Dem	VU	Raja polystigma	2	40-77	LC					
Galeus atlanticus	1	393	NT	Raja radula	3	42-45	EN					
Galeus melastomus	4324	254-845	LC	Aetomylaeus bovinus	-	Dem	CR					
Mustelus mustelus	2	44-46	VU	Dasyatis pastinaca	-	Dem	VU					
Scyliorhinus canicula	9609	41-598	LC	Gymnura altavela	-	Dem	CR					
Scyliorhinus stellaris	2	44-46	NT	Mobula mobular	-	Pel	EN					
Dalatias licha	6	408-543	VU	Myliobatis aquila	8	44-48	VU					
Etmopterus spinax	328	92-596	LC	Pteroplatytrygon violacea	-	Pel	LC					
Oxynotus centrina	1	252	CR	Tetronarce nobiliana	1	220-418	LC					
Squalus acanthias	1	110	EN	Torpedo marmorata	93	41-455	LC					
Rhinobatos rhinobatos	-	Dem	EN	Torpedo torpedo	-	Dem	LC					

Tab. 1: Elasmobranch species identified. (A) Abundance (N.<sup>o</sup> indiv.) captured in MEDITS surveys; (D) Depth (m); (Pel) Pelagic, (Dem) Demersal; Mediterranean IUCN Category.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

According to the FAO, the volumes of bycatch and its composition in species are scarcely documented and are rarely incorporated into statistics. It is worth noting the presence of *Galeus atlanticus* near the pockmark field, since its distribution in the Mediterranean has been described as far as Cabo de Gata (Rey *et al.*, 2006).

#### Bibliography

DERRICK D.H., CHEOK J., DULVY N.K. (2020) - Spatially congruent sites of importance for global shark and ray biodiversity. *PLoS ONE*, 15 (7), e0235559.

GUIJARRO B., QUETGLAS A., MORANTA J., ORDINES F., VALLS M., GONZÁLEZ N., MASSUTÍ E. (2012) - Inter-and intra-annual trends and status indicators of nektobenthic elasmobranchs off the Balearic Islands (NW Mediterranean). *Sci. Mar.*, 76 (1): 87-96.

LLEONART J., MAYNOU F. (2003) - Fish stock assessments in the Mediterranean: state of the art. *Sci. Mar.*, 67 (S1): 37-49.

REY J., SERET B., LLORIS D., COELHO R., DE SOLA, L.G. (2006) - A new redescription of *Galeus atlanticus* (Vaillant, 1888) (Chondrichthyes: Scyliorhinidae) based on field marks. *Cybium*, 30 (4): 7-14. Maria Aleksandra BITNER, DIGENIS M., KATSANEVAKIS S., GEROVASILEIOU V. Institute of Delechiclegy Delich Academy of Sciences, Wenney, Delend

Institute of Paleobiology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland. <u>E-mail: bitner@twarda.pan.pl</u>

# NEW RECORDS OF BRACHIOPODS FROM MARINE CAVES OF THE AEGEAN SEA, EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN

#### Abstract

Brachiopods, though common in marine caves, have been so far rarely reported from caves of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. Herein we present new records of brachiopods collected in eleven marine caves located on eight Greek islands (Kastelorizo, Rhodes, Crete, Samos, Agios Efstathios, Polyaigos, Pantieronissi and Skyros). Four species (60 individuals) have been identified, representing 40% of the brachiopod fauna known from Mediterranean marine caves, i.e., inarticulate Novocrania turbinata (Poli, 1795) and three representatives of the family Megathyrididae, Megathiris detruncata (Gmelin, 1791), Argyrotheca cuneata (Risso, 1826), and Joania cordata (Risso, 1826). Most samples originated from semi-dark and dark zones, except for one coming from the entrance. A few specimens were found as epibionts on sponges, corals and ascidians. Future research is expected to increase knowledge of the regional diversity of brachiopods.

Key-words: Brachiopods, taxonomic identification, sea caves, Aegean Sea, Mediterranean

#### Introduction

Brachiopods are marine benthic, suspension-feeding invertebrates, preferring cryptic, low light environments such as marine caves. In the Mediterranean Sea, they constitute common members of the cave benthos (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021), although they have been so far rarely reported from caves of the Eastern Mediterranean (Logan *et al.*, 2002). Recently their assemblage structure and spatial variability were quantitatively studied in two marine caves of Lesvos Island, Aegean Sea (Bitner & Gerovasileiou, 2021). During the last years, several marine caves were surveyed in insular areas of the Aegean Sea. Numerous invertebrate samples were collected for taxonomic identification of small-sized taxa, including brachiopods.

#### Material and methods

Brachiopods were collected in eleven marine caves in eight Greek islands (Kastelorizo, Rhodes, Crete, Polyaigos, Agios Efstathios, Pantieronissi, Samos and Skyros), spanning from the Levantine to the North Aegean Sea. None of these caves had been studied before for its brachiopod fauna. Qualitative samples (60 specimens) were collected from the walls of the semi-dark and dark zones of the studied caves, where most brachiopods usually occur. Only in one cave of Crete samples were also collected from the entrance.

#### Results

Four brachiopod species were identified (Fig. 1). *Novocrania turbinata*, an inarticulate brachiopod cementing by the ventral valve, was found in five caves. The remaining three species belong to Megathyrididae. *Megathiris detruncata* was found merely in three caves. *Argyrotheca cuneata* and *Joania cordata* dominated the collected material, being

found in six and nine caves, respectively. They all constitute micromorphic forms, living attached to the substrate by a short pedicle with the shell oriented in a vertical position. A few specimens were found as epibionts on lithistid sponges, the coral *Madracis pharensis* (Heller, 1868) and the ascidian *Pyura dura* (Heller, 1877).



Fig. 1: Brachiopods from the studied marine caves, Aegean Sea, Eastern Mediterranean. a) *Novocrania turbinata*; b-c) *Argyrotheca cuneata*; d-e) *Megathiris detruncata*; f-g) *Joania cordata*. Scale bars: a, 2 mm; b-d, f, 500 µm; e, g, 1 mm.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Despite the small number of species found, they represent 40% of the brachiopods known from Mediterranean marine caves. All species are already known from Greek waters (Gerovasileiou & Bailly, 2016; Bitner & Gerovasileiou, 2021). Due to their small size (few mm) and limited research effort regarding cave biota, brachiopods are often overlooked in marine caves. Future research in other marine caves focusing also on thanatocoenoses from cave sediments, is expected to increase knowledge on the regional diversity of brachiopods in the marine cave habitat.

#### Bibliography

- BITNER M.A., GEROVASILEIOU V. (2021) Taxonomic composition and assemblage structure of brachiopods from two submarine caves in the Aegean Sea, Eastern Mediterranean. *The European Zool. J.*, 88: 316-327.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., BAILLY N. (2016) Brachiopoda of Greece: An annotated checklist. *Biodiversity Data J.*, 4: 8169.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev.*, 59: 1-88.
- LOGAN A., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., ZIBROWIUS H., BITAR G. (2002) New records of recent brachiopods from the eastern Mediterranean Sea. Ann. Mus. Civ. St. Nat. Genova, 94: 407-418.

Martina COPPARI, ANDRUCCIOLI A., GRINYÓ J., BAVESTRELLO G., CANESE S., BO M.

Dipartimento di Scienze della Vita e dell'Ambiente (DISVA), Università Politecnica delle Marche, Via Brecce Bianche, 60131 Ancona, Italy <u>E-mail: m.coppari@staff.univpm.it</u>

# UNVEILING THE REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY OF MESOPHOTIC AND BATHYAL MEDITERRANEAN BLACK CORALS

#### Abstract

Black corals (Cnidaria, Anthozoa, Antipatharia) are among the most charismatic habitat-forming species of the mesophotic and upper bathyal hardgrounds of the Mediterranean Sea. Many aspects of their ecology are known, however, reproductive traits, are mostly undisclosed due to logistic difficulties related with long-term deep-sea monitoring. This study gives the first insight into the reproductive ecology of seven Mediterranean black corals species, sampled through Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs) in various localities of the Italian seas, in different years and seasons. Histological analyses were conducted to determine the sex of the colonies, the stage of the gametogenesis, and the number and diameter of eggs and spermatic cysts. Independently from the species, Mediterranean black corals are gonochoric, with the gametogenesis starting in spring and showing only a single event of spawning in late summer. Variations in the size of eggs and sperm cysts are observed among species and depths. Both Antipathella subpinnata and Antipathes dichotoma may occasionally show hermaphroditic polyps.

Key-words: black corals, Mediterranean Sea, sexual reproduction, ROV

#### Introduction

In the Mediterranean Sea, black corals form the so-called animal forests (Rossi et al., 2017), playing crucial ecological roles at mesophotic and bathyal depths (50-2000 m). Various studies highlighted the phylogenetic relationships of Mediterranean black corals, their distribution, population structure, age, diet, and associated fauna. Reproductive traits, however, are more complicated to evaluate due to logistic difficulties related with long-term deep-sea monitoring. Preliminary observations conducted in aquaria suggest a high degree of plasticity in asexual reproduction (Coppari et al., 2019), but very little is known regarding sexual reproduction (Gaino & Scoccia, 2010). This study gives the first insight into the sexual reproduction of the seven Mediterranean black coral species.

#### Materials and methods

Black corals were collected by Remoted Operated Vehicle (ROV) in different years (from 2008 to 2018), seasons, and different areas of the Italian Seas. The species collected were the following: *Antipathella subpinnata* (Ellis & Solander, 1786), *Antipathes dichotoma* (Pallas, 1766), *Stichopathes* sp. (Brook, 1880), *Parantipathes larix* (Esper, 1790), *Parantipathes tetrasticha* (Pourtalès, 1868), *Leiopathes glaberrima* (Esper, 1792) and *Phanopathes rigida* (Pourtalès, 1880). Samples were analyzed with histological techniques after resin inclusion (Technovit 8100), and microscope observations to determine the sex of the colonies, the starting period or the stage of the gametogenesis, the spawning period, the number, and the dimension of eggs and spermatic cysts.

#### Results

A total of 112 samples were analysed, most of which (78) were samples of *A. subpinnata*. The majority of the species were fertile in the period between April and August (Fig. 1) with the only exception of *Leiopathes glaberrima* that was fertile until December. All the species were gonochoric showing only female or male gametes. However, 2 polyps out of the 1055 observed, belonging to *A. dichotoma* and *A. subpinnata*, respectively, were hermaphroditic (Fig. 2). The size and number of oocytes and spermatic cysts increased with the progression of the gametogenesis with the minimum and maximum size in all the species that were 18  $\mu$ m and 500  $\mu$ m, respectively. A size increase of both oocytes and spermatic cysts was observed with depth. The number of eggs and spermatic cysts per polyp varied among 2 and 80 considering all the studied species.



Fig. 1: Antipathella subpinnata: spermatic cysts in July indicated by the arrows (a), and in August (b), oocytes in July (c) and August (d).



Fig. 2: Rare examples of hermaphroditic polyps: adjacent polyps of *A. dichotoma* showing an oocyte (O) and several spermatic cysts (SC) (a); male polyp of *A. subpinnata* showing an oocyte (O) surrounded by many spermatic cysts (SC) (b)

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The knowledge of the reproductive biology of the species forming marine animal forests is of crucial importance to understand the population structure, the potential resilience of species against environmental and anthropic impact, including climate change, and it is therefore essential to delineate proper management and protection measures.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the BIOMOUNT Project MIUR-SIR (RBSI14HC9O, Biodiversity patterns of the Tyrrhenian Seamounts).

#### Bibliography

- COPPARI M., MESTICE F., BETTI F., BAVESTRELLO G., CASTELLANO L., BO M. (2019) -Fragmentation, re-attachment ability and growth rate of the Mediterranean black coral *Antipathella subpinnata. Coral reefs*, 38:1-14
- GAINO E., SCOCCIA F. (2010) Gamete spawning in *Antipathella subpinnata* (Anthozoa, Antipatharia): a structural and ultrastructural investigation. *Zoomorp.*, 129:213-219
- ROSSI S., BRAMANTI L., GORI A., OREJAS C. (eds) (2017) Marine animal forests: the ecology of benthic biodiversity hotspots. Springer, Cham Pub., 1366 pp.
#### Gabriele COSTA, BO M., ENRICHETTI F., BERTOLINO M.

Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy / Department of Earth, Environmental and Life Sciences (DISTAV), University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

E-mail: gabrielec1987@gmail.com

# SPONGES ASSOCIATED WITH WHITE CORALS FROM THE DEEP EASTERN LIGURIAN SEA

#### Abstract

Cold-Water Coral (CWC) reefs dominated by scleractinians are known to be biodiversity hotspots, however, the sponge assemblages associated with these habitats are still poorly studied in the Mediterranean Sea. Recent investigations of the eastern Ligurian canyons, carried out within the Curiosity Project (UniGe) between 450 and 750 m, unveiled dead and living reefs and rare biocoenoses. In the present work, seven white coral samples, collected from three coral areas, were used to investigate the associated sponge diversity. The taxonomic investigation revealed a high biomass occupancy (176 specimens in about 1500 cm<sup>3</sup> of material) and a high biodiversity with 27 species among which 1 new record for the Mediterranean Sea (Iotroata acanthostylifera), 2 new records for the Ligurian Sea, Hymedesmia (Hymedesmia) mutabilis and Plocamionida tylotata, and Acanthancora sp. which is a probable new species.

Key-words: CWC, Ligurian Sea, Porifera, white corals

#### Introduction

Cold-Water Coral (CWC) reefs are bathyal bioconstructions formed by a complex framework of living and dead skeletons of scleractinians (white corals), hosting a rich associated fauna. Sponges are known to inhabit the surface of the bioconstructions, the coral rubble in their surroundings, as well as the carbonatic matrix and the cavities of the framework (Bertolino et al., 2019). Despite they play a fundamental role in the trophic sustenance of this ecosystem, a comprehensive picture of their diversity, habit and distribution is still missing, with only few studies targeting the small cryptosponges, which account for the highest, yet less accessible, diversity. The Mediterranean CWC reefs accounts for 172 sponge taxa (Santin et al., 2021), showing a high biomass occupancy of the frameworks and sharing numerous species with other sciaphilous, cavitary ecosystems, such as the coralligenous bioconstructions (Bertolino et al., 2019). Recent investigations of the eastern Ligurian canyons, carried out within the Curiosity Project (UniGe) between 450 and 750 m, unveiled dead and living reefs and rare biocoenoses. The oceanographic uniqueness of the deep Ligurian Sea and the limited information available for the bathyal sponge community associated to the reefs, make the studies in this region extremely valuable. In the present work, seven white coral samples, collected from three coral areas, were used to investigate the associated sponge diversity.

#### Materials and methods

Samplings were carried out by means of the ROV Multipluto onboard of the vessel *Daedalus* (Fondazione AzioneMare) during summer 2021. Samples were collected from

the Portofino bioherm, the Genoa mound, and the Deiva Marina and Levante canyons (474-724 m depth) for a total of seven coral portions.

In laboratory, the dead coral colonies were first photographed and observed under a stereomicroscope to find the associated sponges, which were also all photographed and subsequently processed by standard methods for Porifera identification. Taxonomic decisions were made according to the classification present in the World Porifera Database (de Voogd *et al.*, 2022).

# Results

Six dead coral fragments were collected for a total volume of about 1500 cm<sup>3</sup>. The taxonomic investigation revealed 176 sponge specimens divided into 27 sponge species among which 1 new record for the Mediterranean Sea, *Iotroata acanthostylifera* (Stephens, 1916), 2 new records for the Ligurian Sea, *Hymedesmia* (*Hymedesmia*) *mutabilis* (Topsent, 1904) and *Plocamionida tylotata* Brøndsted, 1932, and *Acanthancora* sp. which is a probable new species.

# Discussion

Currently, over 172 potential sponge taxa have been found associated to Mediterranean CWC reefs (Santin *et al.*, 2021), well behind data published for the North Atlantic Ocean (ca. 260; van Soest & de Voogd, 2015). This could suggests that the sponge fauna associated with Mediterranean reefs is potentially still underestimated, despite the increasing effort to study it. This is partially due to a lower sampling effort in the Mediterranean basin, to taxonomic difficulties regarding Porifera, to the high heterogeneity of the frameworks (Buhl-Mortensen *et al.*, 2010) making comprehensive collections difficult, and to the encrusting nature of most sponge species living here, alongside the paucity of the material.

Despite these difficulties and although our study is still preliminary, it confirms the role of CWC reefs as true biodiversity hotspots for sponges in the deep Mediterranean Sea. In fact, the taxonomic investigation revealed a high biomass occupation (176 specimens) compared to the relatively small coral volume investigated and a high biodiversity with 27 sponge species including 1 new record for the Mediterranean Sea, 2 new records for the Ligurian Sea, and one probable new species.

- BERTOLINO M., RICCI S., CANESE S., CAU A., BAVESTRELLO G., PANSINI M., BO M. (2019) -Diversity of the sponge fauna associated with white coral banks from two Sardinian canyons (Mediterranean Sea). J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK., 99(8): 1735-1751.
- BUHL-MORTENSEN L., VANREUSEL A., GOODAY A.J., LEVIN L.A., PRIEDE I.G., BUHL-MORTENSEN P., GHEERARDYN H., KING N.J., RAES M. (2010) - Biological structures as a source of habitat heterogeneity and biodiversity on the deep ocean margins. *Mar. Ecol.*, 31: 21-50.
- DE VOOGD N.J., ALVAREZ B., BOURY-ESNAULT N., CARBALLO J.L., CÁRDENAS P., DÍAZ M.-C., DOHRMANN M., DOWNEY R., HAJDU E., HOOPER J.N.A., KELLY M., KLAUTAU M., MANCONI R., MORROW C.C., PISERA A.B., RÍOS P., RÜTZLER K., SCHÖNBERG C., VACELET J., VAN SOEST R.W.M. (2022) - World Porifera Database. Accessed at https://www.marinespecies.org/porifera on 2022-06-30.
- SANTÍN A., GRINYÓ J., URIZ M.J., LO IACONO C., GILI J.M., PUIG P. (2021) -Mediterranean coral provinces as a sponge diversity reservoir: Is there a Mediterranean coldwater coral sponge fauna? *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 8: 662899.
- VAN SOEST R.W.M., DE VOOGD N.J. (2015) Sponge species composition of north-east Atlantic cold-water coral reefs compared in a bathyal to inshore gradient. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK., 95: 1461-1471.

## Elena DESIDERÀ, BIASISSI E., BO M., CALOGERO G., CANESE S., DI BLASI D., POLI F., TOMA M., GUIDETTI P., BAVA S.

Department of Integrative Marine Ecology (EMI), Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Genoa Marine Centre, Genoa, Italy <u>E-mail: elena.desidera@szn.it</u>

# USING LOCAL ECOLOGICAL KNOWLEDGE TO SUPPORT CONSERVATION OF THE WRECKFISH (*POLYPRION AMERICANUS*) IN THE LIGURIAN SEA

#### Abstract

The wreckfish, Polyprion americanus (Polyprionidae), is a long-lived temperate fish undergoing a pelagic to bathydemersal transition over its lifetime. Juveniles are found close to the surface, below floating objects, while adults dwell in deeper habitats, down to 1000 m depth. In the Mediterranean Sea the species can be caught by commercial and recreational fishers. In 1974, an extraordinary catch of wreckfish occurred at the Ulisse Seamount, a previously unexploited fishing ground in the Ligurian Sea, then landings dramatically dropped. Deep ROV surveys that extensively explored Ligurian seamounts in 2017-2018 did not record the species. Overall, information about the life cycle and the status of the Ligurian wreckfish populations is fragmented and further investigations are needed to assess its conservation status, since there is concern that fishing might threaten its populations. To fill this gap, we used a local ecological knowledge (LEK) approach interviewing recreational and professional fishers, technical wreck divers, whale watchers and underwater technical operators. We found that the wreckfish is still being fished in the Ligurian Sea, although most interviewees reported it has been declining. Our results can i) help improve the available knowledge on the status of wreckfish in the Ligurian Sea, ii) clarify some aspects of its complex life cycle and iii) help build management tools tailored to its life cycle, highlighting the importance of LEK in conservation science.

Key-words: *Polyprion americanus*, local ecological knowledge, seamounts, conservation, deep-sea fish

#### Introduction

Despite its worldwide distribution, little is known on the wreckfish *Polyprion americanus* (Polyprionidae), especially in the Mediterranean Sea, where the species is classified as Data Deficient in the IUCN Red List (Yokes et al., 2011). This grouper-like fish has a peculiar life history: juveniles are found close to the surface, under floating objects, while adults dwell on hard bottoms, such as seamounts and rocky terraces in canyons, and within white coral reefs, down to 1000 m. The wreckfish is a gonochoric species that matures late in life (>7 years), is long lived (>80 years), grows to large sizes (~200 cm, ~100 kg), and likely forms spawning aggregations (Sadovy, 2003). All these traits make this fish highly vulnerable to overfishing. In the Mediterranean Sea, the wreckfish has no relevant commercial interest due to its rarity, but it is an appealing prey for recreational fishers. In the Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean), as far as we know, the first greatest landing of wreckfish (~450 kg, 20 individuals) occurred at the previously unfished Ulisse Seamount in 1974. Then, landings dramatically dropped (Bo et al., 2021). This raises major concern about the vulnerability of the species to fishing. Deep ROV surveys, also, did not record this species in any of the Ligurian seamounts' tops explored in 2017-2018 (Bo et al., 2021), suggesting a significant decline in wreckfish abundances. This led us to investigate the

species occurrence through an alternative methodology to collect information of use for conservation purposes.

## Materials and methods

Collection of past and present data on the occurrence of wreckfish in the Ligurian Sea has been carried out by means of a Local Ecological Knowledge (LEK) approach. Two structured questionnaires were administered to two main categories of sea users: 1) local fishers, comprising both recreational and professional fishers, and 2) "observers", comprising boaters, whale watchers and technical divers. From April to June 2022, a total of 28 interviews were administered: 21 to fishers (out of which 12 were recreational and 9 were professional fishers) and 7 to "observers".

#### Results

Most interviewees reported that juvenile and adult wreckfish are declining. Pelagic juveniles were often observed below floating objects from June to November, likely depending on the surface seawater temperature. Half-sunken objects providing shade and crossed by the light seem to be the most suitable shelters for juvenile wreckfish. Some interviewees have found early stages of fish (Mullidae) and amphipods in the stomachs of pelagic juveniles. Notably, fish of 2-4 kg have been fished in both shallow and deep waters (<150 m). This suggests that, around such sizes, wreckfish move from the surface to the demersal domain of the continental shelf, before descending to deeper habitats of the continental slope and seamounts, where only large-sized individuals (4-50 kg) are fished. Adult wreckfish are commonly caught close to white coral reefs, in line with literature evidence, and light baits are known to be effective in attracting them. Adult wreckfish are still being fished on Ligurian seamounts, where *Pagellus bogaraveo* (preyed on by wreckfish) is one of the main fishing targets.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Large slow-growing and late-maturing fishes are often highly vulnerable to fishing (Jennings *et al.*, 1998). Since the late 1990s, more advanced fishing gears have helped capture large deep fishes. Wreckfish populations are thus likely to keep declining if proper conservation measures are not adopted. By using LEK, our study shed new light on the complex life cycle of the wreckfish and its catches in the Ligurian Sea, which may help set proper conservation solutions for this and other data-deficient species.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the interviewees for having made their time, experiences and knowledge available.

- BO M., COPPARI M., BETTI F., ENRICHETTI F., BERTOLINO M., MASSA F., BAVA S., GAY G., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BAVESTRELLO G. (2021) The high biodiversity and vulnerability of two Mediterranean bathyal seamounts support the need for creating offshore protected areas. *Aquatic Conserv.: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.*, 31:543–566.
- JENNINGS S., REYNOLDS J.D., MILLS S.C. (1998) Life history correlates of responses to fisheries exploitation. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B.*, 265: 333–339.
- SADOVY Y. (2003) Polyprion americanus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2003: e.T43972A10845280. Accessed on 5 April 2022.
- YOKES B., KARA M.H., BIZSEL C., KADA O., BARICHE M., QUIGNARD J.P., OZTURK B., GOREN M., FRANCOUR P. (2011) - Polyprion americanus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T43972A10845635. Accessed on 5 April 2022.

Cristina Gioia DI CAMILLO, STORARI A., SCARPA C., PONTI M., PULIDO MANTAS T., ROVETA C., COPPARI M., CALCINAI B., PUCE S., CERRANO C. Dipartimento Scienze della Vita e dell'Ambiente, Università Politecnica delle marche, Ancona (Italy) E-mail: c.dicamillo@staff.univpm.it

# A CITIZEN-BASED PROTOCOL TO ASSESS VULNERABILITY OF NARROW PASSAGES TO SCUBA DIVING

#### Abstract

Scientific community could rely more and more on citizen science to assess marine biodiversity and evaluate its ecosystem services, as confirmed by 27 studies conducted in the Mediterranean from 2015 to 2019. Citizen scientists could also help to assess impacts on narrow and dark habitats where particularly fragile organisms develop even in shallow waters. Until now, most of the proposed methods to estimate level of disturbance of these fragile habitats are based on rigorous protocols that often are too costly to be replicated over time and too complicated to be applied by recreational divers. A simpler and cheaper approach —carried out with the contribution of dive centers and non-scientific divers— would enhance monitoring activities on narrow and dark passages and ensure the continuity of data collection. The objective of this study is to implement an easy-to-apply and standardized protocol to establish a continuous data recording system on fragile communities in these habitats. Recreational scuba divers and dive centers from the Mediterranean Sea will be engaged and trained to identify target species vulnerable to mechanical impact. An index to evaluate level of "Disturbance due to scubA diviNg in submerged Narrow passages (DANNO Index)" is also proposed.

Key-words: Underwater canyons, caves, tunnels, arcs, mechanical damage

#### Introduction

Narrow passages in a dive route on natural rocky habitats include corridors of any length characterized by a width and/or a height <2 m, such as submerged canyons, tunnels, cave entrances, and arcs, where scuba divers are forced to move very close to substrate. Here, dim light conditions are generally present, allowing the development of sciaphilous and fragile species, which are extremely vulnerable to mechanical impacts. Scuba divers may disturb these communities through intentional or unintentional contact (with body parts or dive gears), or by sediment resuspension and bubbling (Di Franco *et al.*, 2009, 2010; Luna-Pérez *et al.*, 2011; Lucrezi *et al.*, 2019). The main objective of this work is to propose a protocol to assess vulnerability of habitats where the diver frequentation should be regulated. The protocol will be presented to a few dive centers to be tested by marine citizen scientists and to address eventual weakness.

#### Materials and methods

To calculate the **DANNO** index and evaluate impact of scuba diving in narrow passages, 5 m x 1 m transects will be surveyed along target sites by scuba divers considering four factors and six target taxa. Factors are: A. abundance; B. elevation from the substrate; C. exposure level of vulnerable species; and D. signs of scuba diving impact (i.e., mechanical impact on colonies along the walls or large fragments on the floor, and presence of bubbles trapped in crevices/ceiling of a cave, arc or tunnel). The six fragile taxa are: 1. the bryozoan

*Myriapora truncata*; 2. other erect, branched, and brittle bryozoans; 3. reteporiform bryozoans; 4. *Corallium rubrum*; 5. other sessile animals protruding from the substrate (e.g. gorgonians, erect sponges, large serpulids, and scleractinians). A score varying from 0 (absence of vulnerable taxa) to 3 (presence of exposed fragile taxa) will be given to each factor for each target taxon, while presence of broken organisms and bubbles will receive a negative score (-2 and -1, respectively). A pre-set dive slate will be used to annotate data.

# Results

The index results by summing all the attributed scores, the higher the total, the lower the impact in the dive route. Considering that the index will range between -3 and +45, five classes of the level of disturbance of the narrow environment subjected to impacts from scuba diving were empirically established: 45: Undisturbed, 35-44: Little disturbed, 25-34: Moderately disturbed, 15-24: Highly disturbed, and <15: Extremely disturbed environment.

# Discussion and conclusion

Globally, most research assessing diving impact is focused on determining its mechanical consequences without considering prevention measures. In order to improve the underwater behavior of scuba divers and limit impact of marine citizen scientists and visitors, rules of good underwater conduct to be adopted in narrow passages should be mentioned before diving. Staff of the dive centers should be trained by marine biologists to learn how to identify the indicator taxa and to train, in their turn, recreational scuba divers frequenting their facility. This will ensure reliable data collection. Scuba diver frequentation data can be retrieved from dive centers' archives and compared with data collected underwater to test the hypothesis that there are no significant differences between sites (or periods within the same dive spot) with different levels of impact.

Particular attention should be dedicated to raise awareness of photographers and videomakers which, due to their cumbersome equipment, may have a higher impact on marine communities. A video showing scuba divers impacting benthic organisms could be presented to increase awareness about underwater behavior and prevent possible mechanical damage (Ajzen, 1991). The effectiveness of this awareness-raising measure could be tested by evaluating behavior of trained and non-trained divers moving in the same passage.

# Bibliography

- AJZEN I. (1991) The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50: 179-211.
- DI FRANCO A., MARCHINI A., BAIATA P., MILAZZO M., CHEMELLO R. (2009) -Developing a scuba trail vulnerability index (STVI): a case study from a Mediterranean MPA. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 18: 1201-1217.
- DI FRANCO A., FERRUZZA G., BAIATA P., CHEMELLO R., MILAZZO M. (2010) Can recreational scuba divers alter natural gross sedimentation rate? A case study from a Mediterranean deep cave. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 67: 871-874.
- LUCREZI S., MILANESE M., CERRANO C., PALMA M. (2019) The influence of scuba diving experience on divers' perceptions, and its implications for managing diving destinations. *PLoS ONE*, 14(7), p.e0219306

LUNA-PÉREZ B., VALLE-PÉREZ C., SÁNCHEZ-LIZASO J.L. (2011) - Halocynthia papillosa as SCUBA diving impact indicator: An *in situ* experiment. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 398 :33-39.

Markos DIGENIS, RAGKOUSIS M., KATSANEVAKIS S., GEROVASILEIOU V. Department of Environment, Ionian University, Zakynthos, Greece / Department of Marine Sciences, University of the Aegean, Mytilene, Greece <u>E-mail: markosdigenis@gmail.com</u>

# ALIEN FISH IN MARINE CAVES OF THE AEGEAN SEA, GREECE

#### Abstract

Although distribution patterns of marine non-indigenous fish are widely studied in the Mediterranean Sea, little is known about their presence in marine caves. In the framework of the Research Program "Aliens in the Aegean – a sea under siege (ALAS)", an underwater visual survey protocol for recording motile species in marine caves was developed and applied for the first time. Both species richness and abundance of motile fauna were recorded within 3-minute visual surveys at the three cave ecological zones (entrance, semi-dark and dark zone) while SCUBA diving. Twelve shallow submerged and semi-submerged marine caves distributed across nine islands of the Aegean Sea (Greece) were surveyed. Eight alien fishes (25%) were found out of 32 recorded fish species, comprising up to 46% of the recorded population. Non-indigenous fish distribution patterns fit well with their known spatial distribution from other habitats in the Aegean Sea.

Key-words: sea caves, alien fish, Aegean Sea, motile fauna, visual census

#### Introduction

Although >200 alien species have been recorded in the Aegean Sea over the last decades (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2020a), little is known about their presence in dark habitats such as sea caves (Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2016). One of the main goals of the Research Program "Aliens in the Aegean – a sea under siege (ALAS)" (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2020b) is to investigate the establishment of alien species in marine caves of the Aegean Sea.

#### **Materials and Methods**

During the summer of 2020, a total of 12 marine caves, distributed across nine Greek islands in the Aegean Sea, were surveyed for the first time for their motile fauna. Two scientists recorded both the abundance and species richness of motile taxa during a 3-min visual survey in each of the three ecological zones (i.e., entrance, semi-dark and dark zone) of each cave while SCUBA diving. Species that were observed out of transect during the approximately 90-min dives were also recorded.

#### Results

A total of 32 fish species were recorded in the studied marine caves. Among them, eight (8) alien species were found, comprising 10% of the total fish abundance. The Indo-Pacific sweeper fish *Pempheris rhomboidea* exhibited the highest abundance, with more than 200 individuals observed at the dark interior and more than 200 juveniles at the cave entrance indicating its successful establishment at the southeasternmost studied cave in Kastelorizo Island. The lionfish *Pterois miles* was recorded at all cave zones, while all

the other alien and cryptogenic fishes (i.e., *Enchelycore anatina*, *Sargocentron rubrum*, *Siganus luridus*, *Siganus rivulatus*, *Torquigener flavimaculosus*, *Parupeneus forsskali*) were reported at the cave entrance or semi-dark zone. Alien fish comprised up to 46% of recorded fish individuals in the studied caves, with the highest ratio of alien/native species abundance found in the south-eastern Aegean caves (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Map of the studied area with alien / native abundance percent ratio of fish species.

# **Discussion and conclusions**

This study shows that alien fish have successfully been established in the marine cave environment of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea, especially at the entrance and semi-dark cave zones. Their distribution pattern in marine caves fits well with their known distribution in other marine habitats in the Aegean Sea (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2020a). Better estimates of alien species' impact on marine cave ecosystems are expected to be provided via further analysis of the collected data and additional samplings.

- GEROVASILEIOU V., VOULTSIADOU E., ISSARIS Y., ZENETOS A. (2016) Alien biodiversity in Mediterranean marine caves. *Mar. Ecol.*, 37: 239-256.
- KATSANEVAKIS S., ZENETOS A., CORSINI-FOKA M., TSIAMIS K. (2020a) Biological Invasions in the Aegean Sea: Temporal Trends, Pathways and Impacts. *In*: Anagnostou C.L., Kostianoy A.G., Mariolakos I.D., Panayotidis P., Soilemezidou M., Tsaltas G. (eds), *The Aegean Sea Environment*, The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg: 1-13.
- KATSANEVAKIS S., TSIRINTANIS K., SINI M., GEROVASILEIOU V., KOUKOUROUVLI N. (2020b)-Aliens in the Aegean – a sea under siege (ALAS). *RIO*, 6: e53057.

# Marta FLORIDO, NAVARRO-BARRANCO C., DIGENIS M., DONÁZAR-ARAMENDÍA I., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ J.C.

Laboratorio de Biología Marina, Departamento Zoología, Facultad de Biología, Universidad de Sevilla, Avda. Reina Mercedes 6, 41002/Área de Investigación I+D+i del Acuario de Sevilla, Muelle de las Delicias, s/n, 41012 Sevilla, Spain. <u>E-mail: mflorido.c@gmail.com</u>

# A MARINE CAVE AS ECOLOGICAL REFUGE FROM MACROALGAL INVASION

#### Abstract

Although Mediterranean marine caves have been characterized as biodiversity reservoirs and vulnerable habitats, little is known about the threats they may face. The invasive macroalgae Rugulopteryx okamurae is rapidly spreading along the Western Mediterranean Sea displacing native sessile competitors through space monopolization but also negatively affecting erect species, on which macroalgae's thalli are frequently entangled. In this study, the relevance of these two processes, as well as the impacts derived from the presence of R, okamurae surrounding marine cave habitats, were studied for the first time in the Mediterranean Sea. A semi-submerged cave located within a Marine Protected Area (MPA) of the northern Alboran Sea was biannually monitored. Photoquadrats were collected from six sites distributed along the entrance and inner semidark zone of the cave. Also, 20 colonies of the gorgonian Eunicella labiata located at the semidark zone were marked and macroalgae's thalli interacting with each colony were quantified. Preliminary results highlight the competitive superiority of R. okamurae at the cave entrance and its progressive monopolization of space through time. The sessile community structure of the semidark zone remained relatively undisturbed while no evidence of mortality was recorded for gorgonians' colonies. This study reinforces the role of marine caves as refuge habitat, but also claims the need to evaluate the conservation status of vulnerable habitats when linked to global change scenarios.

Key-words: marine cave, macroalgal invasion, gorgonians, monitoring, Western Mediterranean.

# Introduction

The invasion of *Rugulopteryx okamurae* represents a huge concern in terms of biodiversity and community structure loss across the Strait of Gibraltar and adjacent waters. Given its successful space monopolization and its wide adaptability, the existence of key habitats that may act as ecological refuges may be vital for the conservation of native species. Marine caves are considered 'biodiversity reservoirs' of great conservation value (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). This study aims to test the role of a marine cave within a macroalgae invasion event by two monitoring approaches that reflect different competitive strategies: spatial displacement and indirect effects of detached thalli.

# Materials and methods

A monitoring of four seasonal samplings was applied (from July 2020 to February 2022) to a shallow semi-submerged cave of the Maro-Cerro Gordo Natural Park (Granada, Spain). The non-destructive method of photoquadrat sampling was applied to assess *R. okamurae*'s impact on the sessile marine cave community. Three random quadrats were collected from six cave sites (three from the entrance and three from the inner semidark

zone) and percent coverage of sessile taxa was obtained through the PhotoQuad software. In addition, the coverage of entangled *R. okamurae*'s thalli on twenty colonies of the gorgonian *Eunicella labiata* from the inner cave zone were monitored to quantify possible impacts from the invasive macroalgae.

# Results

The sessile community structure significantly differed between the outer and inner zone for all sampling periods (p<0.01). Although the results did not reveal seasonal changes for the semidark community structure, the increasing dominance of *R. okamurae* at the entrance led to changes in the structure of the photophilic community with ongoing homogenization of the outer biota (Fig. 1). On the contrary, significant spatial differences found in the inner semidark zone did not vary through the different sampling periods (p=0.1269 for the factor 'Time'). Although *R. okamurae*'s thalli were repeatedly found entangled in the gorgonians' colonies during surveys, no evidence of mortality was obtained by the end of the study.



Fig. 1: MDS plot of the quadrats collected from the four sampling periods from the entrance and semidark zone of the studied semi-submerged cave. Percent coverage of *R. okamurae* per photoquadrat is represented by scaled bubbles.

# **Discussion and conclusions**

This study reflects the consequences of the invasive success of *R. okamurae* in favorable habitats while revealing the role of a marine cave in buffering impacts from both direct (spatial competition) and indirect (entangled thalli) processes of macroalgal invasion. The patterns obtained reinforce the role of marine caves as natural refuges, while claiming the need for future and long-term monitoring to elucidate impacts linked to global change scenarios.

# Acknowledgments

The present contribution was supported by a PhD grant 'VI Plan Propio de Investigación' (US) and the financial support of CEPSA Foundation and Red Eléctrica de España (REE), the European Regional Development Fund (project US-1381059), the OPP- 51, ENDESA, ACERINOX, and Diputación Provincial de Cádiz.

# Bibliography

GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2021) - Mediterranean Marine Caves: A Synthesis of Current Knowledge. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol.*, 59: 1-88.

#### Vasilis GEROVASILEIOU, SMITH C.J., SALOMIDI M., JIMENEZ C., PAPADOPOULOU K-N., SAKELLARIOU D., DRAKOPOULOU P., OTERO M., MYTILINEOU Ch.

Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR), Heraklion, Greece / Department of Environment, Ionian University, Zakynthos, Greece <u>E-mail: vgerovas@hcmr.gr</u>

# VULNERABLE BENTHIC ASSEMBLAGES IN THE DEEP EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN: REVISITING UNDERWATER SURVEYS TO SHED LIGHT ON UNKNOWN DIVERSITY

#### Abstract

Benthic communities in the deep Eastern Mediterranean (EMED) have attracted limited research effort compared with other Mediterranean basins. Over the last two decades, the Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR) has coordinated and participated in numerous projects and expeditions investigating seabed features and wrecks in the EMED. Within the DEEPEASTMED project archive video material recorded by remotely operated vehicles (ROVs), towed video systems and a manned submarine was assessed for the occurrence of benthic fauna with a special focus on protected and indicator taxa for Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs). The examined video material (250 hours) covered 36 sites spanning from the Eastern Ionian to the Levantine Sea and a bathymetric range of 200-1560 m. A total of 46 vulnerable invertebrate taxa were identified, including several rare and new records. These findings provide a baseline for further surveys tailored towards more quantitative and qualitative assessments of VMEs in the EMED.

**Key-words:** biodiversity, sponges, corals, sessile invertebrates, Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems, bathyal zone

#### Introduction

Sessile benthic communities in the deep waters (>200 m) of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea (EMED) have attracted limited research effort compared with other Mediterranean basins. More specifically, in contrast to the Western and Central Mediterranean Sea, there is very little information available from underwater video material concerning deep-water biodiversity and Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs) of the EMED. To this end, the aim of this work was to identify vulnerable sessile invertebrates in archive video material and highlight their presence in the deep waters of this understudied marine area.

#### Materials and methods

Over the last decades, the Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR) has coordinated and/or participated in numerous research projects and expeditions investigating deep-sea resources, seabed features and wrecks in the EMED, for scientific and operational purposes. Within the DEEPEASTMED project (coordinated by IUCN and HCMR) archive video material, recorded by remotely operated vehicles (ROVs), towed video systems and a manned submarine, was assessed for the presence and abundance of benthic fauna with a special focus on protected and indicator taxa for VMEs. The examined video material (250 hours of dive time) covered 36 sites from the Eastern Ionian to the Levantine Basin and a bathymetric range of 200-1560 m.

## Results

A total of 46 sessile invertebrate taxa were identified, which belong to six major groups (16 Porifera, 24 Cnidaria, 1 Annelida, 2 Echinodermata, 1 Brachiopoda, and 2 Ascidiacea). Numerous rare and new findings were included among these records. The sponge *Phakellia* sp., the gorgonians *Acanthogorgia hirsuta* and *Vininella flagellum* were recorded for the first time across the EMED and the Greek waters. The glass sponges *Farrea* sp. and *Tretodictyum reiswigi* and the lithistid sponge *Leiodermatium* sp. were found for the second time in the EMED. Other notable records were the lithistid *Neophrissospongia* sp. and several vulnerable anthozoans with a restricted number of records in the EMED. These included the actiniarian *Amphianthus dohrnii*, the corallimorpharian *Sideractis glacialis*, the black corals *Antipathella subpinnata*, *Leiopathes glaberrima* and *Parantipathes larix*, the gorgonian *Callogorgia verticillata* and the seapen *Kophobelemnon stelliferum*. Furthermore, aggregations of siboglinid annelids (*Lamellibrachia* sp.) were found to be associated with cold seeps off the Nile Delta.

In addition to these records, interesting ecological habits were observed for several taxa. The scleractinian *Desmophyllum dianthus* formed dense aggregations on the sides or under-hangings of rocks (573-632 m, Antikythera, Eastern Ionian). The cold-water yellow coral *Dendrophyllia cornigera* was found building extensive frames, mainly consisting of coral rubble and few living colonies (540 m depth, Kimolos-Sifnos Strait, South Aegean). A facies of the yellow gorgonian *Eunicella cavolini* was recorded at 200 m, off the north coast of Crete (South Aegean), close to its deepest bathymetric edge. Abundant sponge assemblages, Cerianthidae fields and facies of ascidians, often monospecific, were recorded in different volcanic areas (Paphsanias, Kolumbo and Santorini volcanos) of the South Aegean.

It should be noted that more than half (25 taxa - 54%) of the recorded taxa were identified only at higher taxonomic levels (genus, family, order or even class) or as morphological categories (e.g., lollipop and massive-tubular sponges), due to limitations in visual identification, suggesting a much higher hidden species diversity.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The finding of a rich and highly unknown invertebrate diversity in the examined archive video material, often in high abundances and including several VME indicator taxa, in agreement with previous studies (e.g., Gerovasileiou *et al.*, 2019), is pointing to the deep EMED being far richer and more diverse than previously thought. This work, along with additional data from Otero & Mytilineou (2022), provides a baseline for future surveys tailored towards quantitative and qualitative sampling for accurate spatial and taxonomic characterization, as well as ecological state assessment of deep-water fauna, in the light of current and future anthropogenic impacts (e.g., offshore oil and gas exploration activities, various pipes and cables).

- GEROVASILEIOU V., SMITH C.J., KIPARISSIS S., STAMOULI C., DOUNAS C., MYTILINEOU CH. (2019) Updating the distribution status of the critically endangered bamboo coral *Isidella elongata* (Esper, 1788) in the deep Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Reg. Stud. Mar. Sci.*, 28: 100610.
- OTERO M., MYTILINEOU C. (2022) Deep-sea Atlas of the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. IUCN-HCMR DeepEastMed Project, IUCN Gland, Malaga: 371 pp.

Antonio GIOVA, CANESE S., TOMA M., ROMEO T., GRECO S. Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn (SZN), Villa Comunale, 80121, Naples, Italy <u>E-mail: antonio.giova@szn.it</u>

# ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF THE SEA ANEMONE AMPHIANTHUS DOHRNII IN THE NORTHERN SICILY CHANNEL

#### Abstract

The anemone Amphianthus dohrnii (Koch, 1878) is a small opportunistic epibiont known to colonize a large variety of host species. The species is widely distributed in the eastern Atlantic Ocean and in the Mediterranean Sea, from mesophotic habitats to bathyal depths. Despite being very common, information on its ecology is currently scarce and scattered. The dataset used in this study was obtained during a ROV survey carried out in a wide area of the northern Sicily Channel. In total, 1369 specimens of A. dohrnii were counted. 82.9% of the specimens were observed colonizing dead branches of both living and dead corals, particularly bamboo corals (Isididae), Callogorgia verticillata, Paramuricea hirsuta, Leiopathes glaberrima and Madrepora oculata. Wrecks appear to be also a suitable substrate for A. dohrnii (14.9% of the records). 75.8% of the individuals were observed growing on the dead skeletons of bamboo corals, whose high availability may be related to a poor health status of the population.

Key-words: ROV-imaging, Sicily Channel, Amphianthus dohrnii, epibiosis, ecology

#### Introduction

The sea anemone *Amphianthus dohrnii* is an epibiont suspension feeder, about 10 mm in diameter across the disk (Hiscock et al., 2011). It is widely distributed in North-eastern Atlantic Ocean and eastern Mediterranean Sea, from mesophotic habitats to bathyal depths. The species is known to colonize a large variety of substrates (Mastrototaro et al., 2016; Patzner, 2004; Pierdomenico et al., 2018; Taviani et al., 2019). The present study aims to collect information, currently scarce and scattered, about the ecology and habitat preferences of *A. dohrnii*, observed in a vast area hosting a great habitat diversity (e.g., muddy planes, coral mounds, animal forests, rocky cliffs).

#### Materials and methods

During an extensive oceanographic campaign conducted between September and November 2021 under the MedWind project, an area of 1651 km<sup>2</sup> in the northern Sicily Channel was explored through 140 ROV video transects, from 140 m to 950 m depth. The data collected during the video analysis included the number of individuals, with information about geographic position, depth and substrate, and the number of individuals on every hosts.

#### Results

A total of 1369 specimens of *Amphianthus dohrnii* were observed in 19 dives, at depths ranging from 142 m to 787 m. The anemone was mainly found as epibiont of habitat-forming anthozoans and bivalves (76% of the records) (Fig. 1), with two specimens observed on *Scyliorhinus* sp. eggs. The remaining specimens were found on rock (3 specimens), on the broadside of wrecks (204), and on a ghost net entangled on a wreck (25).



Fig. 1 Percentage of Amphianthus dohrnii on different biogenic substrates

1038 individuals were found on bamboo corals (Isididae), 56 on *Callogorgia verticillata*, 14 on *Leiopathes glaberrima*, 14 on the oyster *Neopycnodonte zibrowii*, 8 on *Madrepora oculata*, and 5 on *Paramuricea hirsuta*. The species was abundant on necrotic corals at times covering stems and branches entirely. It reached the abundance of 33 individuals on a single skeleton of an Isididae and 11 individuals on a necrotic colony of *C. verticillata*. Furthermore, bamboo corals hosted 75.8% of all the recorded specimens of *A. dohrnii* and represented 90.2% of all the counted hosts. The rate of epibiosis (colonized colonies/total of colonies) on Isididae ranged from 0% in healthy forests to 51.2% in forests with a poor health status.

## **Discussion and Conclusions**

*Amphianthus dohrnii* turns out to be a strongly opportunist species able to colonize different substrates with a high exposure to nutrient-rich currents, with a marked preference for anthozoan hosts. The colonization of corals usually occurs on dead or damaged colonies, although it has been rarely observed on apparently healthy colonies. Concerning the dominance of bamboo corals as hosts, it may depend on several factors including the poor health conditions of the forests, here highly impacted by trawling and sedimentation. Overall, it must be pointed out that ROV video analysis carries the risk of underestimating small or cryptic species.

- HISCOCK K., BAYLEY D., PADE N., COX E., LACEY C. (2011) A recovery/conservation programme for marine species of conservation importance. *Natural England Commissioned Reports*, 65: 245 pp.
- MASTROTOTARO F., AGUILAR R., CHIMIENTI G., GRAVILI C., BOERO F. (2016) The rediscovery of *Rosalinda incrustans* (Cnidaria: hydrozoa) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Ital. J. Zool.*, 83(2): 244-247.
- PIERDOMENICO M., RUSSO T., AMBROSO S., GORI A., MARTORELLI E., D'ANDREA L., GILI J.M., CHIOCCI F.L. (2018) - Effects of trawling activity on the bamboo-coral *Isidella elongata* and the sea pen *Funiculina quadrangularis* along the Gioia Canyon (Western Mediterranean, southern Tyrrhenian Sea). *Prog. Oceanogr.*, 169: 214-226.
- PATZNER R. A. (2004) Associations with sea anemones in the Mediterranean Sea: a review. *Ophelia*, 58(1): 1-11.
- TAVIANI M., ANGELETTI L., CARDONE F., MONTAGNA P., DANOVARO R. (2019) A unique and threatened deep water coral-bivalve biotope new to the Mediterranean Sea offshore the Naples megalopolis. *Sci. rep.-UK*, 9(1): 1-12.

# Antonio LAGUDI, BRUNO F., COLLINA M., ROSSI L., RENDE S.F., ANGIOLILLO M.

Department of Mechanical, Energy, and Management Engineering, University of Calabria, Italy.

E-Mail: antonio.lagudi@unical.it

# A PHOTOGRAMMETRIC APPROACH TO EVALUATE THE ECOLOGICAL STATUS OF COLD-WATER CORALS: FIRST RESULTS FROM THE ITALIAN MONITORING WITHIN THE MARINE STRATEGY FRAMEWORK DIRECTIVE

#### Abstract

Cold-water Corals (CWCs) can form complex and extensive three-dimensional ecosystems, holding a key role in deep environments. Despite being identified as Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs) because they are threatened by numerous anthropogenic impacts, quantitative data on their conservation status is very limited. In this context, the aim of this study aimed to assess the potentiality offered by 3D photogrammetry as a monitoring tool for evaluating the ecological status of CWC habitats. Data were collected in the Dohrn Canyon, Gulf of Naples (Tyrrhenian Sea), during the first year of the CWC monitoring campaign within the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) implementation in Italy. Results showed that this technology could be profitably used to evaluate habitat condition and integrity. However, an accurate 3D survey campaign is mandatory if fine-scale structural complexity data has to be collected.

**Key-words:** 3D photogrammetry, Cold-Water Corals (CWCs), Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), Mediterranean Sea, ROV-imaging.

#### Introduction

Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals (CWCs) include a large variety of habitat-forming species thriving below 200 m and contributing to the formation of complex, vulnerable habitats, playing a significant ecological role (Chimienti *et al.*, 2019; Roberts *et al.*, 2006). In order to acquire quantitative data on their conservation status, CWCs are included in the Italian monitoring programs of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, 2008/56/EC). This research describes the first results obtained by applying a 3D photogrammetric approach (Rossi *et al.*, 2021) to evaluate the ecological status of CWC habitats. The aim was to assess the potentiality of this technology to be used as a monitoring tool in the context of the MSFD Italian monitoring context.

#### Materials and methods

The experimentation was carried out in August-September 2020, during a monitoring campaign performed using a Perseo (L3 Calzoni) Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV) in the Dohrn Canyon, Gulf of Naples (Tyrrhenian Sea). Videos and photos collected during two dives were used to reconstruct, in 3-dimensions, two selected areas in the canyon where two target species (*Madrepora oculata* and *Lophelia pertusa*) were settled. 3D models were processed to measure specific parameters useful to be integrated into the MSFD evaluation criteria, specifically "Colony heights" (size structures) and "Density" of target species.

## Results

A total area of 45 m<sup>2</sup> was reconstructed. A total number of 92 colonies were counted and measured. The density was 2.53 col. m<sup>-2</sup> and 0.3 col. m<sup>-2</sup> in Dive 1 and 2, respectively, whereas the average size (height) was 9.7 cm and 6.4 cm (Fig. 1). No significant difference was revelated with respect to the imaging analysis.



Fig. 1 Example of the 3D model created in this study. (A-C): close-up images extracted from the photogrammetric dataset.

# **Discussion and conclusions**

The preliminary results demonstrate that photogrammetry could be profitably used to evaluate habitat condition and integrity, providing quantitative, replicable parameters useful for long-term monitoring. This technological approach can be especially applied to vulnerable benthic habitats settled on rocky outcrops with complex topography. However, an accurate 3D survey campaign has to be planned to solve some issues in data acquisition and obtain 3D reconstructions with a higher level of detail (with a centimetric accuracy), which is essential for measuring structural complexity and increasing data comparability.

- CHIMIENTI G., BO M., TAVIANI M., MASTROTOTARO F. (2019) Occurrence and biogeography of Mediterranean cold-water corals. *In:* Orejas C., Jiménez C. (eds) *Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future. Coral Reefs of the World*, vol 9, Springer, Cham: 213-243.
- ROBERTS J.M., WHEELER A.J., FREIWALD A. (2006). Reefs of the Deep: The Biology and Geology of Cold-Water Coral Ecosystems. *Science*, 312: 543–547.
- ROSSI P., PONTI M., RIGHI S., CASTAGNETTI C., SIMONINI R., MANCINI F., AGRAFIOTIS P., BASSANI L., BRUNO F., CERRANO C., CIGNONI P., CORSINI M., DRAP P., DUBBINI M., GARRABOU J., GORI A., GRACIAS N., LEDOUX J.-B., LINARES C., PULIDO MANTAS T., MENNA F., NOCERINO E., PALMA M., PAVONI G., RIDOLFI A., ROSSI S., SKARLATOS D., TREIBITZ T., TURICCHIA E., YUVAL M., CAPRA A. (2021) - Needs and gaps in optical underwater technologies and methods for the investigation of marine animal forest 3D-structural complexity. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 8: 591-292.

**Torcuato PULIDO MANTAS, CALCINAI B., COPPARI M., DI CAMILLO G., MARCHESI V., MARROCCO T., PUCE S., ROVETA C., CERRANO C.** Department of Life and Environmental Sciences, Polytechnic University of Marche, Italy. <u>E-mail: t.pulido@pm.univpm.it</u>

# **3D MAPPING OF A MARINE CAVE, THE IMPORTANCE OF ESTABLISHING A BASELINE**

#### Abstract

Marine caves are only a small fraction of Mediterranean marine environments, where they represent fundamental biodiversity hotspots. The rise of new technologies, i.e., Structure from Motion (SfM) photogrammetry, gives the opportunity to overcome the equipment limitation issues in sampling these peculiar ecosystems. In this context, we investigated the application of SfM to assess the benthic communities of Grotta Azzurra (Ancona, Adriatic Sea), focussing on the characterization of its assemblage. A photographic sampling was performed from which high-resolution orthomosaics were produced, and 5 phyla were accounted for the walls' segmentation, with Porifera being the most diverse and dominant taxa. SfM allowed the characterization of cave's benthic assemblages, setting a baseline to identify possible community shifts over time due to climatic or anthropic pressures.

Key-words: Habitat mapping, marine cave, sponge community, conservation, photogrammetry.

#### Introduction

Although marine caves are only a small fraction of Mediterranean marine environments, they are considered biodiversity hotspots, acting as a reservoir for many endemic species, especially sponges (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). Traditional approaches to survey underwater caves are still employed due to the equipment limitations and strict safety protocols of cave diving (Iliffe & Bowen, 2001). The rise of new technologies, such as Structure from Motion (SfM) photogrammetry, gives now the opportunity to obtain a detailed three-dimensional digital reconstruction from a series of overlapping images. In this context, the current study investigates the application of this technique to assess the assemblages inside a small and shallow marine cave, obtaining a baseline to document possible shifts in the community composition due to climate warming and anthropic pressures.

#### Material and methods

Grotta Azzurra is a semi-submerged, tunnel-shaped cave, located at Ancona (Adriatic Sea). This cave is 15 m in length and has a maximum depth of 4.5 m at the entrance, with the floor mainly made of gravel and small rocks. A photographic sampling of the cave was performed during September 2021, using a GoPro HERO8 Black equipped with two AKKIN 5000 underwater lights. From the series of 3,600 overlapping images, a high-resolution orthomosaic of each wall was produced using Agisoft Photoscan software (Agisoft LLC., St. Petersburg, Russia). The area covered by the various taxa was quantified from the orthomosaics using the QGIS software (QGIS.org, 2022). Two ecological zones, the entrance and the semi-dark zone, were considered for the cover quantification.

#### Results

A total of 19 benthic taxa were identified, including Rhodophyta (2), Porifera (13), Cnidaria (1), Echinodermata (1) and Tunicata (2). With the exemption of Rhodophyta, all

taxa were present along the entire cave, even though a gradual change in their coverage could be recorded through the walls (Fig. 1). As expected, the sponge community was predominant through the cave, followed by the red algae in the entrance and by hydroid assemblages in the semi-dark zone (Fig. 1b,c). A clear increase in the cover of the bare substrate is also evident through the deeper dark part of the cave (Fig. 1b,c).



Fig. 1: Schema of the benthic taxa coverage of Grotta Azzurra's walls. a) Total cover of the whole cave; b) benthic coverage along the entrance of the cave; c) sessile coverage along the semi-dark zone of the cave.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The establishment of a first baseline is crucial to identify community changes during the current climate crisis (Garrabou et al., 2019). SfM-Photogrammetry demonstrated to be a suitable non-invasive technique to record the benthic communities covering the 60 m<sup>2</sup> of substrate present in Grotta Azzurra's walls. Nevertheless, it showed a few limitations: i) for some taxa, invasive sampling approaches must be coupled to arrive at the species-level identification; ii) in the darker parts of the cave, a good illumination system is crucial to obtain quality images. In fact, in this study case, the areas not-clear enough to be segmented represented only the 2.87% of the orthomosaics and were mainly located in the inner part of the semi-dark zone.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Polytechnic University of Marche (Ricerca Scientifica di Ateneo).

#### **Bibliography**

- GARRABOU J., GÓMEZ-GRAS D., LEDOUX J.-B., LINARES C., BENSOUSSAN N., LÓPEZ-SENDINO P., BAZAIRI H., ESPINOSA F., RAMDANI M., GRIMES S., BENABDI M., BEN SOUISSI J., SOUFI E., KHAMASSI F., GHANEM R., OCAÑA O., RAMOS-ESPLÀ A., IZQUIERDO A., ANTON I., RUBIO-PORTILLO E., BARBERA CARMEN, C. EMMA, MARBÀ N., HENDRIKS I.E., DUARTE C.M., DEUDERO S., DÍAZ D., VÁZQUEZ-LUIS M., ALVAREZ E., HEREU B., KERSTING D.K., GORI A., VILADRICH N., SARTORETTO S., PAIRAUD I., RUITTON S., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., ROUANET E., TEIXIDÓ N., GATTUSO J.-P., FRASCHETTI S., RIVETTI I., AZZURRO E., CERRANO C., PONTI M., TURICCHIA E., BAVESTRELLO G., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BO M., BERTOLINO M., MONTEFALCONE M., CHIMIENTI G., GRECH D., RILOV G., TUNEY KIZILKAYA I., KIZILKAYA Z., EDA TOPÇU N., GEROVASILEIOU V., SINI M., BAKRAN-PETRICIOLI T., KIPSON S., HARMELIN J.-G. (2019) Collaborative database to track mass mortality events in the Mediterranean Sea. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 6, 707.
- GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C.N. (2021) Mediterranean marine caves: a synthesis of current knowledge. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Ann. Rev., 59: 1-88.

ILIFFE T.M., BOWEN C. (2001) - Scientific Cave Diving. Mar. Technol. Soc. J., 35(2): 36-41.

#### Carla QUILES-PONS, BAENA I., CALVO-MANAZZA M., DE LA BALLINA N.R., DÍEZ S., GOÑI R., MALLOL S., MARESCA F., MORATÓ M., MUÑOZ A., PRADO E., REAL E., SÁNCHEZ F., DÍAZ D.

Instituto Español de Oceanografía (CN-IEO-CSIC), Muelle de Poniente s/n, 07015, Mallorca, Islas Baleares, Spain.

E-mail: carla.quiles@ieo.csic.es

# MONITORING THE COMPLEX BENTHIC HABITAT IN SEMI-DARK UNDERWATER MARINE CAVES USING PHOTOGRAMMETRY-BASED 3D RECONSTRUCTIONS

#### Abstract

In the present study, we aim to build a monitoring framework to evaluate changes in cave community assemblages using a novel, non-invasive technique named Structure-from-Motion (SfM) photogrammetry. This method relies on images acquired by video footage to build fine-scaled 3D digital models of the substrate using overlapping imagery. We carried out two surveys by scuba diving in June 2019 and November 2021 in a marine cave highly frequented by divers, located in Illa de l'Aire (Balearic Islands, Spain) to evaluate the effectiveness of this methodology. As a result, we found a loss of 12 colonies of bryozoans with erect skeletons and 5 individual sponges with globose morphotypes. We could also observe the appearance of 7 new colonies and the increase in the size of 30 colonies of the bryozoan Schizoretepora serratimargo (Hincks, 1886). Our results indicate that this methodology enables accurate and efficient monitoring of benthic communities in underwater caves, allowing us to better understand their dynamics and, therefore, to develop the necessary management measures.

Key-words: 3D digital models, marine caves, structure-from-motion, monitoring

#### Introduction

Marine caves are dark environments considered a priority habitat for conservation included in the EU Habitats Directive (H8330). They harbor fragile benthic communities and represent a major reservoir of marine biodiversity (Gerovasileiou & Voultsiadou, 2012). However, there is a lack of knowledge of these habitats due to the difficulties of creating detailed benthic maps and characterizing the biodiversity, structure, and dynamics of their communities. This study aims to build a monitoring framework to characterize the structure and temporal dynamics of marine caves using SfM photogrammetry. SfM is a novel, non-invasive technique that relies on images acquired by video footage to build fine-scaled 3D digital models of the substrate using overlapping imagery (Fonstad *et al.*, 2013).

#### Materials and methods

Sampling took place in a semidark underwater marine cave highly frequented by divers in Illa de l'Aire (Balearic Islands, Spain). We installed a permanent longitudinal transect of 9 meters in length delimited by polyamide screws fixed with water-resistant polyvalent putty on the surface of the cave and recorded it by scuba diving in June 2019 and November 2021. Photogrammetry reconstructions were built using Pix4D MapperPro software and compared with CloudCompare software.

# Results

We identify a total of 27 species. In order to analyze the temporal dynamics, we focus on the bryozoa and some sponges. We found a loss of 12 colonies of erect bryozoans with fragile skeletons and 5 individual sponges with globose morphotypes. In addition, we were also able to observe the growth of 7 new colonies and the increase in the size of 30 colonies of the bryozoan *S. serratimargo* (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: A) 3D point cloud from June 2019 and November 2021. B) Map of estimated height difference between the two point clouds (values between  $\pm$  15 cm) using Multiscale Model to Model Cloud Comparison (M3C2) plug-in included in CloudCompare software (red colours indicates growth and blue colour indicates losses). C) Detail of two specimens of *S. serratimargo* in the 2019 and 2021 3D point clouds.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Our results indicate that this methodology produces a detailed 3D reconstruction of the marine cave surface which allows us to easily visualize and identify changes in benthic organisms over time. Thus, this technique enables accurate and efficient monitoring of benthic communities in underwater caves that lead to a better understanding of their dynamics and, therefore, to the development of the necessary management measures.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was carried out in the framework of the LIFE IP INTEMARES project (LIFE15 IPE/ES/000012), and the support of the Estació d'Investigació Jaume Ferrer – La Mola.

# Bibliography

GEROVASILEIOU V., VOULTSIADOU E. (2012) - Marine caves of the Mediterranean Sea: a sponge biodiversity reservoir within a biodiversity hotspot. *PLoS One*, 7: e39873.

FONSTAD M. A., DIETRICH J. T., COURVILLE B. C., JENSEN J. L., CARBONNEAU P. E. (2013) -Topographic structure from motion: a new development in photogrammetric measurement. *Earth surface processes and Landforms*, 38: 421-430.16

## Alfonso A. RAMOS-ESPLÁ, AGUILAR R., GIMENEZ-CASALDUERO F., BELLIDO J.M., TERRONES B., BARCALA E., COBO-VIVEROS A.M., CARMONA A., GUIJARRO-GARCÍA E.

Department of Marine Science and Applied Biology, University of Alicante, Spain <u>E-mail: alfonso.ramos@ua.es</u>

# BATHYAL MEGABENTHIC ASSEMBLAGES IN THE SE IBERIAN PENINSULA (WESTERN MEDITERRANEAN SEA)

#### Abstract

Nineteen megabenthic assemblages have been identified in the SE Iberian area by analysing ROV transects (183-1735m depth) during the LIFE IP Intemares project, based on habitat-forming species and their abundance, substratum type (hard, soft), sediment cover and depth.

**Key-words**: Continental slope, benthic community, facies, hard and soft bottom, vulnerable ecosystems.

#### Introduction

The Iberian SE is an interesting transition and connectivity zone between the Alboran Sea and the Algerian-Balearic basin. It hosts important deep water fisheries targeting mostly red shrimp (*Aristeus antennatus*). The area comprises a complex system of tectonic canyons (Mazarron Escarpment), seamounts, knolls and hills (Palos, Planazo, Plis-Plas), and pockmark fields (Acosta *et al.*, 2013). Few studies have been conducted on the bathyal megabenthos, unlike in the neighbouring Chella Bank (De la Torriente *et al.* 2018) and Balearic Islands (Massuti *et al.* 2022). The LIFE IP Intemares project is filling this gap.

#### Material and methods

The study area is in the Iberian SE region, off the Alicante and Murcia coasts. Based on detailed cartography obtained with a multibeam echo sounder and prior faunal sampling by diverse methods, a selection of sites was prospected in 2020 with IEO ROV Liropus-2000 between 183 and 1735m depth.

#### **Results and discussion**

Hard bottoms: i) upper bathyal horizon (180-350m depth) with *Neopycnodonte cochlear-Megerlia truncata*, *Ellisella flagellum*, *Antipathes dichotoma*; ii) middle bathyal horizon (350-650m) with Demospongiae (*Pachastrella*, *Phakellia*, *Aaptos*), small gorgonians (*Brebyce*, *Swiftia*, *Nicella*, *Dendrobranchia*) and large gorgonians (*Acanthogorgia*, *Placogorgia*, *Villogorgia*, *Paramuricea*), *Leptometra phalangium*, cold-water corals (*Desmophyllum*, *Madrepora*), Hexactinellida (*Farrea*, *Tretodyction*), Antipatharia (*Antipathella*, *Leiopathes*, *Parantipathes*); lower bathyal horizon (> 600m) with *Dicopia antirrhinum* facies, 645-1167m. The *Chironephthya mediterranea* facies can reach 614m depth, and there are live individuals of *Neopycnodonte zibrowii* between 422 and 602m. <u>Soft bottoms</u> (mud, sandy-mud): i) upper bathyal horizon (180-350m) with Ceriantharia and *Gryphus vitreus*; middle bathyal horizon (350-600m) with Pennatulacea (*Funiculina*, *Kophobelemnon*), *Thenea muricata* and *Isidella elongata*. Ubiquitous *Pelosina* cf. *arborescens* facies throughout the middle and lower bathyal (388-1322m).

The bathyal zone of the SE Iberian Peninsula has been little studied (Massutí *et al.* 1975) and harbours diverse benthic assemblages, similar to neighbouring areas (De la Torriente *et al.*, 2018; Massutí *et al.*, 2022) but with certain peculiarities. *Asconema setubalense* (present in Chella Bank) has not been detected. The assemblages including cold-water corals, antipatharians, *Leptometra, Funiculina* and *Isidella* fall within the category of Natura 2000 priority habitats (1170, 1180) and Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (FAO, 2016). Other species are listed as threatened or endangered in Annex II of UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC (2018).

# Acknowledgements

Study carried out within the EU-funded project LIFE IP Intemares (https://intemares.es/)

- ACOSTA J., FONTAN A., MUÑOZ A., MUÑOZ-MARTIN A., RIVERA J., UCHUPI E. (2013) -The morpho-tectonic setting of the Southeast margin of Iberia and the adjacent oceanic Algero-Balearic Basin. *Marine and Petroleum Geology*, 45: 17–41.
- DE LA TORRIENTE A., SERRANO A., FERNANDEZ-SALAS L.M., GARCIA M., AGUILAR R. (2018) -Identifying epibenthic habitats on the Seco de los Olivos Seamount: Species assemblages and environmental characteristics. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 135: 9–22.
- FAO (2016) Vulnerable marine ecosystems Processes and practices in the high seas. In: THOMPSON A.B., SANDERS J., TANDSTAD M., CAROCCI F., FULLER J. L. (eds.). FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Papers 595: 185 pp.
- MASSUTÍ E, SÁNCHEZ-GUILLAMÓN O, FARRIOLS MT, PALOMINO D, FRANK A, BÁRCENAS P., RINCÓN B., MARTÍNEZ-CARREÑO N, KELLER S., LÓPEZ-RODRÍGUEZ C., DÍAZ J.A., LÓPEZ-GONZÁLEZ N., MARCO-HERRERO E., FERNANDEZ-ARCAYA U., VALLS M., RAMÍREZ-AMARO S., FERRAGUT F., JOHER S., ORDINAS F., VÁZQUEZ J.-T. (2022) - "Improving Scientific Knowledge of Mallorca Channel Seamounts (Western Mediterranean) within the Framework of Natura 2000 Network" *Diversity* 14(1): 4. https://doi.org/10.3390/d14010004
- MASSUTI M., MASSÓ C., FERNÁNDEZ C., OLIVER P. (1975) Prospecciones pesqueras en el Sureste español. Biocenosis del talud continental *Trabajos del Instituto Español de Oceanografía*. Nº 40: 99 pp.
- UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC, 2018. SAP/RAC: SPA-BD Protocol Annex II: List of endangered or threatened species.

# Maurizio SPACCAVENTO, TURSI A., MONTESANTO F., MASTROTOTARO F., CHIMIENTI G.

University of Bari, Department of Biology, Via Orabona 4, 70125 Bari, ITALY. <u>E-mail: m.spaccavento6@studenti.uniba.it</u>

# MONITORING TOURISTIC, SEMI-SUBMERGED CAVES AT TREMITI ISLANDS MPA (ADRIATIC SEA)

#### Abstract

Semi-submerged marine caves are habitats of great aesthetic and conservation value that are often threatened by numerous touristic activities. Through a non-invasive approach, the potential impact of tourism on benthic community in two semi-submerged marine caves at Tremiti Islands Marine Protected Area was quantified, before and after the touristic season, comparing benthos coverages. The touristic flow and tourists' activities inside the most accessible of the two caves were also evaluated. Our analyses did not reveal any short-term impact in terms of direct damage to the habitat and species. However, we observed some activities, which could affect benthic communities over time. A management plan is needed in order to encourage a more ecological use of caves, counteracting negative human behaviour for benthic communities.

Key-words: Benthic communities, tourism, recreational boating, management, conservation

#### Introduction

Semi-submerged marine caves are important hotspots of biodiversity among coastalhabitats, present in most marine protected areas (MPAs) throughout the Mediterranean basin (Abdulla *et al.*, 2008). Due to their accessibility, they represent an important touristic attraction, but certain toruistic activities can alter the peculiar benthic communities that inhabit the caves (Gerovasileiou & Bianchi, 2021). Albeit these habitats are protected, specific regulations and/or management plans are often missing. In this study we assess the short-term effects of anthropogenic impacts during 2021 touristic season on the benthic communities of the two most visited semi-submerged caves of Tremiti Islands MPA (Adriatic Sea), where 29 marine caves have been registered thus far (Cicogna *et al.*, 2003). To assess the extent of anthropogenic pressures, a monitoring of the touristic frequentation during the season (June to September) was also carried out.

#### Materials and methods

Surveys were carried out on May and November 2021 through horizontal video transects carried out with SCUBA diving along the right and left walls of each cave using a 4k video camera equipped with suitable lighting system and two lasers for metric reference.

Due to the different depths of the seabed, different replicate transects were performed in the two caves, three in Viole cave (at 1.5 m, 4 m and 8 m) and two in Rondinelle cave (at 3.5m and 6 m). About 20 frames were captured from each video transect and analysed using photoQuad software. A standard area of 400 cm<sup>2</sup> was extracted in the centre of each image, then the area occupied by each taxon, identified at the lowest possible taxonomic level, was estimated as area (cm<sup>2</sup>) and percent coverage. The results were validated through Shapiro-Wilk and Kruskal-Wallis tests, using Past 4.03 software. Touristic frequentation for the summer season 2021 (June to September) was estimated only at Viole cave, the most accessible for boats and the most visited one. It involved two surveys

during weekdays and two during weekend/holidays, carried out every two weeks. Information about the number, size and type of boats entering the cave were collected. For each month, the daily data were averaged to obtain the average values for both weekdays and weekend. These values were then multiplied by the total number of days with marine weather conditions that allowed visits to the cave.

#### Results

The benthic community at the entrance of both caves was generally dominated by green algae (e.g. Cladophora spp.), brown algae (e.g. Dictyota spp. and Padina spp.) and the erect red algae Ellisolandia elongata. A similar benthic composition occurred at the end of both caves, due to the collapse of their ceilings, which exposes to sunlight their terminal portions. The low light zones inside the caves were mostly dominated by encrusting red algae (e.g. Peyssonnelia and Lithophyllum genera), the sciaphilic green algae Pseudochlorodesmis furcellata and Palmophyllum crassum, the patchy presence of the zoanthid Parazoanthus axinellae and several unidentified sponges. Dark zones, particularly present in cervices and small fractures in the central area of the caves, were uniquely dominated by sponges. The total area covered by the benthos in each sampling unit was  $98 \pm 1$  % (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation). The Kruskal-Wallis test showed no significant differences between the average covers of each transect in May and November and in the comparison among the average coverage of the observed macro-categories and the total cover percentages performed for the single sampling units in the two survey periods. Considering the touristic frequentation of Viole cave, more than 5,100 boats were estimated to visit the cave during summer 2021, with more than 75,800 visitors.

#### **Discussion and Conclusions**

The touristic frequentation during summer did not alter significantly the composition of the percent coverage at macro-taxa level. Considering that benthic communities in semisubmerged caves are quite stable in terms of composition, we can infer that no short-time changes have been observed. Some human activities in the caves, including anchoring, could affect the marine community over time. To ensure the conservation of semisubmerged caves and a sustainable use for touristic purposes of such a resource for the local population, a management plan is needed. It should include the installation of a mooring buoy system right outside the entrance, in order to foster a non-motored visit inside the cave (e.g. swimming, kayaking, SUP), which is now discouraged by the high number of boats visiting the caves. On the contrary, the access of local touristic boats, driven by professional boat pilots, allows the visit of 30-50 persons per time with short stops, limiting the number of private boats and the risks due to improper manoeuvres conducted by inexperienced boaters.

#### Bibliography

ABDULLA A., GOMEI M., MAISON E., PIANTE C. (2008) - *Status of Marine Protected Areas in the Mediterranean Sea*. International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Malaga and World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), Paris: 152 pp.

CICOGNA F., BIANCHI C.N., FERRARI G., FORTI P. (2003) - *Grotte marine: cinquant'anni di ricerca in Italia*. CLEM, Ministero dell'Ambiente e della Tutela del Territorio, Roma: 505 pp.

GEROVASILEIOU V., BIANCHI C. (2021) - Mediterranean marine caves: A synthesis of current knowledge. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev.*, 59: 1-88.

# Margherita TOMA, BAVESTRELLO G., BETTI F., CANESE S., ANGIOLILLO M., CAU A., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M.

Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita (DISTAV), Università degli Studi di Genova, Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genova, Italy <u>E-mail: margherita.toma@edu.unige.it</u>

# LARGE-SCALE CHARACTERIZATION OF DEEP MEGAFAUNA: FIVE CASE STUDIES

#### Abstract

Large faunal datasets, derived from the extensive employment of Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs), represent essential tools to evaluate basin-scale biodiversity and distribution patterns of mesophotic and bathyal megabenthic and demersal taxa. In turn, these patterns provide fundamental information to depict the best conservation and management actions. The ROV archive considered in the present study accounts for 654 dives, over 660 hours of video, 29,859 high-resolution pictures and over 700,000 m<sup>2</sup> of explored seafloor, mainly targeting hardgrounds and nearby soft bottoms along the Italian coasts. Videos and photos were used to record the presence of species in each considered site, their depth of occurrence, the habitat characteristics (e.g., substrate and slope), and any other useful ecological feature. Five different large-scale studies targeting charismatic taxa of megafauna are presented here as examples of the potentialities derived from the analysis of such archive.

**Key-words**: ROV-imaging, Vulnerable Marine Ecosystems (VMEs), megabenthos, distribution, Mediterranean Sea

#### Introduction

Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs) have been widely employed in the past 15 years along the Mediterranean coasts, mainly between 40 and 800 m, supporting numerous studies on deep biocoenoses, with specific attention to coralligenous concretions, mesophotic animal forests and bathyal habitats dominated by cold-water corals (e.g., Rossi *et al.*, 2017; Orejas *et al.*, 2019). This large effort contributed to enhancing the knowledge about dark Mediterranean habitats, whose classification has been recently revised and updated in the SPA/RAC manual (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2021). The Italian ROV archive used here, obtained from over 45 surveys carried out from 2006 to 2021 between 40 and 1820 m, provided the unique opportunity to explore a large faunal dataset with the aim to depict basin-scale biodiversity and distribution patterns.

#### Materials and methods

In total, 654 dives, for over 660 hours of video, and 29,859 high-resolution pictures were considered, covering over 700,000 m<sup>2</sup> of seafloor, mainly hardgrounds and nearby soft bottoms, over a latitudinal gradient of 600 NM along the Ligurian and Tyrrhenian coasts and the Sicily Channel. Through the video and photo analysis, the presence ofm egabenthic and megabentho-nektonic taxa was noted for each site, including depth of occurrence, habitat characteristics (e.g., substrate and slope), and any other useful ecological feature, including morphometry of the habitat-forming species and evidence of anthropic impact as well as feeding habits.

#### Results

The five case studies selected to represent the potentialities of the large Italian ROV archive are the following:

i) A total of 565 species have been detected in the entire dataset. Echinoderms represent a particularly rich taxon (40 species), with eight rare species, two recorded for the first time. ii) The large-scale geographical distribution of the precious coral *Corallium rubrum* highlighted the occurrence of a Tyrrhenian hotspot, particularly along the NW Sardinian coasts, and a marked preference for biogenic sub-vertical habitats (Toma *et al.*, 2022). iii) The large-scale bathymetric distribution of the brachiopod populations showed a peak of occurrence in the depth range 150-250 m, also for species mainly considered restricted to shallow water caves. iv) The morphometric analysis of 100 populations of the structuring species *Callogorgia verticillata* highlighted a peak of occurrence in SW Sardinia, with densities up to 8.8 individuals m<sup>-2</sup> and colonies reaching 150 cm in height, with no evidence of human impact. v) The distribution of 7 heterobranchs species generally declines with depth, in accordance with the depletion of the putative preys (Toma *et al.*, 2022).

#### Discussion

Point-like biocoenotic characterizations are fundamental to describe deep assemblages, however large datasets allow giving more complete pictures of basin-scale patterns. Species rarity, for example, a parameter used to define the degree of vulnerability of deep ecosystems, is strongly influenced by the sampling effort. The identification of geographical hotspots and bathymetrical belts of occurrence of sensitive species, together with the definition of their population structure, are fundamental to implement targeted conservation measures such as the definition of protected areas, as required by the European Biodiversity Strategy 2030. Ecological data are useful to refine and verify habitat prediction models, but may also contribute in shedding light on the mechanisms limiting or supporting the colonization of the deep sea for certain taxa.

- MONTEFALCONE M., TUNESI L., OUERGHI A. (2021) A review of the classification systems for marine benthic habitats and the new updated Barcelona Convention classification for the Mediterranean. *Marine Environmental Research*, 169: 105387
- OREJAS C., JIMÉNEZ C. (Eds.). (2019) Mediterranean Cold-Water Corals: Past, Present and Future: Understanding the Deep-Sea Realms of Coral (Vol. 9). Springer, Cham.
- ROSSI S., BRAMANTI L., GORI A., OREJAS C. (eds) (2017) Marine animal forests: the ecology of benthic biodiversity hotspots. Springer, Cham Pub., 1366 pp.
- TOMA M., BO M., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., CANESE S., CANESSA M., CANNAS R., CARDONE F., CARUGATI L., CAU A., CORRIERO G., FOLLESA M.C., MERCURIO M., GRECO S., ANDALORO F., BAVESTRELLO G. (2022) - Basin-scale occurrence and distribution of mesophotic and upper bathyal red coral forests along the Italian coasts. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, 23(3): 484–498.
- TOMA M., BETTI F., BAVESTRELLO G., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., CANESE S., CAU A., ANDALORO F., GRECO S., BO M. (2022) - Diversity and abundance of heterobranchs (Mollusca, Gastropoda) from the mesophotic and bathyal zone of the Mediterranean Sea. *The European Zoological Journal*, 89(1): 167-189.

Margherita TOMA, BO M., CANESE S., GIOVA A., ROMEO T., GRECO S. Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita (DISTAV), Università degli Studi di Genova, Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genova, Italy <u>E-email: margherita.toma@edu.unige.it</u>

# DEEP-SEA ECHINODERMS OF THE SICILY CHANNEL: TWO CASE STUDIES

#### Abstract

Mediterranean echinoderms currently account for 154 species, many of which have been widely studied in coastal ecosystems. Investigations on deep-sea echinoderms, on the contrary, have been challenging in many ways, and very few targeted in situ studies have been carried out so far. Here we took advantage of an extensive ROV survey carried out in the Sicily Channel in 2021 to define the abundance, distribution, ecology and habitat preferences of two highly abundant yet poorly known deep echinoderms found in the explored area, namely the sea star Hymenodiscus coronata (Sars, 1871) and the holothurian Holothuria (Vaneyothuria) lentiginosa lentiginosa Marenzeller, 1892. About 2400 specimens of the brisingid sea star have been counted during the explorations between 150 and 950 m depth supporting the existence of dense bathyal aggregations on muddy planes. Several specimens of the dotted sea cucumber, an Atlantic species recently reported in the basin, were recorded on different substrates between 140 and 356 m, expanding the knowledge on the ecological preferences and bathymetric distribution of this species.

Key-words: ROV-Imaging, Sicily Channel, echinoderms, ecology, habitat preferences

# Introduction

Mediterranean echinoderms represent about the 2% of the global echinoderm diversity, with 154 species recorded until 2010 (Coll *et al.*, 2010), mostly studied in coastal environments. On the contrary, very few targeted *in situ* investigations have been carried out so far in deep ecosystems (e.g., Leonard *et al.*, 2020).

Investigations on deep-sea echinoderms traditionally focused on soft bottoms, sampled through destructive methods (e.g., Mecho *et al.*, 2014). However, with few exceptions (e.g., cidarids and crinoids), deep-sea echinoderms are often scattered on the seafloor, especially on hardgrounds, limiting the chances of being collected. In addition, the analysis of the collected specimens solely does not provide information regarding the species' ecological preferences. In the present study, we took advantage of an extensive Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV) survey to better describe the abundance, distribution, ecology and habitat preferences of two highly abundant yet poorly known deep echinoderms found in the Sicily Channel.

#### Materials and methods

The ROV survey was carried out in the northern Sicily Channel, between September and November 2021. The region is characterized by a complex topography and water circulation, providing various habitat to the benthic fauna and making this area an important hotspot of biodiversity (e.g., Consoli *et al.*, 2021).

Overall, the 140 ROV tracks covered about 260,000 m<sup>2</sup>of seafloor between 150 and 950 m, for over 406 hours of video footage, analysed using OFOP software. In order to define the abundance, distribution and ecology of the two target species (*Hymenodiscus coronata* (Sars, 1871) and *Holothuria (Vaneyothuria) lentiginosa lentiginosa* Marenzeller, 1892), the number of individuals, geographic and bathymetric position,

substrate and additional features were noted. The analysis allowed recording specimens larger than two cm, identified by external morphological features. Specimens collected during the explorations were used to verify the video identifications.

# Results

About 2400 specimens of the *Hymenodiscus coronata* were counted, with a population density of 0.19 individuals m<sup>-2</sup>over the 1km transect considered. The brisingid sea star was observed on horizontal muddy bottoms, between 310 and 714 m, often with its arms lifted in the water current direction. Aggregations of adult and juveniles were observed. Ten specimens of the dotted sea cucumber *Holothuria (Vaneyothuria) lentiginosa lentiginosa* (up to 28 cm long) were recorded on mud, fine and coarse detritic substrates, also dominated by coral forests, between 140 m and 356 m depth.

# Discussion

*Hymenodiscus coronata* is a frequent species in the explored area, thriving on bathyal muddy planes. It creates aggregations with density values higher than those reported in literature for the Mediterranean Sea (Leonard *et al.*, 2020). This species is subjected to high impact in areas characterized by high trawling effort (Massi & Titone, 2017), suggesting that the explored sites are relatively pristine. The nature of the aggregations is

unclear; however, it is probable that, being suspension feeders (Mecho *et al*, 2014), they exploit favorable current conditions.

*Holothuria (Vaneyothuria) lentiginosa lentiginosa* was recently reported in the Mediterranean Sea and along the Italian coasts (Toma & Giova, in press). The observations in the present study expand eastward the known distribution of this rare Atlantic species and extend its bathymetric distribution down to 355 m.

- COLL M., PIRODDI C., STEENBEEK J., KASCHNER K., BEN RAIS LASRAM F., AGUZZI J., BALLESTEROS E., BIANCHI C.N., CORBERA J., DAILIANIS T., DANOVARO R., ESTRADA M., FROGLIA C., GALIL B.S., GASOL J.M., GERTWAGEN R., GIL J., GUILHAUMON F., KESNER-REYES K., KITSOS M.-S., KOUKOURAS A., LAMPADARIOU N., LAXAMANA E., LÓPEZ-FÉ DE LA CUADRA C.M., LOTZE H.K., MARTIN D., MOUILLOT D., ORO D., RAICEVICH S., RIUS-BARILE J., SAIZ-SALINAS J.I., SAN VICENTE C., SOMOT S., TEMPLADO J., TURON X., VAFIDIS D., VILLANUEVA R., VOULTSIADOU E. (2010) - The Biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: Estimates, Patterns, and Threats. *PLoS ONE*, 5(8): e11842.
- CONSOLI P., ALTOBELLI C., PERZIA P., BO M., ROSSO A., ALONGI G., SERIO D., CANESE S., ROMEO T., ANDALORO F. (2021) - Species and habitats of conservation interest in the Ecologically and Biologically Significant Area of the Strait of Sicily: a contribution towards the creation of a Specially Protected Areas of Mediterranean Importance. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, 22(2): 297-316.
- LEONARD C., EVANS J., KNITTWEIS L., AGUILAR R., ALVAREZ H., BORG J. A., GARCIA S., SCHEMBRI P. J. (2020) Diversity, distribution, and habitat associations of deep-water echinoderms in the Central Mediterranean. *Marine Biodiversity*, 50(5): 1-15.
- MASSI D., TITONE A. (2017) Composizione dello "sporco"(macrobenthos non commerciale) della pesca a strascico. Campagna MEDITS 2016-Stretto di Sicilia. *ID/WP/DM-AT/15/0617/DRAFT*, IAMC CNR Sede di Mazara: 17 pp.
- MECHO A., BILLETT D.S.M., RAMIREZ-LLODRA E., AGUZZI J., TYLER P.A. (2014). First records, rediscovery and compilation of deep-sea echinoderms in the middle and lower continental slope in the Mediterranean Sea. *Scientia Marina*, 78:281-302.
- TOMA M., GIOVA A. (in press) First record of the Atlantic sea cucumber *Holothuria* (Vaneyothuria) *lentiginosa lentiginosa* in the Tyrrhenian Sea. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, 23(4), in press.

# CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 3<sup>RD</sup> MEDITERRANEAN SYMPOSIUM ON THE CONSERVATION OF DARK HABITATS

**1.** The meeting highlighted the need to consider historical data and couple the large-scale characterisation of deep benthic biocenoses to large scale monitoring to identify the most sensitive areas for conservation.

**2.** The meeting addressed the need to further develop monitoring and assessment activities on caves at regional level as well as the importance of building capacities on species identification and raising knowledge on benthic communities. This is also valid for deep-sea.

**3.** Dark habitats are facing pressures and threats including among others: marine litter and fishing activities (e.g. entanglement with fishing gear) for deep-sea vulnerable habitats, diving activities and non-indigenous species for caves. There is a need to evaluate and quantify these threats in both habitats.

**4.** The meeting underlined the importance of baseline studies which are still absent from many areas and especially from the southern Mediterranean Sea.

**5.** Further efforts are needed for the enforcement of regulations and protection (even within MPAs and no-go area) and collaborate with the different stakeholders (fishing sector, the general public, etc.) to protect the dark habitats.

**6.** Information about dark habitats has significantly advanced during the last years, although there are still important knowledge gaps. Recent findings have expanded the distribution range of several species and revealed previously unknown species. Gaps regarding ecological preferences and life history traits should be addressed to better target conservation measures.

7. Implement effective management and conservation measures to reduce the bycatch: i.e.: reduce soaking time of fishing nets, avoid specific locations where threatened species are located, improve fishing nets to reduce bycatch, and implement active restoration technics, which appear in some cases promising.

**8.** Given the costs of deep benthic explorations, inter-discipline and international cooperation must be encouraged.

**9.** Progress towards common monitoring methods could be envisaged for caves including modern technologies e.g. photogrammetry modelling as well as in deep sea habitats.

**10.** Progress could be done for caves and deep-sea to go towards a more holistic approach bringing together knowledge on different compartments and quantified pressures.

**11.** Use communication and sensibilisation actions with the public, including youth, to help raise awareness on threatened species and dark habitats in particular.

# SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### **Ricardo AGUILAR**

Oceana - Gran Via 59 -9th – 28013 Madrid, Spain E-mail: <u>raguilar@oceana.org</u>

# Marzia BO

*Ricercatrice* Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra dell'Ambiente e della Vita DiSTAV, University of Genoa E-mail: <u>Marzia.Bo@unige.it</u>

# Giovanni CHIMIENTI

*Ph.D* Departm

Department of Biology, University of Bari 4, Via Orabona - 70125 - Bari – Italy E-mail:giovanni.chimienti@uniba.it

#### Maia FOURT

*PhD Marine ecology* IMBE Institut Méditerranéen de Biodiversité et d'Ecologie, UMR 7263 -IRD 237, Marseille, France E-mail: <u>maiafourt@gmail.com</u>

# Vasilis GEROVASILEIOU

PhD

Assistant Professor, Ionian University, Department of Environment, Zakynthos Affiliated Researcher, Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR), Crete Hellenic Centre for Marine Research (HCMR), Institute of Marine Biology, Biotechnology and Aquaculture (IMBBC) -Thalassocosmos, 71500 Heraklion, Crete, Greece

E-mail: vgerovas@hcmr.gr bill\_ger@yahoo.com

#### Antonietta ROSSO

Dipartimento di Scienze Biologiche, Geologiche e Ambientali, University of Catania - Corso Italia, 57 - 95129 Catania, Italy E-mail: rosso@unict.it

This symposium was prepared and organized under the Overall supervision of Mr Khalil ATTIA, director of UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC.

# ORGANISING COMMITTEE MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### Naziha BEN MOUSSA

Administrative Assistant UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>naziha.benmoussa@spa-rac.org</u>

# **Cyrine BOUAFIF**

Consultant, PhD in Biological Sciences 23, Avenue La Gazelle, Cité La Gazelle, 2083, Ariana, Tunisia E-mail: <u>bouafif.cyrine@gmail.com</u>

# Imtinen KEFI

Financial Officer UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>imtinen.kefi@spa-rac.org</u>

# **Dorra MAAOUI**

Communication Assistant UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: dorra.maaoui@spa-rac.org

# Monica MONTEFALCONE

PhD in Marine Science Seascape Ecology Lab DiSTAV, University of Genoa Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genoa, Italy E-mail: monica.montefalcone@unige.it

#### Atef OUERGHI

*Ecosystems Conservation Programme Officer* UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>atef.ouerghi@spa-rac.org</u>

#### Yassine Ramzi SGHAIER

Project Officer - NTZ/MPA UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337,1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>yassineramzi.sghaier@spa-rac.org</u>

# Leonardo TUNESI

Reasearch Director - Head of the Area "Marine biodiversity, habitat and species Protection" Italian National Institute for Environmental Protection and Research, ISPRA – Via Vitaliano Brancati, 60 I-00144 Roma, Italy. E-mail: <u>leonardo.tunesi@isprambiente.it</u>

This symposium was prepared and organized under the Overall supervision of Mr Khalil ATTIA, director of UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC.

3rd Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of Dark Habitats (Genoa, Italy, 21-22 September 2022)





Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC) Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafat B.P. 337 - 1080 - Tunis Cedex - Tunisia +216 71 206 649 / +216 71 206 485 car-asp@spa-rac.org www.spa-rac.org